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Introduction and Overview
Over the last financial year the Ministry of Health has delivered an ambitious programme of work 
against a backdrop of considerable change and a significant additional workload. The year began 
as New Zealand approached the peak of the 2009 Influenza A (H1N1) pandemic, with the Ministry 
leading the national response. By the end of June 2010 more than a million seasonal influenza 
vaccines were distributed, more than any previous influenza season and enough for 23 percent 
of the population. The national and international recognition we received is a testament to the 
effectiveness of this response and the dedication of our people. 

At the same time, the Ministry also managed and maintained a focus on the Government’s ‘Better, 
Sooner, More Convenient’ health services policy framework. This drove a large programme of 
work, including implementing the Primary Health Care Strategy, addressing workforce issues and 
hospital productivity, and continuing the focus on value for money. 

Perhaps the most significant aspect of this additional work was the Government’s programme 
of mutually reinforcing changes to the organisation of the health system that emerged from the 
recommendations made by the Ministerial Review Group. A range of initiatives were introduced 
to improve the performance and sustainability of the health and disability system and to oversee 
key aspects of the Government’s reforms.  One of the most significant was the establishment of 
the National Health Board business unit within the Ministry of Health, to co-ordinate the planning, 
funding and monitoring of District Health Boards and national services, and to undertake national 
capacity planning and funding for workforce, information technology and capital.

There was also a range of initiatives to streamline functions and processes, aimed at better 
aligning the health infrastructure to the needs of patients. This work involved rationalising and 
refocusing a range of boards and committees in the sector, with further proposals for prioritising 
and purchasing technology, interventions and medical devices. The Ministry also supported the 
establishment of a new Health Quality and Safety Commission, which incorporates and expands on 
the work previously done by the Quality Improvement Committee.  

Establishing and changing these bodies within the Ministry required a significant amount of 
internal reorganisation, and the Ministry reviewed its internal structures, roles and functions to 
ensure it was best placed to support the Government’s policy direction. As part of this structural 
review, the Ministry also undertook to reduce its full-time equivalent staffing level to 1390 by the 
end of 2009/10, and to 1290 full-time equivalents by the end of 2010/11.

Over the year the Ministry also responded to the Government’s call for greater efficiencies and 
improved performance and productivity, undertaking a comprehensive in-depth review of spending 
to prioritise funding to higher-value services. These reviews, while intensive, enabled the Ministry 
to re-prioritise funding to critical areas and continue to reduce its running costs.

This Annual Report sets out the Ministry’s performance and achievements for 2009/10 and 
includes the Director-General of Health’s Report on the State of Public Health. This additional 
statutory report is a useful addition because it helps identify trends and other changes in 
longer-term, system-level outcomes. Overall, the state of public health results show continuing 
improvements in New Zealanders’ health and independence as well as ongoing improvements 
across a range of health and disability services and interventions.
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As a final note, I would like to acknowledge Stephen McKernan’s announcement during late 
2009/10 of his decision to not seek reappointment and to leave the Ministry early in 2010/11. 
As a result, this is Stephen McKernan’s final Ministry Annual Report and final Report on the State 
of Public Health as Director-General. On Stephen’s behalf I want to thank the staff for their efforts 
through this period. Stephen made a significant contribution to the Ministry and to the health and 
disability system as a whole, and the Ministry’s performance shown in this Annual Report is in no 
small part due to his leadership. 

I also want to acknowledge the hard work and commitment of the Ministry staff who, through all 
the uncertainty of change and additional work, have stayed focused and helped to ensure the 
Ministry of Health continues to deliver on its work programme and support the Government’s 
priorities and initiatives.  

Andrew Bridgman 
Acting Director-General of Health
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About the Ministry of Health  
The Ministry of Health is the Government’s principal advisor and agent for improving, promoting 
and protecting the health of New Zealanders through its leadership role in the health and disability 
system. It has primary responsibility for managing the $12.6 billion annual spend on health and 
disability services. Less than 2 percent of this public funding is used to support the Ministry’s 
activities, ensuring the vast majority of this funding goes directly to frontline services and 
providers.  

The Ministry has overall responsibility for the management and development of the health and 
disability system. It advises the Minister on health policy and acts as a funder and regulator of 
health and disability services. These functions provide the Ministry with the primary means of 
driving performance improvements and identifying the future direction of the health and disability 
system. Health policy is complex and difficult, and the Ministry uses its knowledge, expertise and 
international links to help the Government make the best-possible policy decisions. 

Within the legislative framework set by the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000, 
the strategic direction of the sector has been set by two overarching strategic documents: the 
New Zealand Health Strategy and the New Zealand Disability Strategy. These two strategies are 
supported by other more targeted strategies that provide guidance and advice in areas such as 
primary health care, Pacific health and Māori health.

In January 2009 the Minister of Health commissioned a review of the health and disability system. 
The resulting Ministerial Review Group considered ways to ensure New Zealand maintains a 
world class health and disability system. It looked specifically at how to make the system more 
sustainable by reducing unnecessary waste and inefficiencies and maximising the resources used 
for frontline activities. In seeking to achieve this long-term sustainability, the review also looked at 
ways of enhancing people’s experience of using health and disability services.  

The Ministerial Review Group made a number of recommendations, focusing on the following 
themes: 

• stronger clinical leadership in decision-making 

•	 accelerating improvements in quality and safety 

•	 higher system performance and secure future sustainability 

•	 improved national and regional service planning and decision-making 

•	 minimising administrative costs and reducing bureaucracy and waste.

These decisions have already resulted in a number of changes in the way the health and disability 
system is organised. For example: 

•	 the National Health Board was established, along with a business unit, within the Ministry 

•	 the Shared Services Establishment Board was established to explore options for centralising 
public sector health administrative and support services 

•	 the Health Quality and Safety Commission replaced the Quality Improvement Committee 

•	 the Health Workforce New Zealand Board replaced the Clinical Training Agency Board 

•	 the National Health Information Technology Board replaced the Health Information Strategy 
Advisory Board.
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Government Health Targets
Improving performance across the sector is fundamental to the Government’s goal of ensuring 
there is an effective and efficient health and disability sector that provides ‘Better, Sooner, More 
Convenient’ services to all New Zealanders. 

To focus this progress, the Government identified six target areas that reflect areas of public 
priority. These Health Targets are indicators of overall system performance. The first three targets 
focus on the issue of excessive patient waiting times in public hospitals. The last three focus 
on early intervention to prevent ill health, investing in the health of our children, and effective 
prevention through primary health care services.  

The Ministry prepares quarterly reporting on these Health Targets and provides annual advice to 
the Minister to ensure the Health Targets are relevant and align with current priorities. The Ministry 
does not directly deliver the Health Targets. Instead, it plays a critical role in monitoring and 
reporting performance and, where possible, helping to eliminate barriers to District Health Boards 
achieving their goals. 

The six Health Targets for 2009/10 are set out in Table 1. Detailed reporting of the health system’s 
performance in meeting these targets is outlined in the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report 
on the State of Public Health, included in this Annual Report.  

Table 1: The Government’s Health Targets

Target Measure

Shorter stays 
in emergency 
departments

95% of patients will be admitted, discharged, or transferred from an 
emergency department within 6 hours. 

Improved access to 
elective surgery

The volume of elective surgery will be increased by an average 4000 
discharges per year (compared with the previous average increase  
of 1400 per year).

Shorter waits for cancer 
treatment

Everyone needing radiation treatment will have this within 6 weeks 
by the end of July 2010 and within 4 weeks by December 2010.

Increased immunisation 85% of two-year-olds will be fully immunised by July 2010; 90% by 
July 2011; and 95% by July 2012.

Better help for smokers 
to quit

80% of hospitalised smokers will be provided with advice and help to 
quit by July 2010; 90% by July 2011; and 95% by July 2012. Similar 
target for primary health care will be introduced from July 2010 or 
earlier, through the PHO Performance Programme.

Better diabetes and 
cardiovascular services

a. Increased percent of the eligible adult population will have had 
their cardiovascular disease risk assessed in the last 5 years.

b. Increased percent of people with diabetes will attend free  
annual checks.

c. Increased percent of people with diabetes will have satisfactory or 
better diabetes management. 
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Part 1: Outcomes and Service Performance

Priority areas for 2009/10
The Ministry’s Statement of Intent 2009−2012 identified seven priority outcome areas (see Table 2). 
These priority areas are inter-related and mutually supporting, and describe the conditions to be 
achieved in and across the sector.T

Table 2: Priority areas for 2009/10

Workforce supply meets service demand

Systems and services are more patient-centred

More services delivered locally in the community and in primary care

Faster access to high-quality hospital services

Every dollar is spent in the best way to improve health outcomes

Whānau Ora: Māori families are supported to achieve their maximum health and wellbeing

Leadership and planning are clear, effective and co-ordinated

Outcome framework
To help focus the Ministry’s work and bring the priority outcome areas above into a longer-term 
focus, the Ministry developed a new outcomes framework. Figure 1 shows the new outcomes 
framework set out in the Ministry’s Statement of Intent 2010−2013. The results in this Annual Report 
are reconciled against the outcome priorities set out in Table 2. 

Figure 1: Ministry of Health outcomes framework  

A growing, sustainable economy providing security, prosperity 
and opportunities for all New Zealanders

Government’s
goal

Health and 
disability system 

outcomes

Ministry of Health 
intermediate 

outcomes

Ministry of Health 
output 

appropriations

Organisational 
health and 
capability

Inputs

New Zealanders living longer, healthier 
and more independent lives

New Zealand’s economic 
growth is supported

 People resources Funding Technology Information

Information and Payment Services  
Regulatory and Health Emergency Response  

Sector Leadership and Services  
Strategy, Policy and System Performance

 Strategy capability Engagement Culture Leadership

Good health and 
independence 

are protected and 
promoted

A more unified 
and improved 

health and 
disability system

People receive 
better health  
and disability 

services

The health  and 
disability system 
and services are 
trusted and can 

be used with 
confidence
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How the Ministry is performing against this new framework and the priority areas for 2009/10 
forms the basis for this Annual Report. The outcome priority areas outlined in Table 2 form part 
of the logic underlying this new outcome framework and have informed the development of new 
priority areas for the Ministry and sector from 2010/11 onwards. A more detailed analysis of 
outcome achievement against the new framework will be reported in the 2010/11 Annual Report. 

A good insight into the real difference the Ministry and the health and disability system are making 
across a range of key outcome indicators can be found in the Director-General of Health’s Annual 
Report on the State of Public Health, which is included in this Annual Report. This additional 
statutory report shows how a range of health and disability outcomes have changed over time.  

Departmental output expenses
The following sections examine performance in the context of the Vote Health appropriations for 
departmental expenses. They are:

• strategy, policy and system performance

• administration of funding and purchasing of health and disability support services

• administration of legislation and regulations

• funding and performance of Crown entities

• information services

• payment services

• servicing of Ministers and ministerial committees.

In each section there is a brief description of the appropriation and how the Ministry uses the 
funding, as well as an overview of performance. There is also a brief discussion of the major 
highlights and the connections between the activities and the outcome priorities identified earlier 
in Table 2.
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Appropriation: Strategy, policy and system 
performance

About this appropriation
This appropriation supports the provision of health policy advice, leadership for the health 
and disability sector, and research and evaluation of long-term strategic plans and regulatory 
frameworks.

Cost
 Actual 

30/06/2009 
$000  

 Actual 
30/06/2010 

$000

Main estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

Supp. estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

47,677 Crown revenue 50,514 49,174 50,027 

679 Third party revenue 628 401 401 

48,356 Total revenue 51,142 49,575 50,428 

47,775 Total expenditure 48,007 49,575 50,428 

581 Net surplus 3,135 −   −   

Output performance measures and standards
Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Bowel Cancer Programme

Complete the 
development of 
the bowel cancer 
screening pathway 
and development of 
interim bowel cancer 
screening programme 
quality standards

Quantity: All parts of the screening pathway have been 
informed by stakeholder engagement and detailed 
policy work

Achieved

Consultation on the Service 
Delivery Model was carried out 
between September 2009 and 
June 2010

Quality: The agreed pathway is consistent with 
international best practice and is supported by key 
stakeholders

Achieved

The Service Delivery Model 
is based on international 
experience and was developed 
to reflect stakeholder feedback

Better primary and community services that meet people’s needs

Cabinet paper 
detailing primary 
health care strategy 
achievements in 2009

Quantity: Annual Cabinet paper Achieved

Cabinet paper completed in 
May 2010
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Clinical Services Development

Implementation of 
an action plan to 
support DHBs to make 
improvements against 
the national ED length 
of stay

Quantity: Data is collected to monitor the national ED 
length of stay for people who present to emergency 
departments transfer, discharge or admitted within six 
hours

Achieved

Quality: Priority activities in DHB plans are identified and 
implementation started

Achieved

The Ministry supported all 
DHBs to implement system-
wide improvements in order 
to achieve shorter stays in 
emergency departments

Establish strategic frameworks for health workforce

Work with sector to 
boost the number of 
funded GP registrar 
training places

Quantity: Boost the number of funded GP registrar 
training places by 50 places

Achieved

50 additional training places 
were funded, bringing the total 
to 154 places

Work with Universities 
and training colleges 
to boost the number 
of funded medical 
student places

Quantity: The number of funded medical student places 
increase by 60 places

Achieved

60 additional training places 
were funded

Healthy Eating − Healthy Action (HEHA)

Implementation 
of a revised work 
programme to 
increase physical 
activity and reduce 
obesity

Quantity: A revised work programme is developed to 
reflect the Government’s priority areas of work

Achieved

A renewed focus was placed 
on the development and 
implementation of weight 
management guidelines, 
published on the Ministry 
website

Quality: DHBs are adequately supported in 
implementing the Government’s priorities for increasing 
physical activity and reducing obesity

Achieved

An implementation programme 
has been signed and is now 
being rolled out

Improve prioritisation of additional funding to Vote Health

Budget process input 
includes prioritisation 
process for new 
initiatives

Quantity: Vote Health prioritisation process Achieved

Quality: New initiatives prioritised considering 
government and Minister’s priorities and Health Targets

Achieved

All additional funding beyond 
that required for cost and 
demographic pressures was 
prioritised in accordance with 
the Minister’s priorities

Improve the position of the medicines sector to deliver excellent health and disability support outcomes

Strategic 
implementation of 
Actioning Medicines 
New Zealand

Quantity: Implement Actioning Medicines New Zealand Achieved

An updated version  of 
Actioning Medicines 
New Zealand was published
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Improving interface of addiction treatment services with Justice sector

The Ministry will 
work with the Justice 
sector (Ministry 
of Justice, Police, 
and Corrections) to 
reduce offending 
by improving the 
interface with 
addiction treatment 
services in the 
community

Quantity: Assist all DHBs and the relevant government 
agencies

Achieved

Quality: Consultation undertaken with key stakeholders Achieved

The Minister approved funding 
to continue addiction services 
in police watch-houses and 
District Courts

Long Term Health Services Planning

Finalise options for 
a coherent policy 
framework to guide 
comprehensive 
long-term service 
planning at regional 
and national 
levels, aligned 
with Government’s 
priorities

Quantity: Service planning policy framework, guidelines 
and tools and methods developed

Achieved

Managing the Ministry’s responsibilities under the Gambling Act 2003

The Ministry will 
develop, consult on 
and obtain Cabinet 
approval for a revised 
integrated strategy 
for the prevention 
and minimisation of 
gambling harm

Quantity: 

•	 Strategic	plan	2010−2016

•	 Service	plan	2010−2013

•	 A	problem	gambling	levy	for	the	2010−2013	period

Achieved

Cabinet approved the Strategic 
Plan and Service Plan for 
publication 

Quality: Strategy completed Achieved

Māori Innovations

Continued 
implementation of 
the Māori Provider 
Development Scheme

Quantity: All DHBs will be involved in the assessment of 
their regional provider applications

Achieved

Quality: MPDS supports provider growth Achieved

163 Māori providers received 
funding, comprising: 

	•	144	regional	providers

	•	four	disability	providers

	•	15	national	providers.

Meeting the needs of particular at risk groups

Monitoring how 
effectively the 
Ministry of Health 
work programme 
is improving Māori 
health

Quantity: Monitoring report completed Achieved



10 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 
including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

National Alcohol Action Plan

Development 
of interagency 
action plans to 
guide Government 
responses to reducing 
alcohol related harm

Quantity: 

•	 A	new	National	Alcohol	Action	Plan

•	 A	new	action	plan	focusing	on	Foetal	Alcohol	
Spectrum Disorder

Not achieveda

Quality: Develop a draft action plan and undertake 
public consultation prior to seeking Cabinet agreement

Not achievedb

National Cancer Programme

Implementation of 
work plan for reducing 
cancer wait times 

Quantity: Wait time indicators for medical oncology and 
surgery are developed, medical oncology and radiation 
wait time measures are monitored, and future sector 
capacity requirements to reduce wait times are identified

Achieved

All DHBs reported radiation 
oncology wait time data to 
the Ministry on a monthly 
basis.  This data was used 
to determine achievement 
against the target.  Criteria for 
medical oncology services were 
developed, and DHB medical 
oncology wait times monitored 
quarterly

Quality: All relevant DHBs are supported to collect and 
report data reliably

Achieved

National Immunisation Programme

a. Deliver the National 
Immunisation 
Programme

b. Review the design 
of the National 
Immunisation 
Register

c. Simplify and 
streamline contracts 
for immunisation 
services

Quantity: 87% of 2-year-olds fully immunised by July 
2010 (95% by July 2012)

Achieved

87% of 2-year-olds were fully 
immunised

Quality: Ministry and DHBs agree to a set of functions 
needed and the division between national and district 
functions

Not achievedc

Timeliness: c) Agreed set of functions by 
30/12/2009, new contracts in place by 30/3/2010

Nursing Innovations

Commence 
implementation of 
an agreed nursing 
workforce plan

Quantity: The development of a nursing workforce plan Not achievedd

Quality: Forecast and data collection to monitor changes 
to the nursing workforce

Achieved

This was undertaken  
for  the cardiothoracic,   
peri-operative and neonatal 
nursing workforces

Oral Health

Continued 
implementation of a 
work programme for 
improving child and 
youth oral health

Quantity: Quarterly monitoring and feedback to 21 DHBs 
on the progress of their business case implementation

Achieved

All quarterly reports and district 
annual plan targets were 
reviewed

Quality: DHBs’ business case implementation 
progressing in accordance with agreed plans and service 
models

Not achievede
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Pacific Innovations

Implementation of the 
new PPDF Purchasing 
plan for 2009/10 to 
2010/11

Quantity: Collection of Pacific providers’ workforce 
baseline data from 100% (all) of the clinical Pacific 
health service providers

Achieved

Data collected from 100% of 
providers

Quality: Priority is given to the 3 DHBs with the largest 
Pacific populations (Auckland DHBs)

Achieved

Given over 66% of the Pacific 
population resides in the 
Auckland area, the Ministry 
applied a targeted approach to 
funding a range of initiatives 
to support providers and 
communities from this region

Primary Health Care

Continued 
implementation of a 
work programme to 
reduce ambulatory 
sensitive (avoidable) 
admissions

Quantity: There will be a decline in admissions to 
hospital that are avoidable or preventable by primary 
health care across all population groups

Not achievedf

Quality: Services are shifted from secondary care to 
primary health care in line with DHBs’ 2009/10 district 
annual plans and policy development to support the 
establishment of Integrated Family Health Centres is 
completed

Achieved

All ‘Better, Sooner, More 
Convenient’ implementation 
plans outline processes to 
shift services from secondary 
to primary care. The Ministry 
worked with the sector to 
undertake feasibility studies 
looking at creating Integrated 
family health centres

77 expressions of interest were 
received and reviewed – nine 
providers were selected to 
progress the development of 
full business cases

Primary mental health care service delivery

A guidance document 
for the sector on 
primary mental health 
care service delivery

Quality: Document approved by Minister Not achievedg

Quality Improvement

Implementation of 
a work programme 
that supports quality 
improvement and 
innovations in DHBs 
with a focus on 
improving stroke 
services

Quantity: The development of agreed quality 
improvement initiatives and a stroke service 
improvement plan

Achieved

Direct engagement and 
improvement advice was 
provided to five priority DHBs 
(Waitemata, Bay of Plenty, 
Whanganui, Taranaki and 
Tairawhiti)

Quality: DHBs are adequately supported in 
implementing quality improvement and a stroke service 
plan

Achieved

An Acute Stroke Service Audit 
was published in June 2010 to 
help DHBs identify the gaps in 
stroke services
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Tobacco

Continued 
implementation of a 
work programme to 
reduce harm caused 
by tobacco with a 
focus on increasing 
cessation

Quantity: Active clinical leadership across all DHBs, 
majority of health workforce trained in ABC1, support 
in implementation for DHBs to meet cessation health 
target, and preparation to support transfer of local 
funding for tobacco control to DHBs completed

Achieved

Planning is complete to transfer 
funding and responsibility for 
local cessation services to DHBs 
on 1 October 2010 

Quality: Success indicators for ABC are trending up 
towards targets

Achieved

The national average across all 
DHBs for the provision of ABC 
to smokers in quarter four was 
57%; up from 17% in quarter 
one. Two DHBs met the Health 
Target

Explanations for performance measures not achieved

a. A framework for the National Alcohol Action Plan has been prepared by an intersectoral working group led by the 
Ministry. However, further development of the framework has been put on hold while the Government determines its 
legislative response to the Law Commission’s report on the regulatory framework for alcohol in New Zealand. 

b. In October 2009 the Associate Minister of Health, Hon Peter Dunne, supported changing from progressing a Foetal 
Alcohol Spectrum Disorder action plan to completing specific actions. These included producing a Ministry of Health 
position statement on alcohol and pregnancy, a resource for health professionals to help them address alcohol in 
pregnancy, and contributing to the diagnosis of individuals with Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder action.

c. Commencement of the review of the design of the National Immunisation Register (part b refers) was delayed while 
the Ministry responded to the immediate threat of pandemic influenza, the threat of an epidemic of both whooping 
cough and measles, roll-out of the largest-ever seasonal influenza vaccination programme, as well as supporting the 
Select Committee ‘Inquiry into how to improve completion rates of childhood immunisation’. The Ministry has drafted 
a scoping paper and has begun to engage District Health Boards and service providers to develop the problem 
definition and the project plan objectives. The immunisation contracts review project is well under way and will be 
completed in March 2011. A project plan is in place, all immunisation functions have been identified as having either 
a national or a local focus, a database of existing contracts has been developed, and engagement with District Health 
Boards and service providers has commenced.  

d. The Ministry commissioned an independent review of nurse education and training, which was completed prior to the 
establishment of Health Workforce New Zealand. Health Workforce New Zealand will be following up on the results of 
the review and implementing nursing workforce activities as part of its work programme.

e. In 2009/10 there were delays in District Health Boards’ capital expenditure for planned building projects for 
improving child and youth oral health. Once these delays have been addressed, the Ministry will undertake business 
case implementation monitoring of District Health Boards with agreed plans and service models.

f. There was a 3.2 percent increase in ambulatory-sensitive hospital admissions in the year ending March 2010, 
compared with the base period (12 months ending September 2008). Admissions for children (0−4 years) reduced 
by 3.8 percent, but all other groups that are monitored deteriorated during this period. Further work is under way to 
reduce the acute demand that is generating these results.

g. A draft guidance document on primary care mental health has been completed for dissemination to the sector. 
This document had been substantially completed earlier in the year, but it was agreed that it should be updated to 
better reflect the emerging new primary care environment and the moves to better integrate primary and secondary 
services. The revised document should now be a useful resource to primary care (and specialist services) on models 
for providing mental health services in the new primary care environment and should provide a useful context and 
framework for considering primary−secondary integration in mental health and addiction services. It is expected this 
will be completed in the early part of 2010/11.

1  ABC stands for: Ask about smoking status, provide Brief advice to quit, and offer Cessation support (referral to quit support service 
and/or provide nicotine replacement therapy).
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Highlights for the year
The Ministry used this funding to deliver initiatives, policy advice, research, evaluation and 
leadership for the health and disability sector to progress the following priorities:  

• more services delivered locally in the community and in primary care

• workforce supply meets service demand

• faster access to high-quality hospital services

• systems and services are more patient-centred

• every dollar is spent in the best way to improve health outcomes

• Whānau Ora: Māori families are supported to achieve their maximum health and wellbeing

• leadership and planning are clear, effective and co-ordinated.

Priority outcome: More services delivered locally in the community and in  
primary care
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Primary health care
The Government is committed to improving New Zealanders’ health care by delivering ‘Better, 
Sooner, More Convenient’ care. A major part of this is to provide New Zealanders with more 
personalised care, delivered locally in the community through primary health care, thereby helping 
to reduce the pressure on our hospitals.  

To support the implementation of this new approach, the Ministry called for expressions of 
interest from parties interested in becoming involved in this approach. The Ministry received 
over 77 expressions of interest in late 2009, and these were reviewed by a panel comprising the 
Ministry, District Health Boards, and clinical and management sector leaders. The panel selected 
nine providers to develop full business cases. The nine groups selected cover more than half the 
enrolled population, and they were chosen specifically because of their ability to build capacity 
and capability in the sector in order to deliver changed service delivery models and improve 
system performance (such as Health Targets, acute demand and immunisation rates).  

The Ministry also supported the formation of new primary health care networks, comprising 
primary and secondary clinicians and managers, to develop primary care business cases. By the 
end of June 2010 six implementation plans had been approved and more were under way.

While implementing this new policy the Ministry also helped to implement: 

• a new alliance-based approach to contracting

• a flexible funding pool

• an improved Performance Monitoring Framework.  

The flexible funding pool enables District Health Boards to be held accountable for their outcomes 
and objectives while providing greater flexibility in how funding is used. This system also enables 
improved monitoring at both a local and national level to identify any potential adverse impacts as 
the ‘Better, Sooner, More Convenient’ policy is rolled out.  
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An important aspect of this policy is to bring some secondary services closer to home by shifting 
them to primary settings. The Ministry started work with the sector in 2009/10 to undertake 
feasibility studies looking at consolidating general practices, creating integrated family health 
centres and reviewing the configuration of primary health organisations. 

Oral health
Good oral health, particularly among young people, has a strong influence on the future health of 
New Zealanders by helping children to grow, develop and thrive. Healthy teeth play an important 
role in children’s development through helping them to eat and speak properly.

During 2009/10 considerable progress was made in improving oral health care, particularly for 
children and adolescents. At 30 June 2010 seven new clinics had been officially opened and 10 
existing clinics remodelled. Construction commenced on nine new and four remodelled clinics. In 
addition, 27 new mobile clinics were delivered to District Health Boards and four more are under 
construction. 

A new campaign, Let’s Talk Teeth, was supported with new brochures produced in English, Māori 
and Pacific languages and a free-phone service. This phone line received on average 800 to 1000 
calls per month. 

Immunisation
Increasing immunisation rates has been a key target for the Government. Over the past year 
immunisation coverage has increased significantly to 87 percent – up from 80 percent a year 
ago. This increase represents a major achievement in terms of using Health Targets to improve 
performance, as well as a major turnaround for the sector in an area that had struggled to improve 
over the last decade. Part of the improvement came from improving data quality and reporting, but 
a significant part has also come from immunising more ‘high needs’ children. For example, the rate 
of immunisation for Māori children increased from 73 percent to 82 percent. 

The second year of the Human Papillomavirus Immunisation Programme saw the programme reach 
first-dose coverage of 49 percent of the eligible population, which means more than 120,000 girls 
have started the programme and have had over 300,000 doses of the vaccine between them. The 
programme continues to reach new girls every day. One of the initial programme objectives was 
to enable Māori and Pacific girls to have the same opportunity to benefit from the programme as 
other New Zealanders.

Methamphetamine and addictions
The Government remains concerned about the impact of alcohol and other addictions on 
communities and access to treatment. In particular, the Prime Minister has initiated a broad 
response to reduce the harm from methamphetamine. The Ministry has had the responsibility 
of working with the health sector on initiatives to increase the available treatment capacity in 
addition to services already funded through District Health Boards; reducing the availability of 
precursors to methamphetamine by reclassifying pseudoephedrine; improving the capacity of 
the addiction workforce to work with methamphetamine users; increasing the information and 
knowledge of those concerned about their own or someone else’s methamphetamine use through 
two new websites; and developing policy proposals to improve the legislation relating to civil 
commitment processes for compulsory treatment.
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Older people
With New Zealand’s ageing population and people living longer, the health and disability system’s 
focus on older people is increasingly important. In 2009/10 the Ministry undertook work looking 
at mental health and addiction services for older people and people with dementia. New service 
specifications were created as part of this work. These service specifications removed the age and 
dementia diagnosis barrier to accessing specialist mental health services; relative need will be the 
key criterion. In addition, the Ministry is funding and contracting new regional dementia advisory 
services to facilitate access to specialist services.

Improving the monitoring of residential care has been a key objective. The Ministry embarked on, 
and has completed, work in line with the Government’s commitment to strengthen the auditing 
and monitoring of rest homes, introduce spot audits, publish audit reports, and reduce multiple 
audits in the aged residential care sector. Work completed in 2009/10 included:

• a gazetted requirement for designated auditing agencies to use a standard audit-reporting 
template, provide an audit summary for publication and obtain third-party accreditation

• the publishing of audit summaries on the Ministry’s website

• the establishment of a spot (unannounced surveillance) audit programme

• the strengthening of other designated auditing agencies’ monitoring, including the completion 
of independent external audits of designated auditing agencies, observation audits, analysis 
and reporting of audit report performance, and the introduction of quarterly auditor workshops

• development of an integrated audit framework to reduce multiple audits in the aged residential 
care sector while still meeting both statutory and contractual obligations through the one audit 
process (this framework will be implemented on 1 August 2010).

The Ministry has worked with the District Health Boards to expand residential respite care services 
for older people. By the end of the year all District Health Boards (with the exception of the new 
Southern District Health Board) had agreed to specific programmes for expanding their services. 
The District Health Boards have also provided baseline information on existing service levels, and 
over the next financial year the Ministry will monitor and report any changes to these levels to the 
Minister of Health.

The 2009/10 period saw the completion of the second year of implementation of the interRAI2 
assessment tool. This year, more District Health Boards than expected (14 rather than 9) began 
using the interRAI tools to assess older people’s needs. To continue to support this work, the 
Ministry contracted a national information system and a national training service.  

Priority outcome: Workforce supply meets service demand
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Workforce
A key part of the Government’s strategy for ‘Better, Sooner, More Convenient’ health care has 
been to strengthen the health workforce. In particular, the Government wants to have a clearer, 

2  InterRAI refers to a whole suite of assessment tools, only two of which are covered in the implementation project. The InterRAI 
Contact and Home Care assessments are designed to assess the medical, rehabilitation and support requirements of an older 
person, primarily in order for them to remain in their home. The focus is on the changing strengths, preferences and needs of the 
person.
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better co-ordinated approach to workforce planning, better integration of training and education, 
as well as new initiatives to boost the health workforce in critical, hard-to-staff areas such as rural 
practices. 

The Government has established a new advisory board to provide advice and co-ordination to 
unify workforce planning in New Zealand and ensure the co-ordination of workforce training, 
planning and funding for our nurses, doctors and other health professionals. This Board, chaired 
by Professor Des Gorman, takes a leadership role in health workforce development. The Board 
oversees, drives and advises on all aspects of health workforce policy, education, training and 
development for the health and disability services sector.  

The Ministry also established a new business unit to align workforce policy with service planning, 
capital and information technology investment decisions.

In 2009/10, four major reports were also released on workforce issues.  

• Treating People Well – the report of the Director-General of Health’s Commission on the Resident 
Medical Officer Workforce 

• Foundations of Excellence: Building Infrastructure for Medical Education and Training – the 
report of the Medical Training Board 

• A Nursing Education and Training Board for New Zealand – the report from the committee on 
Strategic Oversight for Nursing Education

• A review of how training of the New Zealand health workforce is planned and funded: a proposal 
for a reconfiguration of the Clinical Training Agency – the report of the Ministerial Task Group on 
Postgraduate Education and Training.

Some major highlights for 2009/10 include the following.

Workforce for 20 new elective surgery theatres: Cabinet has agreed on a funding package of 
$70 million over four years to develop the workforce required to meet the Government’s target 
of 190,000 elective surgical discharges by 2025/26. A three-pronged approach is being used, 
including increasing the productivity of the existing workforce, developing new and extended 
workforce roles, and training additional workforce. The programme is up and running and is 
currently seeking its first round of proposals from District Health Boards for both productivity and 
workforce innovation.

Voluntary Bonding Scheme: The Voluntary Bonding Scheme for medical, nursing and midwifery 
graduates has continued to be popular in 2009/10. Nearly 1400 graduates have been confirmed 
for the Scheme in its first two years of operation – 893 in the 2009 calendar year (from 2005−2008 
graduates) and 502 in the 2010 calendar year (from 2009 graduates). In addition, the review of 
the establishment and implementation of the Scheme was completed in late 2009. A number of 
recommendations were made in this review, and these began to be implemented in 2010.

Effective cross-sector work to increase education and training places: The Ministry commissioned 
an independent review of nurse education and training, which was completed prior to the 
establishment of Health Workforce New Zealand. Health Workforce New Zealand will be following 
up on the results of the review and implementing activities to develop the nursing workforce as 
part of its integrated work programme.
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Nursing innovations: An evaluation of the Nursing Entry to Practice programme found that the 
programme, which was introduced in 2005, was successfully meeting its objective of supporting 
the transition of graduate nurses into practice. The report recommended the continuation of the 
programme, along with some recommendations for improvements. The programme has also 
increased the retention of new nurses in the New Zealand workforce. The programme was extended 
to graduate nurses employed in the community, with the first intakes commencing in January 2009.

Priority outcome: Faster access to high-quality hospital services
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Hospital productivity
The Ministry has been working closely with District Health Boards and the District Health Boards 
New Zealand-led Value for Money Steering Group to develop and implement a joint hospital 
productivity work programme and governance structure. Implementation during 2009/10 included:

• the Ministry facilitating two successful Hospital Productivity and Quality Summits for District 
Health Boards, to progress the development of a co-ordinated national approach to improving 
hospital productivity across the health sector

• District Health Boards defining and agreeing national productivity indicators for wards and day 
surgery in their district annual plans, and the development of a theatre indicator is under way

• the Ministry partnering with the National Health Service in the United Kingdom to implement a 
capability development programme for health sector staff, including the Releasing Time to Care 
Programme for hospital wards, the Productive Operating Theatre Programme, the Large Scale 
Transformational Workshop and the Leadership Improvement Programme

• the Ministry supporting all District Health Boards to implement system-wide improvements in 
order to achieve the Shorter Stays in Emergency Department Health Target.  

This hospital productivity work programme is supported by the recently launched Health 
Improvement and Innovation Resource Centre, which includes a knowledge library, a central 
repository and a discussion forum for health professionals to facilitate learning and to share 
innovation and best practice.

Quality improvement
The Optimising the Patient Journey programme focused on District Health Board inpatient 
services to place the patient at the centre of the journey and aimed at the more effective use of 
(increasingly) limited and expensive resources. The programme built the capability within services 
to realise improvements by applying improvement methodologies and approaches, particularly 
‘breakthrough’ and ‘lean thinking’ principles. The 20 participating District Health Boards worked 
on at least one initiative aimed at improving the quality of care for patients and eliminating waste 
from the system. 

There is evidence that the Optimising the Patient Journey programme has improved both staff and 
patient satisfaction. The savings recorded from the programme for one year were $966,000, and 
the recurrent savings anticipated over the next five years are $2.971 million, including a decrease 
of at least 575 bed days.

Safe Medication Management is the largest programme of work and accounts for over half the 
total available programme funding. It has made progress in a number of areas, including piloting 
medication chart standards, taking on the leadership role for the development of the New 
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Zealand Universal List of Medicines, undertaking a review of how New Zealand should approach 
the purchase and operation of unit dose repackaging machines, setting up pilots for eMedicine 
Reconciliation and eCharting, and developing strong links with the primary health care sector. All 
21 District Health Boards were active participants in this programme, across a range of projects.

The stroke improvement work has gone well over the past 12 months, with direct engagement 
and improvement advice provided to five priority District Health Boards (Waitemata, Bay of Plenty, 
Whanganui, Taranaki and Tairawhiti).  Working with Tairawhiti District Health Board resulted in the 
opportunity to pilot an Early Supported Discharge programme over 12 months. This programme 
will give the District Health Board the chance to improve stroke discharges from its hospital by 
providing stronger support in the community. The pilot will identify the future benefits of increasing 
the services delivered in the community.

Priority outcome: Systems and services are more patient-centred
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Cancer
The Ministry supported all six District Health Board cancer centres to achieve the six week 
radiation oncology treatment health target by the end of July 2010 and a target of four weeks by 
December 2010. All cancer centres except the Cancer Centre at Canterbury District Health Board 
(who has subsequently met the target) achieved the Target for the fourth quarter of 2009/10.  
As a consequence of the Canterbury Cancer Centre not meeting the target, three District Health 
Boards had patients waiting longer than six weeks (Canterbury, Nelson Marlborough and South 
Canterbury). During the year all six cancer centres worked collaboratively on the monthly collection 
and provision of information underpinning a set of radiation oncology indicators. Five of the six 
cancer centres received one-off funding to assist with improving data reporting. The reporting of 
monthly data to the Ministry supported the review of each cancer centre’s wait times and progress 
in achieving the target. The data also supported benchmarking between cancer centres using a 
number of agreed indicators and the development of a radiation oncology capacity model. This 
model identified those District Health Boards with capacity constraints and led to cancer centres 
developing plans for achievement of the Health Target. The successful radiation therapist new 
graduate programme was transferred to Health Workforce New Zealand for ongoing oversight. 

In collaboration with the sector, the Ministry:

• finalised prioritisation criteria for medical oncology services, which are to be utilised during 
2010/11

• completed a survey of medical oncologists to support medical oncology future planning

• monitored District Health Board medical oncology wait times

• developed the draft National Service Plan for Child Cancer Services – the plan has been widely 
endorsed but will not be submitted for ministerial approval until Canterbury and Capital 
and Coast District Health Boards have reached consensus on the nature of the shared care 
agreement that will exist between the two District Health Boards. 

The Ministry monitored the uptake of the 12-month Herceptin policy. Reporting from May 2010 
identified 234 women receiving Herceptin as part of a 12-month course, while 20 women were 
receiving it as part of a nine-week course. During 2009/10 the Ministry worked closely with 
PHARMAC and District Health Boards to reach agreement on the long-term responsibilities 
for Herceptin. It was decided that from 1 July 2010 PHARMAC will take on the administrative 
responsibility for 12-month Herceptin, including listing it on the Pharmaceutical Schedule. 
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As part of the 2010 Budget, the Government announced funding of $24 million over five years for 
a four-year bowel screening programme pilot, commencing by October 2011. In support of the 
pilot, the Ministry completed an interim service delivery model and quality standards. A workforce 
plan was also developed and priority initiatives were implemented. A national clinical leader for 
endoscopy was appointed to work with District Health Boards on improving colonoscopy services 
and to support the development of colonoscopy training and workforce initiatives.   

Tobacco
A decrease in the current smoking rate for New Zealanders aged between 15 and 64 years – from 
23.9 percent to 21.8 percent – equates to a reduction of over 60,000 smokers. An increase in 
tobacco excise tax, and an equalisation on roll-your-own tobacco, resulted in a 25 percent increase 
in the excise tax on roll-your-own tobacco and a 10 percent increase in the excise tax on other 
tobacco products. 

Public consultation was undertaken on a proposal to ban tobacco displays in retail outlets, and 
around 1000 submissions were received. New Zealand also hosted a World Health Organization 
meeting on the development of guidelines on demand reduction measures for tobacco 
dependence and cessation.  

The Ministry acted as advisor to the Māori Affairs Select Committee’s Inquiry into the Tobacco 
Industry in Aotearoa and the Consequences of Tobacco Use for Māori. Gross nicotine replacement 
therapy expenditure increased from $860,000 in July 2009 to $1.6 million in June 2010. The 
Ministry developed and implemented the Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) Education 
Programme. The hospital Health Target results have improved immensely over the year, either 
meeting the target or achieving 60 to 80 percent.

Pacific health
In 2010 the Ministry published ’Ala Mo’ui: Pathways to Pacific Health and Wellbeing 2010−2014. 
This document sets out the priority outcomes and actions for the next five years that will contribute 
to Pacific people leading longer, healthier and more independent lives.  

Work commenced on a number of these priority actions with a review of the evidence on improving 
health literacy, and initial work was undertaken to identify specific initiatives that will improve 
Pacific health literacy. Research on the Pacific health care and support workforce was completed. 
Priority areas for upskilling this workforce include support for workers to undertake training; 
improving literacy, English-language and numeracy skills; and developing career pathways to 
enable progression within the care and support workforce.

One of the aims of Serau3 is to strengthen Pacific providers to deliver quality health services. To 
support this aim the Ministry has undertaken a number of initiatives, including:

• collecting  workforce data from the 11 funded Pacific providers

• consolidating Pacific provider capacity, particularly for small and vulnerable providers

• supporting the Alliance Health Plus Trust Primary Health Organisation

• piloting an information communications technology proposal for all Pacific providers to ensure 
robust information technology infrastructure and capability

• initiating discussions with providers to look at regional consolidation

• ensuring a stronger focus on aligning with the Government’s health priorities.

3  ‘Serau’ is the Pacific Provider and Workforce Development Fund Programme of action covering three financial years ie 2009/10 to 
2011/12.
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The Ministry is developing a new policy to strengthen Pacific providers, with a focus on funding 
fewer than 10 Pacific health providers in out-years and providing Ministry-led training workshops 
to ensure providers develop key skills such as writing robust funding proposals, understanding 
contractual reporting requirements and collating data.

Communicable disease
Surveillance: During 2009/10 the Ministry commissioned a comprehensive review of New 
Zealand’s communicable disease surveillance capacity. This was the first comprehensive review 
of the broad spectrum of communicable disease systems in New Zealand. A number of the 
report’s recommendations will be addressed during 2010/11 with the principal science and 
surveillance provider, the Institute of Environmental Science and Research. Over the past four 
months a significant focus has been on improving the strategic relationship between the Ministry 
and Environmental Science and Research and improving the 2010/11 service descriptions (these 
services are valued at nearly $9 million per annum). 

Rheumatic fever: The Ministry has finalised policy parameters and commenced a cross-Ministry 
work programme to address the prevalence of rheumatic fever, which is concentrated in six North 
Island District Health Boards. The Ministry has contracted, through Counties Manukau District 
Health Board, a sector programme leader to work more effectively across the affected District 
Health Boards to develop regional and/or local solutions. The rheumatic fever work programme 
also includes a component looking at Whānau Ora approaches, and the team has established 
networks and set up meetings with Māori groups (for example, the Māori Public Health Advisory 
Group) and whānau.

Environmental health
Section 143 of the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996 requires annual reporting 
of hazardous injuries to the Minister of Health. In June 2010 Ministry officials reported that 
during the 2009 calendar year there were 12,600 hospitalisations resulting from intentional, 
unintentional and undetermined chemical exposures. District Health Board Medical Officers 
of Health were notified of 368 cases of lead poisoning, six chemical poisonings from the 
environment, one toxic shellfish poisoning and 11 cases of ‘hazardous substance injury’.  

The Annual Review of Drinking-water Quality in New Zealand 2008/09 was published on the 
Ministry’s website in May 2010. The report described the microbiological and chemical quality of 
water in New Zealand drinking-water supplies. Overall compliance with the standards had fallen by 
3 percent in population terms during 2008/09, and approximately 80 percent of New Zealanders 
had bacteriologically compliant drinking-water, compared to 83 percent reported in the previous 
survey.

In June 2009 the Cabinet Social Policy Committee agreed that the Sanitary Works Subsidy Scheme 
(sewerage subsidies) should be closed to new applicants. The Minister of Health wrote to those 
councils that received provisional approval more than two years ago, setting a deadline of the end 
of 2009 to apply for resource consents, and to those with preliminary approval, setting a deadline 
of 31 March 2010 for submitting a provisional application. A number of councils have since 
withdrawn their sewerage subsidy applications, and the total of $186.7 million sewerage subsidy 
applications have been reduced by $26 million. 
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Mental health
The Programme for Integration of Mental Health Data (PRIMHD) aims to create a single national 
collection of information on mental health services activity. PRIMHD can produce reports, based 
on the data received from District Health Boards and non-governmental organisations, to enable 
better-quality service planning and decision-making by mental health and alcohol and drug 
services at the local, regional and national levels. The Ministry has completed the initial phases 
of this project and is now collecting data for 17 of the 20 District Health Boards (the three not 
reporting are experiencing technical difficulties with their software). PRIMHD has also been rolled 
out to 35 non-governmental organisations. 

Suicide prevention co-ordination: A workshop was held in June 2010 for all suicide prevention 
co-ordinators and their District Health Board managers to explore opportunities for better aligning 
their roles with primary mental health services provided through Primary Health Organisations in 
the seven District Health Boards where the roles are provided. A draft service specification for the 
service was finalised at the workshop.

Suicide prevention research: Reporting of New Zealand media – Content and case study analysis 
was released on 30 June 2010 as part of a suite of research projects commissioned through Te Pou 
as part of the Suicide Prevention Research Fund.

Priority outcome: Every dollar is spent in the best way to improve health outcomes
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiative to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Value for money
Advice on priorities for investment and reprioritisation was provided to the Minister as part of the 
Budget 2010 process. In-depth spending reviews for disability support services, public health, 
maternity services and mental health services were completed by 30 October 2009 and provided to 
the Minister of Health as agreed. These were used to inform the savings component of the Budget 
2010 package for Health.  Savings were confirmed following the delivery of the Baseline Alignment 
Proposal to Ministers in March 2010.

New initiatives in Budget 2010 were limited due to the economic and fiscal environment and its 
impact on the availability of new funding, and were restricted to rolling out the second phase of the 
Minister’s priorities. The Ministry ran a robust process to prioritise the Budget funding of Ministry-
managed services, based on criteria of: 

• whether it is a frontline service

• the criticality of the service

• the impact on health outcomes if the service were not funded. 

Priority was given to funding volume pressures due to demographic change rather than price 
increases. Processes were also worked through to identify options for disinvestment in order to 
fund the Minister’s priorities. Options came primarily from the in-depth spending reviews and were 
ranked according to value for money and the impact on health outcomes if disinvestment occurred.
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Priority outcome: Whānau Ora – Māori families are supported to achieve their 
maximum health and wellbeing 
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Te Ao Auahatanga Hauora Māori: Māori Health Innovation Fund
Thirty-one contracts were agreed in the 2009/10 financial year with 31 Māori providers of health 
and social services under Te Ao Auahatanga Hauora Māori: Māori Health Innovation Fund (the 
Fund). Launched in September 2009, the value of the Fund totals $20 million over the four years to 
30 June 2013. The overall goal of the Fund is to advance whānau ora by affirming Māori approaches 
that improve Māori health outcomes.

Key communication initiatives 
The Ministry, with support from Te Puni Kōkiri, facilitated 13 regional hui to increase knowledge 
about Influenza A (H1N1). From these hui, approximately 900 Influenza A (H1N1) resource packs 
were distributed to marae around the country. The Ministry worked to involve every District 
Health Board in the distribution of these packs, which included a DVD on close contact infectious 
diseases, Healthline information, immunisation posters, Influenza A (H1N1) posters, stickers 
and brochures, an information sheet for pregnant women, hand sanitisers, sanitiser dispensers, 
tissues and disposable bags.

Primary health care hui
During September 2009 the Ministry held four hui around the country to inform the Māori health 
sector of the upcoming changes to the primary health care sector, and in particular the request for 
expressions of interest for the delivery of ‘Better, Sooner, More Convenient’ primary health care. 
Approximately 800 people attended overall.

Tatau Kahukura Māori Health Chart Book 2010 (second edition)
Released in June 2010, this publication is a snapshot of Māori health in the mid to later part of the 
decade and presents key indicators relating to the socioeconomic determinants of health, risk and 
protective factors for health, health status, health service utilisation and the health system.

Ethnicity research
Issues in Monitoring Māori Health and Ethnic Disparities: An update, The Politics and Practice of 
Counting: Ethnicity in official statistics in Aotearoa/New Zealand, Ethnicity in Official Statistics in 
Aotearoa/New Zealand, and Ethnicity and National Identity and New Zealanders are available on 
www.ethnicity.maori.nz. These papers are part of a series considering key current and future issues 
in ethnicity data and the potential implications for the Māori health sector within the broader 
context of changing ethnicity data policies and practices in New Zealand. It is important to be able 
to accurately monitor Māori health over time, and this series of papers documents ethnicity data 
issues and their impact on Māori health monitoring.

Māori workforce research and statistics
Increasing the number of Māori health professionals is vital to providing appropriate care to  
Māori individuals, their whānau and all New Zealanders. Available on the website  
www.maorihealth.govt.nz are the latest statistics and data on:

• Year 11 to 13 Māori candidates studying science

• Māori studying health-related subjects in tertiary institutions

• the regulated Māori health workforce, by occupation.
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Māori smoking and tobacco profile
The Ministry of Health and The Quit Group jointly produced the Māori Smoking and Tobacco Use 
2009. The profile includes the latest smoking and Quitline data, comparing Māori and non-Māori.  
A link to the report is on the Māori Health website www.maorihealth.govt.nz.  

Close-contact infectious diseases 
The report, Close-contact infectious diseases in New Zealand: Trends and ethnic inequalities in 
hospitalisations, 1989 to 2008 was released in June 2010. This report describes the epidemiology 
of infectious diseases and close-contact infectious diseases for the 20-year period from 1989 to 
2008. Two further reports will be released in the coming year, focusing on the impact of household 
crowding on ethnic inequalities and how improvements in housing could contribute to reducing 
the burden of infectious diseases, with a specific focus on housing conditions for Māori.

Support for Māori providers
In October 2009 the Ministry released Ka Tika Ka Ora: The Māori Provider Work Programme 
2009−2010. This publication brings together all the activities the Ministry and District Health 
Boards were planning to undertake to support Māori providers in the 2009/10 financial year. The 
purpose of this work is to provide a foundation for the Ministry and District Health Boards to build 
a consistent approach to supporting a strong body of Māori providers. This publication contains 
information on: 

• the Māori provider sector 

• the challenges Māori providers identified during engagement hui 

• Ministry and District Health Board policy on Māori providers 

• examples of Ministry and District Health Board activities to support Māori providers.

A more complete view of the activities the Ministry and District Health Boards are planning  
to undertake to support Māori providers is provided on the Māori Health website  
www.maorihealth.govt.nz.  

Quality Improvement Group
The Ministry established a Quality Improvement Group for the Māori oral health provider sector 
to investigate clinical and service quality issues for this sector. The establishment of the Quality 
Improvement Group follows earlier work by the Ministry that invested in the capacity and 
capability of five providers to establish and/or enhance existing oral health services. The Quality 
Improvement Group has identified a number of service issues currently facing providers. As a 
consequence, the Ministry will follow up with site visits to seven Māori oral health providers and 
their respective District Health Boards in the coming year. 

In December 2009 the Ministry released Te Toi Hauora-Nui: Achieving Excellence Through 
Innovative Māori Health Service Delivery. This report provides information about innovative 
service approaches by Māori health and disability providers to improve Māori health, especially 
cardiovascular disease and diabetes. A second report on Whānau Ora Integrated Service Delivery is 
being developed, which will look at providers that integrate health and social services. This report 
is due for release in the coming year.
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Cultural competency
The Ministry completed a literature review of the evidence on cultural competence training for 
health professionals and its impact on patient health outcomes. The Ministry is using the findings 
of the literature review to commission a cultural competence e-learning tool. A prototype of the tool 
is being developed and will be trialled from December 2010.

Health literacy
Kōrero Mārama: Health Literacy and Māori was released in February 2010. The report describes the 
health literacy skills of Māori compared to non-Māori. A work programme to improve health literacy 
for Māori and their whānau has been developed, with activities to be undertaken in the coming 
year.

Te Manu Whakahīato
Te Manu Whakahīato is a professional development programme designed specifically for Māori 
members of District Health Boards and Primary Health Organisations, members of District Health 
Board Māori/iwi relationship boards, and members of Tumu Whakarae (comprising District Health 
Board senior Māori health managers). The aim of the programme is to support Māori leadership 
and influence in District Health Board/ Primary Health Organisation planning and decision-making 
processes at a governance level. Training sessions were held for this group in 2010, with a focus on 
increasing representatives’ understanding of Māori health information.

Priority outcome: Leadership and planning are clear, effective and co-ordinated
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Clinical networks
In 2009/10 the National Cardiac Surgery Clinical Network was established. Service agreements 
are in place with the Paediatric Society for the development of a child and youth clinical network, 
and opportunities for maternity clinical networks will be considered as part of the next steps in a 
maternity quality initiative. The National Health Board is progressing the development of national 
clinical networks in parallel with its work on planning and funding national services.

The first clinical leadership forum was held at the end of June 2010. This was a successful event, 
attended by a wide range of health sector workers. An action plan for advancing clinical leadership 
is being developed, and a further forum may be held later in 2010.

Further work will be undertaken by the National Health Board to progress clinical network 
guidelines, best practice examples and a toolkit for the sector. Appropriate links have also been 
made to emerging regional service planning being undertaken by District Health Boards. Proposals 
made by the National Health Board include:

• for phase 1 services to become national services:

– clinical genetics

– neurosurgery

– a number of paediatric sub-specialities
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• for services to have service improvements networks in 2010/11:

– cardiac surgery (enhanced)

– paediatric oncology

– major trauma.

Justice sector interface for addiction treatment services
Progress is being made to better assess the demand for addiction treatment services from the 
criminal justice sector and the provision of addiction treatment services. The Minister of Health has 
approved funding to continue addiction services in police watch-houses and District Courts.
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Appropriation: Administration of funding and 
purchasing of health and disability support services

About this appropriation
This appropriation supports the administration of the funding and purchasing of health and 
disability support services on behalf of the Crown, including post-clinical education and training. 
Services funded and purchased include some national personal health services, Māori health 
services, disability support services, mental health services, public health services and national 
screening services.

Cost
 Actual 

30/06/2009 
$000  

 Actual 
30/06/2010 

$000

Main estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

Supp. estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

28,541 Crown revenue 26,821 23,593 26,922 

320 Third party revenue 336 21 21 

28,861 Total revenue 27,157 23,614 26,943 

27,325 Total expenditure 26,148 23,614 26,943 

1,536 Net surplus 1,009 −   −   

Output performance measures and standards
Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Planning

An annual service 
plan by NDE output 
expense

Quantity: One per year (with constituent parts for each 
NDE class or sub-class)

Achieved 

An annual service plan describes 
the key drivers, services to be 
purchased, specific outcomes 
and outputs, and implications for 
resourcing changes 

Quality: The relevant sectors have been involved in 
developing the plan

Achieved

Service planning includes sector 
consultation 

Timeliness: Plan completed for the forthcoming 
financial year by 30 June

Achieved
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Service Development 

An annual programme 
of activity to improve 
the outcomes of the 
services that are 
purchased

Quantity: One programme of activity with all services 
being purchased clearly described and with a 
purchase plan

Achieved

Each group managing NDE 
develops annual plans, which 
identify activity over the year, with 
milestones 

Quality: 

•	 Purchase	plans	conform	to	MOH	standards.

•	 Relevant	users	and	sector	groups	will	be	involved	in	
the process of developing the service specifications

Achieved

The Ministry applies and adheres 
to a range of standards and 
policies when planning purchases

Timeliness: 

•	 Purchase	plans	will	be	completed	before	service	
purchasing commences

•	 Where	they	are	prompted	by	a	contract	expiring	a	
purchase plan will be completed before that expiry

Achieved

Purchase management 

Services are 
purchased 
(repurchased) 
according to the 
relevant purchase 
plan

Quantity: All funded services as they come up for 
contract renewal and all new services

Achieved 

All service types (not individual 
contracts) being purchased/
repurchased had a purchase plan

Quality: Sound contracts awarded through a 
transparent process that conforms to Ministry 
standards, and includes the involvement of the 
relevant users or their representatives and the relevant 
sector representatives

Achieved

The Ministry applies and adheres 
to a range of standards and 
policies for contracting

Timeliness: Services are contracted for according to 
the timeframes within the relevant purchase plan

Achieved

Performance Management

For each contract and 
provider; contract is 
managed, relationship 
is managed, issues 
are managed

Quantity: 100% of contracts The Ministry seeks to achieve this 
target by ensuring it maintains a 
robust framework for managing 
contracts effectively. This 
framework of policies, practices 
and processes is monitored, 
reviewed and updated regularly 
to ensure it conforms with current 
good practice models. The 
target is aspirational rather than 
achievable in any given year
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Performance Management (continued)

Quality: All contracts are monitored; all complaints 
acted on, active management of relationships with all 
providers, management of issues as they arise

The Ministry maintains policies 
and procedures with clear 
expectations for Contract 
Managers on monitoring and 
managing contract-related issues 
effectively. Under this guidance, 
contracts cannot be signed 
without reporting requirements. 
The Ministry also expects Contract 
Managers to monitor performance 
and respond to issues in a timely 
way over the life of a contract 
(such as expecting detailed 
responses within 21 working 
days from acknowledgement). 
The guidance also requires 
Contract Managers to keep 
detailed records of all issues and 
resolutions for audit and learning 
purposes. While contracts are 
expected to be monitored, the 
intensity of monitoring varies 
according to the nature of the 
services, the provider’s track 
record and the amount of public 
money involved, the complexity 
of the arrangements, and 
perceptions of risk, safety and 
legislative arrangements

Timeliness: Ongoing through the life of the contract

Meeting the needs of disadvantaged groups 

The incorporation of 
improved outcomes 
for disadvantaged 
groups into the 
delivery of services

Quantity: The service plan, service descriptions and 
purchase plans all identify outcomes and measures for 
disadvantaged groups

Achieved

The Ministry considers 
disadvantaged groups as part of 
its overall approach to service 
planning. These outcomes and 
measures are incorporated, where 
appropriate

Quality: Strategic inequality outcomes and targets are 
agreed

Achieved

Highlights for the year
The Ministry used this funding to progress the priority of ‘Every dollar is spent in the best way to 
improve health’. This involved leading the broader health sector through the implementation of 
ministerial and Cabinet decisions for: 

• enhanced sector accountability

• identifying and balancing priorities and obligations to determine the broad spread of 
purchasing and service development

• managing a purchasing process that ensures the identification and contracting of the most 
appropriate service provider

• managing performance to obtain the best possible service

• undertaking evaluations to determine whether the outcomes are being achieved, including 
incorporating improved outcomes for disadvantaged groups into the delivery of services.
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Priority outcome: Every dollar is spent in the best way to improve health
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiative to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Funding and purchasing of health and disability support services
Health and disability services are purchased nationally, and the Ministry is responsible for 
planning and buying these services.  In doing so, the Ministry: 

• ensures it identifies and balances priorities and obligations

• ensures the services have an outcome focus while being clear on minimum input requirements

• uses relevant and appropriate purchasing processes

• monitors to ensure the services are being delivered and the outcomes are being achieved

• ensures effective expenditure through understanding the drivers of expenditure and the fiscal 
risks and pressures. 

The Ministry has documented processes for managing contracts with providers, which specify the 
processes for buying goods or services, along with the policies, procedures, tools, templates and 
guidance for purchasing and contracting. The Ministry’s directorates and the National Health Board 
business unit follow the Ministry’s policy for buying goods or services funded by non-departmental 
expenditure, while each directorate refines its own processes to manage contracts with providers.  

Annual service plans consider and describe the generic outcomes to be achieved, the key drivers, 
the services to be purchased, the specific outcomes and outputs, and the implications for 
resourcing changes to be completed by the end of the year. 

Purchase plans describe how the purchase will take place, when it will take place, and who will 
manage the purchasing process within the Ministry. They also include a contract management plan 
and an assessment of risks associated with the purchase, and a plan for mitigating those risks. 

Contracts are prepared using generic agreements that contain standard sections and clauses, 
along with service specifications. Service specifications describe the actual service to be provided 
and specify the reporting requirements for the service. The service specifications include 
considering and incorporating, as appropriate, outcomes and measures for improving Māori 
outcomes and outcomes for disadvantaged groups. Provider quality specifications set out the 
minimum quality standards required of all providers.  

Using these contracting processes, the Ministry manages over $2.5 billion of national health and 
disability services on behalf of the Crown. Services purchased include:

• disability support services

• screening for diseases 

• promoting public health

• tobacco control initiatives

• a national office, in conjunction with the Accident Compensation Corporation for co-ordinating 
funding for the Ambulance sector.
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Disability Support Services contracts with providers to provide support for disabled people in 
their home and community. In May the Ministerial Committee on Disability Issues agreed to 
recommendations for a new model for supporting disabled people. This was also agreed to by 
Cabinet. The new model, which will be introduced through a number of demonstration projects at 
chosen sites, includes the introduction of local area co-ordinators, who will work alongside people, 
support them to make decisions for themselves, and help them to access support, including from 
their local communities. 

Another feature of the model is expanding the availability of individualised funding to allow more 
people around the country to self-manage their supports. During the past year the availability 
of individualised funding was extended to all people who are eligible for home and community 
support services, increasing the number of people receiving individualised funding from 226 to 
400. As at the end of June, contract negotiations were being undertaken to extend the number of 
host providers for individualised funding from one to twelve.

The Ministry has been investing in the capability of organisations to work collaboratively across 
sectors to promote health, prevent illness, improve access to services, and reduce unequal health 
outcomes for populations. It has also been working with the food industry to improve the nutrient 
value of manufactured and catered foods.  

The National Ambulance Sector Office is a joint venture between the Ministry and Accident 
Compensation Corporation to co-ordinate funding for the ambulance sector and to provide an 
integrated ‘voice of the Crown’ on ambulance matters.  

Detailed results and achievements from these purchased/funded services are reported in a 
separate Vote Health: Report in relation to selected Non-departmental Appropriations for the year 
ended 30 June 2010, presented pursuant to section 32A of the Public Finance Act 1989. A copy of 
that report for 2009/10 will be available on the parliamentary website from October 2010. 
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Appropriation: Administration of legislation and 
regulations

About this appropriation
This appropriation supports the implementation, enforcement and administration of health 
legislation and regulations.

Cost

 Actual 
30/06/2009 

$000  

 Actual 
30/06/2010 

$000

Main 
estimates 

30/06/2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

30/06/2010 
$000

20,221 Crown revenue 18,248 21,317 18,928 

17,264 Third party revenue 16,189 15,407 16,225 

37,485 Total revenue 34,437 36,724 35,153 

33,171 Total expenditure 34,453 36,724 35,153 

4,314 Net surplus (16) −   −   

Output performance measures and standards
Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Administration of New Zealand’s international and WHO obligations

Maintain relationship 
between the 
Ministry and OECD, 
UN, WHO, APEC4, 
Commonwealth 
Secretariat, the 
Australian Health 
Ministers’ Conference, 
the Australian Health 
Ministers Advisory 
Council (officials), and 
the Commonwealth 
Fund

Quality: Support New Zealand’s membership of WHO 
Executive Board

Achieved

New Zealand completed 
its 3-year term on the WHO 
governance body in May 2010

Timeliness: Ongoing Achieved

4 OECD – Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; UN – United Nations; WHO – World Health Organization;  
APEC – Asia Pacific Economic Co-operation.
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Administration of the Medicines Act 1981 and accompanying regulations

Administration of the 
Medicines Act 1981 
to assure safety, 
quality, efficacy 
or performance of 
therapeutic products

Quantity:  Medsafe will complete an evaluation of 
approximately (demand driven) 290 new medicine 
applications (NMAs) in the 12-month period. 
Approximately (demand driven) 1500 changed medicine 
notifications (CMNS) will be evaluated

253 NMAs evaluations were 
completed

1359 CMNS notifications were 
evaluated

Quality: Completed evaluations are reviewed against 
Medsafe’s guidelines, policies and procedures in 
accordance with Medsafe’s quality system

Timeliness:

•	 Evaluations	will	be	completed	within	the	timeframes	
specified in the Medsafe Quality System

•	 100%	of	CMNs	will	be	responded	to	within	45	days.

Achieved

Not achieveda

Achieved

100% of 1359 notifications 
were responded to within  
45 days

An effective legislative and policy environment for improving, promoting and protecting public health

Provide leadership to 
designated officers in 
DHBs/Public Health 
Units (PHUs), and 
strengthen networks/
collaboration with 
other sectors

Quantity:   

•	 Provide	professional	leadership	to	the	designated	
officers in DHBs/PHUs

•	 Provide	advice	to	other	key	agencies	on	actions	to	
improve public health

Achieved

Critical national communications and reserve supplies

Develop and 
maintain systems 
for communications 
with and amongst 
DHBs, and with other 
government agencies 
in major regional and 
national emergencies

Quantity: Maintain WebEOC and satellite 
phone networks on a 24/7 basis for emergency 
communications

Achieved

Quality: Exercise WebEOC and satellite phone networks 
locally and nationally in real time a minimum of ten 
times, and modify procedures as required

Achieved

National network access was 
tested fortnightly and tested  
30 times regionally 

Exercise responses to critical emergencies at national and local levels

Implement and 
evaluate health 
emergency exercise 
programme

Quantity: Implement and/or participate in a minimum 
of ten emergency exercises involving DHBs, ambulance 
providers and/or government agencies

Achieved

Participation in 14 exercises  
(three activations)

Quality: Lessons learned from exercises are analysed 
and supplied to participating agencies in order to inform 
better planning

Achieved

HealthCert

Management of 
enforcement/
complaints made 
under Health and 
Disability Services 
(Safety) Act 2001

Quantity: An estimated 135 responses (demand driven) 174 responses

This result is demand driven

Quality: 

•	 95%	of	responses	responded	to	within	7	days

•	 95%	of	reports	completed	within	30	working	days	of	
an investigation audit being completed and obtaining 
all relevant information obtained

Achieved

99% responded to within 7 days

Achieved

99% completed within  
30 working days
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Intersectoral emergency planning and response

Initiate and engage 
with other government 
agencies in workshops 
and advisory groups 
to enhance all of 
government responses 
to emergencies

Quantity:

•	 Develop	health	advice	and	input	into	20	action	plans,	
exercises, co-ordination meetings or strategies

•	 Convene	two	meetings	of	the	Intersectoral	Pandemic	
Planning Group

Achieved

Achieved

4 meetings held

Quality: Written health advice provided by MOH is 
internally peer reviewed, and adapted as relevant 
following input from other agencies

Achieved

Lead health sector response to emergencies

Lead health 
emergency planning 
and response to meet 
statutory obligations

Quantity: A minimum of three regional meetings per 
annum are maintained in each of the Auckland, Midland, 
Central and Southern regions

Achieved

12 regional meetings held

Quality: Evaluation of outcomes of meetings by 
participants

Achieved

Legislation and policy

Administration of the 
Intellectual Disability 
Compulsory Care and 
Rehabilitation Act 
2003 and Part 4A of 
the NCSP Register

Quantity: Service capacity is maintained so that services 
are available for persons subject to compulsory care 
orders under the Acts

Achieved

Quality: Legislative requirements met Achieved

Timeliness: As required by orders of the court Achieved

Radiation protection services and emergency management

Radiation Protection 
Act 1965: Licensing 
of persons to use 
irradiating apparatus 
and/or radioactive 
material

Quantity: An estimated 3300 licences per year Achieved

3856 licences were issued or 
renewed

Quality: 95% to be completed within 10 days of receipt 
of all required information

Achieved

99% (3827 out of 3856) 
responses and reports 
completed within 10 days of 
receipt

Explanation for performance measures not achieved

a. Seventy-six percent of 253 new medicine applications were completed within 200 days (the target is 80 percent). 
Limited resources for the clinical evaluation of applications affected performance throughout the year. This was 
mitigated to some extent by the use of external evaluators and the fixed-term appointment of a clinical advisor.

Highlights for the year
The Ministry used this funding to progress the priority of ‘Leadership and planning are clear, 
effective and co-ordinated’ to maintain external relationships; to administer legislation and 
manage specific statutory powers and functions under various pieces of legislation; and to 
undertake emergency management obligations.  
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Priority outcome: Leadership and planning are clear, effective and co-ordinated
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Emergency management
The Ministry’s emergency management role was, again, a major area of focus during 2009/10. The 
Ministry co-ordinated New Zealand’s health sector and all-of-government response to the Influenza 
A (H1N1) pandemic. The National Health Co-ordination Centre was activated for a period of seven 
months, with activity occurring at the local, regional and national levels. This co-ordination and 
leadership ensured the impact of the pandemic was effectively managed. 

The Ministry also supported the international response to the Samoan tsunami in September 
2009. This included assisting the deployment of medical, surgical and psychosocial support, as 
well as logistical and co-ordination support and medical supplies. The National Health  
Co-ordination Centre was activated for a period of one month – this occurred at the same time as 
the Ministry was dealing with the Influenza A (H1N1) pandemic.  

The Ministry maintains relationships with other government agencies to ensure New Zealand 
effectively copes with emergencies and major events, such as the 2011 Rugby World Cup.   

New Zealand’s membership of the World Health Organization Executive Board
New Zealand’s membership of the World Health Organization governance body provided a major 
opportunity for New Zealand to influence the strategic directions and future work plans of the World 
Health Organization. A major focus for New Zealand was to promote New Zealand’s and the Pacific 
region’s interests. New Zealand’s three-year term expired in May 2010.   
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Appropriation: Funding and performance  
of Crown entities

About this appropriation
This appropriation funds the administration of funding to DHBs and Crown Entities and the 
provision of advice on planning and performance, supporting and monitoring the implementation 
of strategic plans, assistance to meet legislative obligations and regulatory frameworks and advice 
on governance issues to Ministers and Crown Entities.

Cost

 Actual 
30/06/2009 

$000  

 Actual 
30/06/2010 

$000

Main 
estimates 

30/06/2010 
$000

Supp. estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

8,433 Crown revenue 8,132 9,099 8,132 

146 Third party revenue 153 10 10 

8,579 Total revenue 8,285 9,109 8,142 

8,061 Total expenditure 7,702 9,109 8,142 

518 Net surplus 583 −  −   

Output performance measures and standards
Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

DHB and Crown entity ownership advice

Developing advice to DHBs 
and other Crown Health 
entities on funding and 
planning

Quantity: Funding package distributed and advice on all 
DAPs and SOIs provided

Achieved

Funding and planning 
information was 
distributed to DHBs in 
December 2009

Quality: Robust and timely advice Achieved

Timeliness: Annually Achieved

Monitoring, influencing and 
advising on employment 
relations in the health 
sector

Quantity: Health Reports and verbal briefings as 
required

Achieved

Quality: Robust and timely advice Achieved

The Ministry worked with 
DHBs to agree on an 
employment relations 
strategy

Timeliness: As required Achieved
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Advice on ministerial 
appointments to the 
governing bodies of DHBs 
and other Crown entity 
and on the expectations of 
board members

Quantity: Health Reports and verbal briefings as 
required

Achieved

Quality: Robust and timely advice Achieved

Following any vacancy, 
the Ministry provided 
the Minister with advice 
on the remaining board 
composition and options 
for maintaining an effective 
and representative 
membership

Timeliness: As required Achieved

Managing DHBs’ Crown 
Funding Agreements

Quantity: 

•	 Main	agreements	updated

•	 Four	omnibus	rounds	completed

Achieved

The Crown Funding 
Agreements’ mandated 
operational policy 
framework and service 
coverage schedule were 
updated

Four omnibus rounds were 
completed 

Timeliness: Quarterly Achieved

Provide non-financial 
monitoring of DHBs 
including: Ministry 
assessment, feedback,  
re-assessment, 
performance advice to the 
Minister, snapshot reports, 
reports to Treasury and 
production reports

Quantity: As relevant, four quarterly reports produced 
for the Minister, ad hoc reports as required and other 
reports to agreed frequency

Achieved

Four quarterly reports were 
completed. In addition, 
all other reports were 
completed as required 

Timeliness: Quarterly Achieved

DHB and Crown entity performance

Administer the MIF 
committee in its 
assessment and evaluation 
of DHB performance 
against the Monitoring and 
Intervention Framework 
(MIF), and in its response 
to material changes in DHB 
performance

Quantity: Ten meetings per year Achieved

10 meetings held

Quality: MIF meetings are held on programme and 
recommendations dealt with in a timely manner

Achieved

Timeliness: Responses are sent within eight weeks of 
confirmed material deterioration of DHB performance

Achieved

Improving elective services

Central purchasing 
and monitoring of 
additional elective 
surgery, assessments and 
procedures

Quantity: A 20% increase above DHB base levels 
representing a minimum of 4000 extra discharges from 
the total Elective Discharges

Achieved 

138,376 elective surgical 
discharges were delivered, 
which is an increase of 30 
percent on DHB base levels 
and 8607 discharges more 
than the previous year

Monitoring of elective 
services patient flow 
and improvement of the 
integrity of the national 
booking system

Quantity: Monthly Reports provided, including 
monitoring of variations in categories of planned and 
staged, and active review

Achieved
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Highlights for the year
The Ministry used this funding to progress the priorities of ‘Leadership and planning are clear, 
effective and co-ordinated’ and ‘Faster access to high-quality hospital services’ to provide District 
Health Board and Crown entity ownership advice, including advice on performance management.  
This included providing advice on: 

• funding and planning

• monitoring, influencing and advising on employment relations in the health sector

• advice on ministerial appointments to the governing bodies of District Health Boards and other 
Crown entities

• managing funding agreements

• providing non-financial monitoring of District Health Boards 

• administering the Monitoring and Intervention Framework committee in its assessment and 
evaluation of District Health Board performance against the Monitoring and Intervention 
Framework.  

This funding was also used to improve elective services through central purchasing and monitoring 
of additional elective surgery, assessments and procedures.

Priority outcome: Leadership and planning are clear, effective and co-ordinated
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiative to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

District Health Board and Crown entity performance and ownership advice
District Health Boards are responsible for providing, or funding the provision of, health and 
disability services in their district. However, the Ministry plays an important role in monitoring 
and reporting independently to the Minister of Health on the performance of the Boards and other 
Crown entities in the health and disability system. The Ministry uses a Monitoring and Intervention 
Framework to analyse financial and non-financial performance, and through this identifies issues 
and solutions. During the year, issues were identified and some Boards’ performance was put 
under closer scrutiny through this framework.5

The Ministry enhanced its focus this year to support District Health Boards to prepare their 
accountability funding and non-financial planning advice by December 2009. This additional level 
of support and focus enabled District Health Boards to prepare 2010/11 accountability documents 
on time. The following funding, planning and reporting information was provided by the Ministry:

• the Minister’s Letter of Expectations –  this set out the Minister’s expectations of the District 
Health Boards/entities for the financial year and was designed to help develop the District 
Health Boards’/entities’ Statements of Intent

• the Planning Package to District Health Boards – this included guidance for preparing 
accountability documentation, and updated policy documents comprising the operational 
policy framework, service coverage schedule information, and performance reporting 
requirements

5  DHBs whose performances were put under scrutiny at some point during the year were: Waitemata, Taranaki, Hawke’s Bay, 
MidCentral, Whanganui, Capital and Coast, Hutt Valley, Wairarapa, West Coast, and Southern (Otago and Southland).
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• the Funding Package to District Health Boards − this was distributed concurrently with the 
Planning Package  and provided funding advice to District Health Boards to maintain base 
services, increase core services in line with demographic funding growth and implement 
government priorities (the financial advice enabled District Health Boards to complete their 
accountability documents).

The Ministry sends quarterly reports to the Minister of Health, and ad hoc reports are provided to 
the Minister or central government agencies on specific one-off issues. 

• The District Health Board quarterly reporting process starts with District Health Boards providing 
information which the Ministry uses to assess their performance. After each quarterly report 
has been sent to the Minister, letters are sent to all District Health Board chief executives on the 
performance of their respective District Health Board. 

• Other health Crown entities also send their quarterly reports to the Ministry. The Ministry 
reviews these reports against the measures in the entities’ Statements of Intent, and clarifies 
any necessary points/items with the entities. The reports are then summarised, and these 
summaries are collated and provided in an omnibus report to the Minister of Health.

Wider reporting of performance is also an effective way to drive better results. During the 2009/10 
year the Ministry initiated public reporting of how District Health Boards were performing in terms 
of the Health Targets. These summary reports received widespread media coverage and were an 
easy-to-digest way for communities to find out how their local District Health Board was performing 
in these key areas. 

The Ministry also continued to process quarterly analyses of Crown funding. This process needed 
to be changed to support the new arrangements to support the new Southern District Health Board. 
These were achieved on time by 30 April 2010.   

The Ministry worked with District Health Boards to agree on a proactive employment relations 
strategy to control the rate of growth of labour costs while maintaining an engaged, productive 
workforce with the appropriate skill mix for service delivery. Although the accountability for District 
Health Boards’ employment relations settlements rests with the District Health Boards, they are 
required to consult with the Director-General of Health prior to settling collective agreements 
(and individual employment agreements and other processes for adjusting remuneration and 
conditions). 

Under legislation, District Health Board and other health Crown entity board member resignations 
are to be notified in writing to the Minister and copied to the District Health Board/Crown entity. 
The Ministry provides the Minister with advice on the current board composition, and any skill  
gaps among the remaining members, to help assist in the initial planning considerations for filling 
the vacancy.

Priority outcome: Faster access to high-quality hospital services
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiative to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Elective services
The Government has placed a high priority on increasing the availability of elective services for 
patients (including the development of a Government Health Target on elective services). As a 
result of this focus, there has been a dramatic increase in the level of services being provided. In 
2009/10 the health system managed to deliver more than 8600 additional elective surgeries – 
more than twice the planned average increase. 
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To support this significant increase in elective surgery, the Ministry supported a programme to 
establish dedicated elective theatres. Because of the significant increase in elective surgeries 
being performed, additional operating theatre capacity will be required to meet further increases. 
These new dedicated elective theatres will enable acute and elective surgeries to be separated, 
providing opportunities for reduced elective cancellations and more efficient elective surgical 
delivery. 

During the year, a number of District Health Boards submitted business cases for new elective 
surgical units featuring innovations to streamline patient care and improve theatre productivity. 
The Government will be making final decisions on these business cases in 2010/11.

During 2009/10, the Ministry used road shows and other opportunities to promote non-contact 
first specialist assessments as a way to improve patients’ access to elective assessments. There 
was a strong level of interest from both primary and secondary clinicians in this idea. 

The Ministry has also collected data from District Health Boards to monitor the flow of elective 
patients. Over the year, performance was improved and attention was focused on critical areas of 
concern such as reducing the number of patients having to wait more than six months for elective 
assessment and treatment. Compliance with elective services patient flow indicators has remained 
consistently high throughout the year.  
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Appropriation: Information services

About this appropriation
This appropriation supports the Ministry to provide national health information services.

Cost
 Actual 

30/06/2009 
$000  

 Actual 
30/06/2010 

$000

Main estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

Supp. estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

61,220 Crown revenue 67,581 62,451 67,282 

1,019 Third party revenue 771 408 408 

62,239 Total revenue 68,352 62,859 67,690 

61,329 Total expenditure 67,518 62,859 67,690 

910 Net surplus 834 −   −   

Output performance measures and standards
Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Health Information Architecture and Investment Framework

A blueprint for a 
sustainable and 
effective health and 
disability information 
management 
and technology 
environment, 
providing improved 
ability to target IT 
investments

Quantity:

•	 National	health	and	disability	information	architecture	
is system wide

•	 Approved	IT	investment	framework

•	 Approved	framework	for	the	development	and	use	of	
shared services

Achieved

A National Health IT Plan – Draft 
for Discussion was released in 
April 2010

Quality: 

•	 Evidence	of	clinical	leadership	and	sector	and	
community engagement in the development of the 
architecture and framework

•	 Evidence	of	sector	uptake	of	the	National	systems	
architecture

•	 Evidence	of	increased	use	of	shared	services,	common	
systems and processes

•	 Investments	will	have	an	accompanying	advice	as	to	
their priority and benefits

Achieved

Sector access to the national 
data collections was improved 
through the upgrading of the 
reporting software

Monitoring the health of New Zealand population

The New Zealand 
Health Monitor 
National Population 
Health Survey 
Programme

Quantity: Main survey and data collection commences 
for New Zealand adult nutrition, tobacco use and oral 
health surveys

Achieved

Data collections completed in 
July 2009, October 2009, and 
December 2009, respectively

Quality: Milestones and reports delivered within agreed 
timeframe and budget

Achieved
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

National Collections and Reporting to support Patient Safety and Quality of Care

Provision of 
information from 
national collections 
to the Health and 
Disability System and 
to the public to better 
inform their decision 
making

Quality:

•	 Rationalisation	and	simplification	of	information,	
payments and agreements systems

•	 Information	is	provided	as	per	standards	detailed	in	
the OPF (Operational Policy Framework) and DHB MoU

Achieved

National health and disability information infrastructure

Provide foundations 
of national health and 
disability information 
infrastructure to 
support the sharing 
of information, the 
establishment and 
effective functioning 
of clinical networks, 
planning, funding and 
delivery of health care 
in New Zealand

Quantity: Delivery of: secure portal; data centre hosting 
and transition; information collection and analysis stage 
1 business case; self service agreements management; 
connected health directory, recipient identity and 
business fields data service; provider identity, roles and 
relationships

Partially achieveda

Quality:

•	 Clinical	support	for	projects

•	 Rationalisation	and	simplification	of	information,	
payments and agreements systems

•	 Projects	will	be	delivered	within	agreed	timeframes,	
budget and quality performance measures

Achieved

Explanations for performance measures not achieved
a. Secure portal (Partially achieved): Initial infrastructure for a secure portal is mainly complete. Two secure portal pilots 

– Friends of NGO Desk and the Quality Improvement Committee – were successfully completed. Further work has 
been suspended until significant users of the capability have been confirmed.

 Data centre hosting and transition (Achieved): In 2009/10 the Ministry established data centres in Kapiti (Wellington) 
and Penrose (Auckland) and migrated 90 percent of the Ministry’s servers to these centres.

 Information collection and analysis stage 1 business case (Partially achieved): The National Services Development 
Programme Health Statistics Reporting programme was closed down, with the exception of two projects which are 
nearing completion.  Online Pharmacy Claiming achieved an 85 percent uptake by New Zealand pharmacies and 
resulted in a significant decrease in manually processed claims.

 Self service agreements management (Partially achieved): The Health Payments System Stage 2 business case 
was submitted to the Minister of Health in September 2008. The business case was not approved and has been 
withdrawn.

 Connected health directory (Partially achieved): The proof of concept for the national Connected Health network 
backbone was successfully completed. Contracts are in place for the production network backbone, projected to 
be established by December 2010. Directory services have been removed from this project. The Connected Health 
project board has agreed to a refined scope for the 2010/11 deliverables in order to complete the remaining 
deliverables to provide the Connected Health network. The Ministry facilitated the establishment of standards 
for network transmission, which will allow health information to be safely and seamlessly shared using common 
standards across networks from different telecommunication service providers in a robust and vendor-neutral 
manner, while removing points of failure.

 Recipient identity and business fields data service; provider identity, roles and relationships (Partially achieved): 
Recipient and Provider Identity has completed a due diligence exercise with the preferred vendor, and a business 
case for implementation is in development.

Highlights for the year
The Ministry used this funding to progress the priority of ‘Systems and services are more patient-
centred’ in order to: 

• monitor the health of the New Zealand population

• provide information from national collections to the health and disability system, and to the 
public, to better inform their decision-making
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• manage the National Health and Disability Information Infrastructure

• manage a sustainable and effective health information architecture and investment framework 
by providing a blueprint for an improved ability to target IT investments across the sector and 
encouraging use of shared services, common systems and processes.

Priority outcome: Systems and services are more patient-centred
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority.

National health and disability information infrastructure
Several key infrastructure improvement projects have been completed and others are under way.   
Highlights include improvements to the Ministry’s security, emergency remote access for pandemic 
response, and human resources systems.

The Connected Health programme has completed a successful proof of concept and has 
agreements in place to deliver the secure backbone, which will allow the safe and efficient transfer 
of electronic health information.

A new Health Information Standards Organisation (HISO 2010) has been established. This 
representative group approves the standards that govern health information. HISO is supported 
by a newly formed Health Information Solutions and Standards team, established as part of the 
reorganisation of the Ministry. 

The health information security framework, New Zealand medicines terminology (a key component 
of safe medications management) and a standard for online forms were approved this year. Future 
work on other foundational standards is on the work programme for next year.

The Recipient and Provider Identity programme selected a preferred provider for the replacement of 
the National Health Index system.  Because of the complexity of the project, the Ministry conducted 
a due diligence exercise to confirm the capability of the provider. Results of this exercise will form 
the basis for future investment in this area.

Additional highlights include:

• two data centres were established to provide safe and secure environments for the Ministry’s 
software applications (to date 90 percent of the servers have been migrated to the data centres)

• sector access to the national data collections was improved through the upgrading of the 
reporting software

• the National Immunisation Register was moved to a more resilient platform and the reporting 
functionality of that system was improved 

• the Programme for the Integration of Mental Health Data (PRIMHD) system has been established 
and is being rolled out to District Health Boards and Non Governmental Organisations  

• the New Zealand Cancer Registry has been improved and processes streamlined to allow more 
up-to-date reporting and publication of cancer statistics  

• a drive to publish statistical data in a more timely way has resulted in 21 publications this year, 
a three-fold increase from two years ago. 
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Health information and investment framework – blueprint for a sustainable and effective 
information environment
The Health System Investment and Planning team has been established as part of the 
reorganisation of the Ministry. Its function will be to oversee the implementation of a national 
health IT plan and to co-ordinate various project activities across the sector. A National Health 
IT Plan: Draft for discussion  was released in April 2010. There was significant interest in, and 
feedback, on the draft plan. A second version incorporating key feedback is being prepared 
and is to be released shortly. The second draft plan proposes a more regionally and nationally 
co-ordinated approach to District Health Board information communications technology 
developments.
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Appropriation: Payment services

About this appropriation
This appropriation supports the provision of health sector payments and the administration of 
contracts and payments.

Cost
 Actual 

30/06/2009 
$000  

 Actual 
30/06/2010 

$000

Main estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

Supp. estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

19,897 Crown revenue 18,289 19,932 18,394 

213 Third party revenue 212 5 5 

20,110 Total revenue 18,501 19,937 18,399 

19,314 Total expenditure 17,679 19,937 18,399 

796 Net surplus 213 −   −   

Output performance measures and standards
Performance 
measure

Budget Standard Actual

Health Agreements

A national 
shared service 
for processing 
all DHBs and 
national services 
agreements 
(demand driven)

Quantity: All appropriately completed 
agreements will be processed (expected 
maximum volume of 11,000 agreements)

Achieved

11,022 agreements processed

Quality: All appropriately completed 
agreements will be processed with error 
rates within agreed limits

Achieved

Timeliness: All appropriately completed 
agreements will be processed within 
agreed timeframes (up to a volume of 
11,000 agreements)

Achieved
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6  This actual figure is based on the total volume of transactions as recorded on 26 August 2010 minus capitation-based funding 
payments.  This figure is subject to continual change following year-end as providers send through claims for the previous year.  

7  The error rates referred to are based on the performance of the providers. It details the amount of errors made by providers in 
submitted claims. 

Performance 
measure

Budget Standard Actual

Health Payments

A national 
shared service 
for processing all 
DHBs and national 
services payments 
(demand driven)

Quantity: All appropriately completed 
payments will be processed (expected 
maximum volume of 90 million)

Achieved

94,414,482 payments processed6

Quality: All appropriately completed 
payments will be processed with error 
rates within agreed limits

Achieved7

Timeliness: All appropriately completed 
payments will be processed within 
agreed timeframes (up to a volume of 90 
million transactions)

The Ministry seeks to achieve timeliness through a 
variety of means. Automated computer payments 
are coded in such a way that payment within 
time is assured. Many payments are processed 
manually using paper forms, and in such cases 
the timeliness of payments is regularly reported 
to meetings, and workloads are actively managed 
to ensure that timeliness guidelines are not 
breached

Highlights for the year
The Ministry used this funding to progress the priority of ‘Systems and services are more patient-
centred’ to provide a national shared service for processing all District Health Board and National 
Services Agreements, and for processing all payments. 

Priority outcome: Systems and services are more patient-centred
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiatives to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Health agreements 
Health agreements are a combination of new contracts and renewed contracts agreed between 
Ministry of Health directorates managing non-departmental expenditure contracts, and the service 
providers. All contracting agreement documentation information is contained in the Ministry’s 
information technology system, the Contract Maintenance System, which is managed by the Sector 
Services group. New agreements are based on standard templates, and variations to the standard 
terms and conditions of these templates can be captured in the provider-specific terms and 
conditions section of the agreements.

Payments system
Some payments made by the Sector Services group in the Ministry have now been consolidated 
through a one-payment system, reducing complexity and enhancing reporting and cash 
management. This consolidation improves the Ministry’s ability to monitor the $7.6 billion per year 
in health payments. 
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Appropriation: Servicing of ministers and ministerial 
committees
This appropriation supports the provision of administrative and advisory support services to the 
Minister and Associate Ministers of Health and ministerial advisory committees.

Cost
 Actual 

30/06/2009 
$000  

 Actual 
30/06/2010 

$000

Main estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

Supp. estimates 
30/06/2010 

$000

15,515 Crown revenue 15,013 15,402 14,913 

111 Third party revenue 141 29 29 

15,626 Total revenue 15,154 15,431 14,942 

13,863 Total expenditure 13,303 15,431 14,942 

1,763 Net surplus 1,851 −   −   

Output performance measures and standards
Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Policy Advice

Policy advice to 
Ministers

Quantity: All advice and briefings provided as agreed 
between the Minister and the Ministry

Achieved 

Quality: In accordance with the Statement of Objectives Achieved

Two independent reviews of the 
Ministry’s policy reports were 
undertaken

Timeliness: Completed within the requested timeframes Achieved

Servicing of Ministers, ministerial committees and parliament

Draft replies to 
Parliamentary 
questions

Quality: All draft replies peer reviewed and signed out in 
accordance with delegated authority

Achieved

1011 draft replies were 
provided to Parliamentary 
questions

Timeliness: 95% of draft replies to parliamentary 
questions completed within required timeframe

Achieved

99.6% were completed within 
the required timeframe

Draft responses 
to Ministerial 
correspondence

Quality: 

All draft replies peer reviewed and signed out in 
accordance with delegated authority

93% of replies signed off at first draft

Achieved8

3426 draft responses to 
Ministerial correspondence 

96% of replies were signed off 
at first draft

Timeliness: 90% of draft replies to Ministerial 
correspondence completed within the required 
timeframe

Achieved

97% were completed within the 
required timeframe

8 The annual percentage was estimated at 96% based on a count of returned drafts for the period 19 March 2010 to 4 June 2010. Of 
the replies not signed off at first draft, only a third (or 1% of all replies) were due to avoidable issues.
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Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Servicing of Ministers, ministerial committees and parliament (continued)

Make appointments 
to Ministerial 
committees and 
statutory bodies and 
committees, and 
support ministerial 
advisory committees

Quality: All appointments made in accordance with the 
New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000, 
DPMC and SSC requirements

Achieved

259 appointments to 
committees were completed

Provide Ministers with 
briefing papers and 
speeches

Quality: 

•	 All	advice	and	briefings	will	meet	the	quality	standards	
for the provision of policy advice and briefings set out 
in the Statement of Objectives

•	 All	draft	replies	peer	reviewed	and	signed	out	in	
accordance with delegated authority

Achieved

540 briefing papers and 
speeches were provided

Timeliness: 95% completed within the required 
timeframe

Not achieveda 

93% were completed within the 
required timeframe

Provide responses to 
requests for official 
information

Quality: 

•	 All	decisions	made	in	accordance	with	the	provisions	
of the Official Information Act 1982

•	 All	draft	replies	peer	reviewed	and	signed	out	in	
accordance with delegated authority

Achieved

577 responses to requests were 
provided for official information

Timeliness: 100% of requests for official information 
completed within the required timeframes

Not achievedb 

91% were completed within the 
required timeframe

Provide responses to 
written questions from 
select committee

Quality: All draft replies peer reviewed and signed out in 
accordance with delegated authority

Achieved

149 responses were provided 
to written questions from select 
committees

Timeliness: 100% of written responses provided within 
the timeframe requested by the Minister of Health and 
the Health Committee

Achieved

100% were completed within 
the required timeframe

Statutory and ministerial advisory committee support

Support the work 
of statutory and 
Ministerial advisory 
committees

Quantity: Provide support as required Achieved

Secretariat support to 
Ministerial advisory committees 
was provided as required

Explanations for performance measures not achieved
a. The Ministry drafted 540 briefing papers and speeches, of which 500 were on time (93%). Forty briefing papers or 

speeches (7 percent) were late, although many of these were overdue by only one day. The Ministers’ offices were 
kept fully informed of any delays, and no significant issues were raised by them. This was a significant improvement 
on the 76 percent result reported in the previous financial year.

b. The Ministry drafted 577 responses to requests for official information, of which 525 were on time (91%).  
The 52 late responses are of concern to the Ministry. This was the first full year the Ministry used the Quill IT system 
to track and monitor requests, and the result is a significant improvement on the 62 percent result reported in the 
previous financial year. The Ministry expects to continue to improve to the 100% target in 2010/11.
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Highlights for the year
The Ministry used this funding to progress the priority of ‘Leadership and planning are clear, 
effective and co-ordinated’ to provide advice to the health ministerial team to support enhanced 
sector-wide leadership and accountability. This includes advice that is not related to interventions 
planned for the other departmental output expenses, but that is either requested by Ministers 
or is of such significance that a Minister would be at risk if s/he were not briefed on the matter 
at hand. This funding was also used to prepare draft responses to ministerial correspondence, 
parliamentary questions, requests for briefing reports and speeches, replies to questions asked 
by the Health Select Committee, responses to petitions, select committee inquiries, and advice 
to select committees in their consideration of bills. Advice on appointments to ministerial and 
occupational statutory bodies and committees, and on administrative and advisory services to 
ministerial advisory committees serviced by the Ministry, is also provided under this appropriation.  

Priority outcome: Leadership and planning are clear, effective and co-ordinated
During 2009/10 the Ministry undertook the following initiative to support the achievement of this 
priority outcome.

Statutory and ministerial advisory committee support
The Ministry supports the Minister of Health to make appointments to a range of ministerial 
committees and other statutory bodies. These include the Cancer Control Council, ethics 
committees, mortality review committees and the professional regulatory authorities.

The Ministry supports 14 committees under the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 
2000, two committees under the Human Assisted Reproductive Technology Act 2004, and 16 
committees under the Health Practitioners Competence Assurance Act 2003. In the 2009/10 year 
259 appointments were completed.

A range of committees are supported from the Cancer Control Council and ethics committee, for 
which the Ministry provides a secretariat, through to the professional regulatory bodies, which 
fund secretariat costs through member levies. The Ministry also provides additional support, as 
required, through its legal and government relations teams.
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Organisational Development and Capability
In 2009/10 the Ministry underwent significant change following a review of the health system 
commissioned by the Minister of Health in January 2009. The Ministerial Review Group reported 
back on 31 July 2009 in Meeting the Challenge: Enhancing sustainability and the patient and 
consumer experience within the current legislative framework for health and disability services in 
New Zealand. This report contained over 170 recommendations.  

One of the most significant decisions taken by the Government in response to the Ministerial 
Review Group’s recommendations was to establish the National Health Board (and a new business 
unit) within the Ministry of Health to supervise the publicly funded health system. Following this 
announcement, the Ministry undertook an internal review to align its structure, role and functions 
(including those of the National Health Board business unit). 

Organisational structure
At the start of the 2009/10 the Ministry had eight directorates:

• Corporate Services

•	 Health and Disability National Services

•		 Health and Disability Systems Strategy

•	 Information

•		 Māori Health

•		 Population Health

•		 Sector Accountability and Funding

•		 Sector Capability and Innovation.

In May 2010 the Director-General of Health announced the following structure to support all 
Ministry functions, including the new National Health Board business unit:

•		 National Health Board business unit

•		 Corporate Services

•		 Māori Health

•		 Population Health

•		 Sector Capability and Implementation

•		 Strategy and System Performance.

The Ministry’s Executive Leadership Team includes the five Deputy Directors-General and, in the 
case of the National Health Board business unit, the National Director. This team has overall 
responsibility for providing corporate governance, strategic direction and leadership across the 
Ministry.   
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Staffing levels
In line with the Government’s policy of capping core public service numbers and shifting resources 
to front-line services, the Ministry agreed to reduce its staffing level. At the beginning of 2009/10 
the Ministry had approximately 1430 full-time equivalent staff.  By smarter, more efficient use of its 
staffing, the Ministry managed to reduce its staff to 1338.41 full-time equivalents by  
30 June 2010; this figure was well below the 1390 full-time equivalents agreed with the State 
Services Commission for 30 June 2010. The Ministry has agreed to further decrease its staffing 
level to 1290 full-time equivalents by 30 June 2011. 

Building capability
In 2009/10 the Ministry focused on attracting, developing, deploying and promoting appropriately 
skilled and engaged employees to deliver on its organisational goals. This was challenging in an 
environment where there was a concerted effort to reduce the full-time equivalent head count. The 
Ministry worked to build its capability by implementing the following projects.

Lominger framework
The Ministry is accredited in the Lominger framework – an internationally recognised tool for 
developing employee competencies. The Ministry began aligning its competencies to this 
framework in 2009/10. This was done to ensure employees are clear about what is expected of 
them, which will ultimately enable the Ministry to deliver on its organisational goals. This has been 
undertaken by identifying organisational capabilities necessary for the Ministry to be successful 
and then cascading the framework down by understanding capabilities and behaviours at an 
individual level.

Other management development tools
The Ministry is utilising a number of management tools, such as DISC and the Team Management 
Indicator, which actively build and develop a culture of teamwork, responsiveness and quality. 
Also, in line with increasing organisational performance, 96 percent of staff had a personal 
development plan agreed with their manager. This met the standard, set at greater than  
95 percent.

Secondment opportunities
In an effort to develop and deploy skilled and engaged employees, the Ministry implemented  
a secondment programme that ran internally, within the public service and across the wider  
health sector. 

Building organisational culture and staff engagement 
The Ministry recognises that a strong and robust organisational culture is imperative to enable the 
organisation to deliver on its goals. The Ministry assessed the level of staff engagement using the 
Gallup Employee Engagement Survey in March 2009.  Results were delivered in June 2009, and 
during 2009/10 teams focused on implementing their action plans. The Ministry will re-survey in 
2010/11. 
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Building leadership
In an effort to rebuild capability, 25 staff participated in the Ministry’s leadership programme. 
This programme develops skilled and flexible leaders who develop, inspire and lead their people 
effectively. Participants on the programme had the opportunity to broaden their knowledge in 
leadership, utilise international leadership models, acquire new concepts and skills, and practise 
these new skills. 

Healthy workplaces
The Ministry continued with its wellness strategy, which includes initiatives such as the Healthy 
Thinking seminars – workshops aimed at employees thinking positively. It has also continued 
other existing Ministry initiatives, such as the Influenza Vaccination Programme. This programme 
saw an increased uptake of 11.7 percent from the 2008/09 year. This was an expected trend given 
the Influenza A (H1N1) pandemic.

In 2008/09 the Ministry achieved secondary accreditation as part of the ACC Partnership 
Programme. In 2009/10 the Ministry was audited again and maintained secondary status.

Technology and infrastructure
The Ministry’s people and processes are supported by appropriate technology and infrastructure. 
This includes fully and professionally maintained services, computer systems, applications and 
telecommunications. Highlights of the information and technology activities include a range of 
network, software, hardware and process improvements.

A new internet domain name, .health.nz, was established to provide a unique and consistent 
online identity (websites and email addresses). It is used by registered New Zealand health 
providers and is intended to improve public recognition, trust and confidence. The domain was 
approved by Internet NZ in December 2008 and launched by the Minister of Health in September 
2009.

Purpose-built data centres have increased the stability and capacity of the Ministry’s infrastructure 
and information services. A data hosting project has migrated systems such as the health service 
claims system (Proclaim), and the National Health Index (NHI) to the Kapiti Data Centre. The NHI 
exceeded the 99 percent target by being available 99.52 percent of the time during the past year.

District Health Board financial reporting was improved by the move towards a single payment 
platform. It provides timely, accessible and consistent payables information and gives 
District Health Boards greater control and visibility over the annual payments of $7.6 billion. 
Improvements were also made to the Ministry’s financial and human resource systems.

Equal employment opportunities
The Ministry recognises the importance of ensuring that there are equal employment opportunities 
in all aspects of its operation, from the provision of policy advice to the implementation of work 
programmes, and provides support to enable these to occur. In 2009/10 the Ministry supported 
a culture in which peopled shared ideas and were encouraged to contribute to different skills and 
perspectives. 
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Performance measures and standards
Performance measure Budget Standard Actual

Gallup Employee engagement Survey results improve Improvement on 
2008/09 results

The Ministry 
is due to 
re-survey in 
2010/11

Middle managers participating in the leadership programme Achieved 25 employees

Effectiveness of training > 80% 93%

Staff have performance and development plans in place > 95% 96%

Voluntary turnover as percentage of staff turnover < 12% per 
annum

12.7%

Managing in a changeable operating environment

Risk and assurance
To support the Ministry’s strategic direction and Government priorities, the Ministry maintains 
a high standard of risk management and internal control in all its operations, which is the 
responsibility of all management and staff. The Risk and Assurance team operates according to a 
charter confirmed by the Director-General of Health in November 2009.

The Ministry also supports an Audit Finance and Risk Committee, which includes external 
members. This committee provides advice to the Director-General of Health and the Executive 
Leadership Team on a range of topics, including: 

•	 the quality of financial and performance reporting

•		 risk management and audit functions

•		 the establishment and enforcement of financial policies and business practices

•		 the Ministry’s compliance with significant legal and regulatory requirements. 

Assurance
The Ministry maintains an internal audit function to provide independent, objective assurance and 
consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. This function 
helps an organisation to accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
in order to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 
processes.

Risk
The Ministry is a large organisation, with a diverse range of responsibilities and objectives, and 
therefore faces a range of risks, from day-to-day through to longer-term strategic risks. The aim of 
the risk management system is to ensure that all risks are identified and managed appropriately so 
that business objectives and potential opportunities are realised. Mitigation strategies are varied, 
depending on each individual risk, and can include both existing practices and future actions.
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In 2009/10, the key objectives of risk management at the Ministry were to ensure:

• everyone within the Ministry knew what their responsibility was regarding risk management 

• the Ministry’s reputation and image were protected and maintained at the highest standard

• risk management was an integral part of management focus, and senior management could 
confidently articulate risk status and strategies across the Ministry

• risk management was continuously reviewed and improved

• internal and external stakeholders were confident the Ministry managed risk within acceptable 
levels.

A new risk management standard was introduced (Australia New Zealand International Standard 
ISO 31000:2009), and a project was undertaken to update the Ministry’s Risk Management 
Framework to comply with the new standard and to ensure the framework supports the 
achievement of the Ministry’s risk management objectives.

Each of the Ministry’s directorates, and the National Health Board business unit, has a nominated 
risk administrator, who facilitates the co-ordination and administration of risk reporting within the 
directorate on behalf of the relevant directorate’s Deputy Director-General (and, in the case of the 
National Health Board, the National Director). Deputy Directors-General and the National Director 
of the National Health Board are responsible for ensuring information about their directorates’ 
risks are up to date within the Ministry’s Risk Register. They also provide the Director-General of 
Health with monthly risk reporting. Directorates’ risks are incorporated into their monthly report to 
the Executive Leadership Team, with any key risks highlighted. The Executive Leadership Team also 
discusses any organisational or strategic-level risks.

Sector-focused assurance work
The Ministry supports an Audit and Compliance unit, which is tasked with auditing and 
investigating providers, with a focus on non-compliance and fraud. The unit works closely with the 
District Health Boards.
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Performance Improvement Actions

Overview of Performance Improvement Actions
Performance Improvement Actions (PIAs) are intended to demonstrate gains in the efficient and 
effective use of resources and powers in line with the Government’s priorities. In 2009/10 the 
Ministry identified the following PIAs to improve efficiency, effectiveness and alignment with 
Government priorities and outcomes.

Stronger funding framework to drive improvements across Vote Health 

Actions
Agree Budget 2010 Vote Health 
arrangements with explicit productivity 
expectations built into funding. Efficiency 
adjustor to be informed by sector 
efficiency potential

Deliverables-Timing 
Advice to Minister of 
Health by end September 
2009, with Budget 2010 
arrangement options

Impact-Measures 
Agreed sector efficiency 
adjustor expectations netted 
off FFT and Demographic 
Adjustors. Will reduce growth 
in Vote Health

2009/10 Result 

Options for managing within different levels of funding were provided to the Minister of Health as part of 
the Baseline Review of Health in November 2009. Options included different levels of efficiency adjustors 
built into the package. There are no longer funding arrangements for Vote Health that enable an explicit 
efficiency adjustor to be set. A significantly lower funding growth rate was set for Vote Health in 2010, 
inclusive of markedly tighter cost control expectations. Plans across the health sector for 2010/11 
demonstrate that this lower funding growth path is without compromise to the maintenance of current per 
capita service levels in real terms (ie, there are planned increases to service levels for New Zealanders in 
accord with our ageing and growing population) and they also enable implementation of the announced 
new Budget priorities and delivery on Government Health Targets for improved access to services. This 
represents improved value for money being delivered from Vote Health.  

Improved purchasing and prioritisation identified by rolling in-depth spending reviews, including options 
for funding devolution that optimise purchasing power

Actions

Complete for Budget 2010:

•	 phase	II	Ministry-NDE	line-by-line	review	

•	 in-depth	spending	reviews	for	Disability	
Support, Public Health, Maternity and Mental 
Health 

•	 reduce	DE

Deliverables-Timing

Initial advice to Minister 
of Health by 31 October 
2009 on savings, to inform 
Budget 2010 package

Impact-Measures

Confirm potential 
savings for Budget 
2010

2009/10 Result

The line by line review was completed.

 In-depth spending reviews for Disability Support Services, Public Health, Maternity Services and Mental 
Health Services were completed by 30 October 2009 and provided to the Minister. These were used to 
inform the savings component of the Budget 2010 package for Health. 

The Ministry has reduced the percentage of Departmental expenditure from 1.795 percent of the Vote 
in 2008/09 to 1.756 percent (unaudited) of the Vote in 2009/10. In 2009/10 one-off expenditure was 
incurred from set-up costs of the Shared Services Agency.
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Improved purchasing and prioritisation identified by rolling in-depth spending reviews, including options 
for funding devolution that optimise purchasing power (continued)

Actions

Fully test further devolution of NDE ($2.5 billion) 
and national operation functions in DE – to 
recommend optimal governance and location

Deliverables-Timing

Develop and implement 
review programme by 30 
September 2010

Impact-Measures

Confirmed core roles 
for most efficient 
and effective service 
delivery

2009/10 Result

The Ministry of Health has systematically analysed the $2.7 billion in year 1 of the services it manages to 
prepare initial advice to the Minister of Health on an approach to the location of the planning and funding 
of those services. That analysis considers each service and its characteristics against the following criteria 
for location:

•	 giving	the	greatest	assurance	that	service	standards	will	be	met	and	improved	over	time	(including	
quality, safety, access, coverage, asset management and Government priorities)

•	 promoting	effective	service	integration	across	all	levels	of	service	delivery	in	the	health	and	disability	
system to address personal health, population health and independence outcomes

•	 enabling	financial	and	clinical	sustainability	within	and	across	service	areas	over	time

•	 minimising	the	costs	of	service	delivery

•	 making	the	best	use	of	workforce,	capital	and	IT/IS	resources,	in	both	the	short	and	longer	term

•	 making	the	best	use	of	planning	and	funding	capability	and	capacity	over	the	long	term,	and	
minimising administration and contract management overhead

•	 minimising	risks	to	the	whole	population,	where	decisions	have	impacts	that	extend	beyond	a	locality

•	 minimising	disruption	to	patients,	service	users	and	providers

•	 recognising	the	system-wide	impact	and	inter-relationships/dependence	of	services	and	
infrastructure.

The initial advice then categorises services into a programme of those to be retained and those to be 
devolved (some after additional work), and those requiring further in-depth work. The range of additional 
work needed includes engagement and consultation with stakeholders, assessment of the readiness, the 
capacity and capability of the sector, and service developments. 

The advice is being further tested internally with a view to engaging with the Minister of Health in the first 
quarter of 2010/11.

Stronger accountability with monitoring and enforcement based on supported plans, streamlined 
reporting and rapid intervention when performance issues arise

Actions

Agree simplified DHB DAP planning 
and reporting requirements with 
sector to focus on Government 
priorities and improvements

Deliverables-Timing

Issue DHB DAP guidelines by 
31 December 2009

Impact-Measures

Reduce administrative and 
compliance costs to help shift 
resources to front-line

2009/10 Result

During 2009/10 the Ministry, in discussion and consultation with District Health Boards, simplified and 
focused District Health Board non-financial planning and reporting requirements for 2010/11. The District 
Health Boards’ non-financial indicator reporting burden has accordingly been reduced by 24 percent on 
the previous year.
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Stronger accountability with monitoring and enforcement based on supported plans, streamlined 
reporting and rapid intervention when performance issues arise (continued)

Actions

Use enhanced Monitoring 
and Intervention Framework 
to ensure rapid intervention 
when performance issues 
arise

Deliverables-Timing

Advice and Minister 
responses are sent within 
eight weeks of confirmed 
material deterioration of DHB 
performance

Impact-Measures

Elimination of DHB deficits over time 
and closure of the ‘second cheque-
book’ to ensure effective accountability 
and fiscal control

2009/10 Result

Unaudited District Health Board figures (note: final audited figures are not officially available until early 
November 2010) for 2009/10 indicate an actual total District Health Boards’ deficit of $99.3 million 
to a plan of $115.5 million deficit (that is, $16.2 million favourable to plan). This represents a material 
improvement on the $154 million deficit recorded across District Health Boards for 2008/09, and it is 
noted that future plans forecast a reduction in the aggregate District Health Board deficit level over the 
next three years.

Improved Hospital Productivity – focus on hospital wards, theatre utilisation and emergency 
departments

Actions

Work  with DHBs/clinical leaders to 
reduce variation in DHB productivity/
quality performance in hospital 
ward costs, theatre utilisation and 
emergency department stays

Deliverables-Timing

Implement joint MOH-DHB 
Productivity and Quality 
Improvement Action Plan, 
for inclusion in Budget 
2010

Impact-Measures

Confirm potential savings by end 
October 2009 for Budget 2010 
– indicatively and provisionally 
estimated at $27 million in 
2010/11 and $49 million in out-
years – pending engagement and 
advice from DHBs

2009/10 Result

The Ministry has delivered the United Kingdom National Health Service’s partnership programmes 
Releasing Time to Care in many District Health Boards and is about to roll out The Productive Operating 
Theatre Programme to District Health Boards.

The emergency department national clinical champion and the Ministry are working with District Health 
Boards to implement the improvement work they planned in their Delivery Plan for Shorter Stays in 
emergency departments. 

The District Health Boards have shown performance improvements in the 2010/11 District Annual Plans 
and are working toward implementing actions that have been signed off.
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Primary Care Implementation Action Plan – strengthen focus on chronic disease management and 
reducing avoidable hospitalisation

Actions

Advice on improving funding 
settings, performance management 
and contracting and the devolution 
of services from secondary care

Deliverables-Timing

Provide new policy 
settings advice by 30 
November 2009

Impact-Measures

Improved primary care settings

2009010 Result

A Flexible Funding Pool (FFP), using Care Plus, Management Fees, Health Promotion and Services to 
Improve Access funding, has been established and will be implemented in the sector in early 2010/11.

Alliance-based agreements, an alliance leadership charter and a variation to the Primary Health 
Organisation agreement have been completed and are being implemented in the sector in early 2010/11. 
Shifting services from secondary care settings to primary care settings is part of all nine business cases 
and will be implemented in 2010/11 as alliance agreements are signed and alliance leadership teams get 
up and running.

Actions

Completion of the current work 
programme to reduce avoidable 
hospital admissions and provide 
better management of chronic 
conditions

Deliverables-Timing

Complete 
implementation by 31 
May 2010

Impact-Measures

Initial costing estimates suggest that a 
5 percent savings target in avoidable 
ambulatory-sensitive hospital 
admissions to save $20 million is 
achievable by December 2011

2009/10 Result

There was a 3.2 percent increase in ambulatory-sensitive hospital admissions in the year ending March 
2010, compared with the base period (12 months ending September 2008). Admissions for children  
(0−4 years) reduced by 3.8 percent, but all other groups that are monitored deteriorated during this 
period.  Further work is under way to reduce the acute demand that is generating these results.

Working with the sector to improve purchasing – including: smarter contracting, collective procurement 
and shared back-office services

Actions

Develop advice and options for 
improved contracting processes

Deliverables-Timing

Produce initial advice in 
August 2009 for Minister  
(re elective services)

Impact-Measures

More efficient, effective purchasing and 
contracting

2009/10 Result

A total of $198 million was allocated in 2009/10 to District Health Boards to improve access to elective 
services. Agreements were reached with District Health Boards to deliver a 23 percent increase in elective 
surgical discharges above base, which were 2000 discharges above the previous year. District Health 
Boards actually provided 138,376 elective surgical discharges, which is an increase of 30 percent over the 
District Health Board funded base. Delivery in 2009/10 is 8600 discharges higher than the level provided 
in the 2008/09.
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Working with the sector to improve purchasing – including: smarter contracting, collective procurement 
and shared back-office services (continued)

Actions

Monitor DHBs’ commitment to 
deliver procurement savings 
for Budget 2010 and to identify 
additional savings from shared 
DHB back-office functions

Deliverables-Timing

Assess DHB progress as part 
of work in preparing options 
and advice for Budget 2010, 
to complete by end March 
2010

Impact-Measures

DHB delivery of $45 million 
procurement savings for Budget 2010.

Further savings targets to be defined

2009/10 Result

A national Shared Services Establishment Board was established, with a chair and four members 
appointed until 30 June 2010. This Board developed a draft Statement of Intent and business plan for a 
new national shared services organisation that will support delivery of $33.5 million of cost savings for 
District Health Boards in 2010/11, as well as to build a national capability for the development of a clear 
strategic roadmap for material out-year cost savings. It is expected the new shared services organisation 
established from this work (the reconstituted Health Benefits Limited) will contribute to cumulative 
District Health Board cost savings of $700 million over the five years since its establishment.

Contain rate of employment cost growth

Actions
Work with DHBs to agree commitment 
to a proactive Employment Relations 
(ER) strategy to control rate of growth 
of labour costs while maintaining an 
engaged, productive workforce, with 
the appropriate skill mix for service 
delivery

Deliverables-Timing
Case by case 
negotiation as 
settlements expire

Impact-Measures
Management of ER cost pressures 
within funded parameters. 
Represents a significant cost 
pressure if commitment not met.  
Possible savings to be confirmed

2009/10 Result
The Ministry has a role in monitoring, influencing and advising on health sector employment relations, 
and in facilitating implementation of the Government’s labour market policies and expectations for pay 
and employment conditions in the health sector. In fulfilling this role, the Ministry:

•	 reviews	and	provides	feedback	to	District	Health	Boards	on	the	overarching	employment	relations	
strategy and specific bargaining strategies and activities 

•	keeps	regular	contact	and	information	flowing	to	the	Government.			

The Government has an expectation that health sector employment relations outcomes will meet the 
Government’s objectives and expectations for state sector employment relations activity. The Ministry 
ensures the health sector is aware of the Government’s expectations, and engages with central agencies 
to ensure cross-sector risks and flow-on implications (both to and from health sector settlements) are 
identified and managed. The Ministry ensures that communications, and fiscal and service delivery 
risks associated with health sector employment relations activity, are addressed proactively through the 
appropriate channels. 

Bargaining was initiated to renew the current national multi-employer collective agreements (MECAs) 
between the District Health Boards and:

•	 the	Association	of	Professional	and	Executive	Employees	(APEX)	for	medical	radiation	technologists,	
medical physicists and radiation therapists

•	 the	Medical	Laboratory	Workers’	Union	(MLWU)	for	laboratory	workers	

•	 the	Resident	Doctors’	Association	(RDA)	for	junior	doctors

•	 the	Association	of	Salaried	Medical	Specialists	(ASMS)	for	senior	doctors.

It is noted that the National Terms of Settlement achieved as part of this work during 2009/10 has 
enabled District Health Boards to successfully develop 2010/11 District Annual Plans that are affordable 
within funded parameters.
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Maximum use of settings to enforce plans and deliver improved value against price, quantity and 
standards

Actions

Analyse price/quantity performance trends 
to inform purchasing practices across major 
service areas (DHBs and Ministry-NDE) to 
identify targeted purchasing and monitoring 
improvement opportunities

Deliverables-Timing
Initial advice by 20 December 
2009. Agree work programme 
with Minister of Health

Impact-Measures
Further Value for 
Money improvement

2009/10 Result
The service analysis team of the National Health Board business unit oversees the national pricing 
programme and produces the national price book, which in turn informs the funding of District Health 
Boards. 

Disability needs assessment service co-ordination service budgets continued to provide sound guidance 
for constraining spending in the current economic environment. This was supported by a Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu Ltd report on A Purchasing Framework for Disability Support Services, which identified that 
while the overall spend provides good value for money, some areas could be improved, and these were 
acted on. A review of the disability support package allocation framework and software was undertaken 
to better reflect sustainable support levels for individual disabled clients. The national ambulance sector 
office and the emergency ambulance communications centre are in the process of developing a more 
active and engaged monitoring approach to response times and crewing of ambulances. A line-by-line 
review was completed to ensure spending is targeted at areas of high value.

Sector-wide plans between the Ministry of Health and District Health Boards are being developed to 
ensure pricing fully plays its part in supporting efficient and effective service delivery across primary and 
secondary care settings. This includes work on seeking increased productivity to meet national electives 
targets.
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Support sector to achieve all Government Health Targets on time

Actions
Implementation identified 
in Output Plan

Deliverables-Timing
Deliverables as outlined 
in Output Plan as basis for 
medium term improvement 
in performance

Impact-Measures
Successful delivery of improved performance 
on each Health Target area (as specified in 
2009–2012 Ministry SOI)

2009/10 Result
Results on the Government’s Health Targets are shown in The Director-General of Health’s Annual Report 
on the State of Public Health, included as part of this Annual Report.  

Shorter stays in emergency departments: The Shorter Stays in Emergency Department project team 
visited all District Health Boards during the financial year, all of whom have developed and are 
implementing a Delivery Plan for Shorter Stays in Emergency Departments. These visits have been 
successful in raising the profile of the target within District Health Boards and providing advice on the 
approach being taken. Seventeen District Health Boards improved their performance over the year, with 
an increase in performance nationally of 6.5 percent to 86.8 percent.  Five District Health Boards were 
achieving the target of people experiencing an emergency department stay of under six hours at the end 
of the financial year.

Improved access to elective surgery: There has been a dramatic increase in the level of services being 
provided. In 2009/10 the health system managed to deliver more than 8600 additional elective surgeries 
– more than twice the planned average increase.

Shorter waiting for cancer treatment: The Ministry provided support for all District Health Board cancer 
centres to achieve the six week radiation oncology treatment Health Target by the end of July 2010 and a 
target of four weeks by December 2010. All cancer centres, except the cancer centre in Canterbury District 
Health Board, have achieved the target for the fourth quarter, although Cancer District Health Board has 
subsequently met the target. During the year all six cancer centres worked collaboratively on the monthly 
collection and provision of information underpinning a set of radiation oncology indicators. The Minister 
has been fully briefed on a weekly basis.

Increased immunisation: Over the past year immunisation coverage has increased significantly to 
87 percent – up from 80 percent a year ago. This increase represents a major achievement in terms of 
using Health Targets to improve performance, as well as a major turnaround for the sector in an area that 
had struggled to improve over the last decade. Part of the improvement came from improving data quality 
and reporting, but a significant part has also come from immunising more ‘high needs’ children. For 
example, the rate of immunisation for Māori children increased from 73 percent to 82 percent.

Better help for smokers to quit: The hospital Health Target results have improved immensely over the 
year. The results commenced at a very low level, but the vast majority of District Health Boards are now 
either meeting the target or are in the 60 to 80 percent bracket. The willingness to give up smoking is 
reflected in the Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) expenditure increasing from $860,000 in July 2009 
to approximately $1.6 million in June 2010. There has been a 2.1 percent reduction in the smoking rate in 
New Zealand, which equates to 60,000 smokers.

Better diabetes and cardiovascular services: The Ministry continued to implement the initiatives in 
the national quality improvement plan for cardiovascular disease and diabetes. District Health Boards’ 
performance against the Health Target has shown slow improvement.  Each District Health Board has 
specific indicators to meet the target. Over the last three quarterly reporting periods, 14 District Health 
Boards had shown improvements to their overall performance.
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New models of care, focus on innovative use of workforce

Actions
Develop an integrated 
workforce planning and 
industrial relations strategy 
to best meet future service 
needs

Deliverables-Timing
Completion and agreement 
with Minister of initial CTA 
Board work programme by 
early September 2009

Impact-Measures
Will reduce ongoing administrative 
costs and generate potential cost 
savings through development of more 
innovative workforce models

2009/10 Result
At the Clinical Training Agency board’s first meeting in October 2009 a draft work programme was 
considered. The draft work programme to 2013 was finalised in March and forwarded to the Minister, with 
a summary of the Clinical Training Agency board’s progress to the end of February 2010.

Actions
Development of Capital 
Investment Framework for 
Integrated Family Health 
Centres

Deliverables-Timing
Complete framework and 
provide advice by 30 
November 2009

Impact-Measures
New models of care that have potential 
to reduce total costs across the health 
system

2009/10 Result
This piece of work was superseded by the Better, Sooner, More Convenient Primary Health Care project.  
This project, which aims to deliver a more integrated, whole-of-system approach to the patient journey, 
included:

•	77	expressions	of	interest	received	in	October	2009

•	nine	primary	health	care	groupings	approved	to	advance	to	the	business	case	development	stage

•	March	2010	business	cases	received

•	five	year-1	summaries	(outlining	milestones	and	deliverables	for	year	1)	received	and	primary	health	
care groups given the green light to proceed with implementation in July 2010.

Further work on the development of integrated family health centres will be undertaken in the 2010/11 
year, including the development of approaches to support primary health care groups to develop ways to 
deliver enhanced primary health care.

Service planning to define national and regional services

Actions
Establish Health Service Planning 
Unit and develop policy framework 
to guide comprehensive long-term 
service planning at regional and 
national levels

Deliverables-Timing
Establish unit by  
31 August 2009

Policy framework by 31 
March 2010

Impact-Measures
More cost-effective service configuration; 
gains yet to be quantified

2009/10 Result
A Health Service Planning Unit was established by the due date, along with the policy framework. On 
30 June 2010 Cabinet considered two papers as part of a suite under the banner Improving the Health 
System: Further Elements. Together the proposals in the two papers will support decisions being made 
at the right level of the health and disability system and will improve collaboration among District 
Health Boards through regional service plans, with performance measures aligned with clear and strong 
accountabilities.

Areas covered by these papers include:

•	 improving	planning	and	accountability	arrangements	and	processes

•	 removing	barriers	to	innovation	and	introducing	flexibility	into	planning	thinking

•	 resolving	disputes.
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Service planning to define national and regional services (continued)

Actions
Develop and apply national asset 
management plan, improved 
capital planning and prioritisation 
processes

Deliverables-Timing
Initial advice developed 
for Minister by 30 
September 2009

Impact-Measures
Stronger national decision-making to 
guide capital investment decisions within 
budget constraint, informed by robust 
planning analysis

2009/10 Result
The Ministry developed a draft national asset management plan, which resulted in improved information 
for Budget 2010/11. The Ministry has also re-drafted the Capital Guidelines to improve decision-making 
processes and ensure a greater emphasis on the relationship between system-wide service planning and 
asset management. The purpose of the plan and guidelines is to maximise value for money from capital 
investment and to help configure the health system to meet future health needs.

A new Capital Investment Committee was established and had its first meeting in June 2010, replacing 
the former National Capital Committee. The Capital Investment Committee’s terms of reference were 
consulted on with the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet, The Treasury and the States Services 
Commission. Its aims are to provide national prioritisation and allocation of available health capital 
funding, include stronger clinical input, develop a long-term capital plan driven by future national service 
needs, and integrate with strategic workforce and IT planning.

Accelerated Quality Improvements, including reductions and then elimination of avoidable admissions, 
variations and adverse events

Actions
Develop clinical networks, 
provide ongoing leadership and 
support

Deliverables-Timing
Best practice guidelines 
available in a toolkit by 
31 March 2010

Impact-Measures
Clinical networks established and 
functioning, providing regional leadership 
in best practice

2009/10 Result
Programmes to increase the capability of frontline staff continue to focus on the areas of variation 
reduction (ie, reducing delays in services and increasing the quality of the patient experience), waste 
removal and efficiency through standardising methods, and using agreed patient pathways. There have 
been over 200 staff involved in workshops, which have inspired many improvement projects and service 
improvements. 

Strong clinical networks, associated with the quality improvement and innovation programmes, have 
been developed over the past year. This strong clinical leadership and engagement with expertise 
within services has helped the achievement of measurable gains, particularly in the areas of stroke care, 
delivering services in the community and hospital ward productivity. 

Thirteen District Health Boards have implemented the Releasing Time to Care programme in 45 wards. 
The toolkits that accompany these improvement and productivity programmes have been made freely 
available in hard and electronic copy and are being widely used. The work to improve productivity and 
increase capability will continue with the implementation of the Productive Operating Theatre programme. 

A new national framework for the management and maintenance of clinical competence of all health 
professionals in New Zealand was developed and distributed throughout the sector. Credentialling 
processes have demonstrated the potential to improve patient safety, promote professional practice and 
support clinical improvement activity.
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Accelerated Quality Improvements, including reductions and then elimination of avoidable admissions, 
variations and adverse events (continued)

Actions
Deeper, broader and faster 
Quality Improvement 
dissemination. Policy advice 
on governance and structural 
options for delivery

Deliverables-Timing
By end of 2009 – 
advice about optimal 
form and governance 
arrangements

Impact-Measures
Ongoing improvements in rates of adverse 
events; avoidable admissions and 
variation. Reduced cost of care able to be 
realised in savings or increased volumes

2009/10 Result
During the year the role and function of the national Quality Improvement Committee was reviewed, 
resulting in the Minister agreeing to the establishment of the Health Quality and Safety Commission, 
which will be a Crown agency. 

The national programme on incident management has distributed a draft policy to manage the reporting 
process of serious and sentinel events and has regularly disseminated lessons learned from the events 
reported, along with solutions for prevention and improvement in the sector. This work programme will be 
transferred to the interim Health Quality and Safety Commission for the finalisation of national policy and 
the development of an electronic national repository.

The public release of serious and sentinel events occurring in District Health Boards has contributed to 
the sharing of safer ways of delivering care and preventing adverse events to patients.



64 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 
including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Part 2: Service Performance and Financial 
Summary 

Statement of responsibility
In terms of section 45C of the Public Finance Act 1989, I am responsible, as Director-General of 
Health, for the preparation of the Ministry’s financial statements, statement of service performance 
and the judgements made in the process of producing those statements.

I have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining, and I have established and maintained, 
a system of internal control procedures that provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of financial reporting.

In my opinion, these financial statements fairly reflect the financial position and operations of the 
Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Andrew Bridgman Richard Morris
Acting Director-General of Health Chief Financial Officer
27 September 2010 27 September 2010
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Audit Report

To the readers of the 
Ministry of Health’s 

financial statements and statement of service performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2010

The Auditor General is the auditor of the Ministry of Health (the Ministry). The Auditor General 
has appointed me, Andy Burns, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry 
out the audit on her behalf. The audit covers the financial statements and statement of service 
performance included in the annual report of the Ministry, for the year ended 30 June 2010. 

Unqualified opinion

In our opinion:

•	 The	financial	statements	of	the	Ministry	on	pages	68	to	99:

m comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

m fairly reflect:

- the Ministry’s financial position as at 30 June 2010;

- the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date;

- its expenses and capital expenditure incurred against each appropriation administered by 
the Ministry and each class of outputs included in each output expense appropriation for 
the year ended 30 June 2010; and

- its unappropriated expenses and capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2010.

•	 The	schedules	of	non-departmental	activities	on	pages	100	to	111	fairly	reflect	the	assets,	
liabilities, revenues, expenses, contingencies, commitments and trust monies managed by the 
Ministry on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 2010.

•	 The	statement	of	service	performance	of	the	Ministry	on	pages	5	to	63:

m complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

m fairly reflects for each class of outputs:

- its standards of delivery performance achieved, as compared with the forecast standards 
included in the statement of forecast service performance adopted at the start of the 
financial year; and

- its actual revenue earned and output expenses incurred, as compared with the forecast 
revenues and output expenses included in the statement of forecast service performance 
adopted at the start of the financial year. 

The audit was completed on 27 September 2010, and is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed.
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The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Director-General and the Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered 
necessary in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements and statement of 
service performance did not have material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect 
a reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements and statement of service performance. 
If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in 
our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial 
statements and statement of service performance. We assessed the results of those procedures in 
forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

•	 determining	whether	significant	financial	and	management	controls	are	working	and	can	be	
relied on to produce complete and accurate data;

•	 verifying	samples	of	transactions	and	account	balances;

•	 performing	analyses	to	identify	anomalies	in	the	reported	data;

•	 reviewing	significant	estimates	and	judgements	made	by	the	Director-General	of	Health;

•	 confirming	year-end	balances;

•	 determining	whether	accounting	policies	are	appropriate	and	consistently	applied;	and

•	 determining	whether	all	financial	statement	and	statement	of	service	performance	disclosures	
are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial 
statements and statement of service performance.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements 
and statement of service performance. We obtained all the information and explanations we 
required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Director-General of Health and the Auditor

The Director-General of Health is responsible for preparing the financial statements and statement 
of service performance in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 
The financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of the Ministry as at 30 June 2010 
and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.  

The financial statements must also fairly reflect the expenses and capital expenditure incurred 
against each appropriation administered by the Ministry and each class of outputs included in 
each output expense appropriation for the year ended 30 June 2010. The financial statements 
must also fairly reflect the Ministry’s unappropriated expenses and capital expenditure for the year 
ended on that date. 
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In addition, the Director-General of Health is responsible for preparing schedules of non-
departmental activities, in accordance with the Treasury Instructions 2009 that must fairly 
reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, contingencies, commitments and trust monies 
managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 2010.

The statement of service performance must fairly reflect, for each class of outputs, the Ministry’s 
standards of delivery performance achieved and revenue earned and expenses incurred, as 
compared with the forecast standards, revenue and expenses adopted at the start of the financial 
year.  

The Director-General of Health’s responsibilities arise from sections 45A and 45B of the Public 
Finance Act 1989. 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
statement of service performance and reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises from 
section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 45D(2) of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor General, 
which incorporate the independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Ministry.

A. P. Burns 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor General 
Wellington, New Zealand

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements and Statement of Service Performance

This audit report relates to the financial statements and statement of service performance of the Ministry of Health for the year 
ended 30 June 2010 included on the Ministry of Health's website. The Chief Executive is responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the Ministry of Health's website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the Ministry of Health's 
website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements and statement of service 
performance since they were initially presented on the website. The audit report refers only to the financial statements and 
statement of service performance named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to or from the financial statements and statement of service performance. If readers of this report are concerned with 
the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and statement of service performance and related audit report dated 27 September 2010 to confirm the information 
included in the audited financial statements and statement of service performance presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.
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Introduction to the financial reports
The Ministry receives funding from Parliament for its own operations which is included in its 
departmental appropriations. 

The Ministry also receives and manages significant other appropriations to administer on behalf of 
the Crown to fund third party service providers including District Health Boards (DHBs) and Non-
Governmental Organisations (NGOs). The majority of this funding is for operational purposes with 
some being appropriated for capital expenditure. All the funding appropriated by Parliament and 
administered by the Ministry is known collectively as Vote Health.

The Ministry receives additional initiative funding as a health package in the annual budget to 
implement the Government’s new initiatives. A major component of the additional health funding 
received each year is to recognise the effects of inflation and of demographic changes to the New 
Zealand population.

A four-year capital envelope provides a longer time horizon to prioritise and fund capital projects, 
and is particularly suited to large-scale projects such as those recently completed or being 
undertaken at a number of DHBs. With such projects, the certainty of ongoing funding is of 
considerable benefit to the health and disability sector. The Ministry is able to  
re-appropriate unspent capital funds in any particular year to a future period due to uncertainty of 
construction timing and associated costs.
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Figure 1: 2009/10 departmental operational appropriations – actual expenditure ($000’s‚)
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Funding and Performance
of Crown Entities
$7,702 3.6%

Funding and Purchasing
of Health and Disability
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$26,148 12.2%

Administration of
Legislation and Regulations
$34,453 16.0%

Figure 2:  2009/10 departmental operational appropriations –  
actual expenditure ($000s)

Note: Total actual expenditure $214.810 million.   

Figure 3: Comparative data for 2008/09 departmental operational appropriations – 
actual expenditure ($000s)

Note: Total actual expenditure $210,838 million

Figure 3: Comparative data for 2008/09 departmental operational appropriations
– actual expenditure ($000’s‚)
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Figure 4: 2009/10 non-departmental operational appropriations – 
actual expenditure ($000s)

Note: Total actual expenditure $12,384 billion.

Figure 5:     Comparative data for 2008/09 non-departmental operational appropriations – 
actual expenditure ($000s) 

Figure 4: 2009/10 non-departmental operational appropriations
– actual expenditure ($000’s‚)
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 Note: Total actual expenditure $11.596 billion.

Figure 5: Comparative data for 2008/09 non-departmental operational appropriations
– actual expenditure ($000’s‚)
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Statement of comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Income
201,504 Revenue Crown 204,598 200,968 204,598

19,752 Revenue other 2 18,430 16,281 17,099
221,256 Total operating revenue 223,028 217,249 221,697

Expenditure
126,264 Personnel costs 4 126,790 124,716 125,479

9,674 Depreciation and amortisation 
expense

11,891 14,033 11,393

1,498 Capital charge 5 2,355 3,325 2,355
– Finance costs 6 – – –

73,402 Other operating expenses 7 73,760 75,175 74,989
9 Losses 3 14 – –

210,847 Total expenditure 214,810 217,249 214,216

10,409 Net surplus 8,218 – 7,481

Other comprehensive income
– Gain on property revaluations – – –

10,409 Total comprehensive income 8,218 - 7,481

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in note 23.

Statement of movements in taxpayers’ funds  
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

19,973 Balance at 1 July 31,400 32,390 31,131
10,409 Surplus/(deficit) for the year 8,218 7,481
(1,080) Property, plant and equipment revaluation 

gains/(losses) taken to equity
– 1,350 270

9,329 Total recognised income and expenses 8,218 1,350 7,751

12,507 Capital contributions – 10,594
(10,409) Provision for repayment of surplus to the 

Crown
12 (8,218) – (7,481)

31,400 Balance at 30 June 15 31,400 44,334 31,401

The notes set out on pages 76 to 99 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010

Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Taxpayers’ funds
31,130 General funds 15 31,130 42,984 31,131

270 Property, plant and equipment revaluation 15 270 1,350 270
reserves

31,400 Total taxpayers’ funds 31,400 44,334 31,401

Represented by:
Assets

Current assets
9,522 Cash and cash equivalents 9,606 16,158 9,905

18,261 Debtors and other receivables 8 16,407 3,605 8,930
1,283 Prepayments 967 1,201 2,040

29,066 Total current assets 26,980 20,964 20,875

Non-current assets
22,117 Property. plant and equipment 9 18,652 31,849 21,104
23,413 Intangible assets 10 25,636 48,008 30,238
45,530 Total non-current assets 44,288 79,857 51,342

74,596 Total assets 71,268 100,821 72,217

Liabilities
Current liabilities

20,615 Creditors and other payables 11 17,832 44,164 18,998
10,409 Repayment of surplus 12 8,218 – 7,481

1,527 Provisions 13 2,497 2,930 2,052
9,213 Employee entitlements 14 9,808 7,837 10,846

41,764 Total current liabilities 38,355 54,931 39,377

Non-current liabilities
32 Provisions 13 45 – –

1,400 Employee entitlements 14 1,468 1,556 1,439
1,432 Total non-current liabilities 1,513 1,556 1,439

43,196 Total liabilities 39,868 56,487 40,816

31,400 Net assets 31,400 44,334 31,401

The notes set out on pages 76 to 99 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.



73 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 
including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2010

Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash was provided from:
Supply of outputs to:

199,813 Crown 205,426 205,968 213,719
2,628 Department 3,192 1,897 1,897

14,990 Others 15,025 14,384 15,202
(1,177) Net GST received/(paid) 809 – –

216,254 Total cash provided from operating activities 224,452 222,249 230,818

Cash was disbursed to:
Produce outputs

(133,425) Personnel costs (125,153) (124,202) (125,479)
(67,492) Operating expenses (75,786) (63,689) (74,989)

(1,498) Capital charge (2,355) (3,325) (2,355)
(202,415) Total cash to operating activities (203,294) (191,216) (202,823)

13,839
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 16 21,158 31,033 27,995

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash was provided from:

21 Sale of property, plant and equipment 54 100 59
Cash was disbursed to:

(4,516) Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,715) (10,410) (3,720)
(14,434) Purchase of intangible assets (9,004) (25,000) (13,545)

(18,929)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing 
activities (10,665) (35,310) (17,206)

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash was provided from:

12,507 Capital contribution from the Crown – 10,594 –
Cash was disbursed to:

(7,432) Repayment of surplus to the Crown (10,409) (6,300) (10,406)

5,075
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing 
activities (10,409) 4,294 (10,406)

(15)
Net increase/(decrease)  in cash and cash 
equivalents held 84 17 383

9,537
Add cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 9,522 16,141 9,522

9,522
Cash and cash equivalents at the  
end of the year 9,606 16,158 9,905

The notes set out on pages 76 to 99 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Statement of commitments as at 30 June 2010
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
8,902 Not later than one year 9,256

20,500 Later than one year and not later than five years 18,728
9,315 Later than five years 7,778

38,717 Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments 35,762

Other non-cancellable commitments

3,040 Not later than one year 2,669
8,409 Later than one year and not later than five years 5,740

11,449 Total other non-cancellable commitments 8,409

50,166 Total commitments 44,171

The Ministry has medium- to long-term leases on its premises in Auckland, Christchurch, Dunedin, 
Hamilton, Whanganui and Wellington. The annual lease payments are subject to regular reviews 
ranging from one year to four years. The amounts disclosed above as future commitments are 
based on the current rental rates.

The Ministry has entered into non-cancellable contracts for computer maintenance, building 
services and other contracts for services. These non-cancellable contracts totalled $8.409 million 
as at 30 June 2010 (2009: $11.449 million).

Statement of contingent liabilities and contingent assets  
as at 30 June 2010
The Ministry had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2010 (2009: Nil).

The Ministry had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2010 (2009: Nil).

The notes set out on pages 76 to 99 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Statement of departmental expenses and capital expenditure 
against appropriations for the year ended 30 June 2010

Expenditure after 
Remeasurements 

2009 
$000

Actual 
Expenditure 

30/6/10 
$000

Voted^  
Appropriation 

30/6/10 
$000

Vote: Health

Appropriations for output expenses

27,325
Administration of funding and purchasing of health 
and disability support 26,148 26,943

33,171 Administration of legislation and regulations 34,453 35,153
8,061 Funding and performance of Crown entities 7,702 8,142

19,314 Payment services 17,679 18,399
13,863 Servicing of ministers and ministerial committees 13,303 14,942
47,775 Strategy, policy and systems performance 48,007 50,428
61,329 Information services 67,518 67,690

210,838 Total output expenses 214,810 221,697

210,838 Total appropriations for output expenses 214,810 221,697

Appropriation for capital expenditure
– Ministry of Health – permanent legislative authority – 17,265

^ These amounts include adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates.

Statement of departmental unappropriated expenditure and  
capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2010
There was no unappropriated departmental expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: Nil).

The notes set out on pages 76 to 99 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2010

Note 1: Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 30 June 
2010

Reporting entity
The Ministry of Health (the Ministry) is a government department as defined by section 2 of the 
Public Finance Act 1989 and is domiciled in New Zealand.

The primary objective of the Ministry is to act as the Government’s agent to fund, administer and 
monitor the delivery of health services to New Zealanders, rather than making a financial return. 
Accordingly, the Ministry has designated itself as a public benefit entity for the purposes of New 
Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). 

The Ministry’s financial statements are for the year ended 30 June 2010. The financial statements 
were authorised for issue by the Director-General of Health on 27 September 2010. 

In addition, the Ministry has reported the activities and trust monies that it administers on behalf 
of the Crown.

Basis of preparation/statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice. They comply with New Zealand equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (issued 
2004) paragraphs NZ 13.1(d) and 105 (a) and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards as 
appropriate for public benefit entities.  

Accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements.

The measurement base applied to these financial statements is the historical cost basis modified 
by the revaluation of certain assets and liabilities as described in this statement of accounting 
policies.

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars being the functional currency of the 
Ministry. Unless stated otherwise, all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000). 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated at the rate of 
exchange applying at balance date. Any unrealised foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from 
such translation are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accrual basis of accounting has been used unless otherwise stated.  
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Reporting period
The reporting period for these financial statements is the year ended 30 June 2010.

The budget forecast figures (Main Estimates) are the original figures for the financial year as 
presented in the 2009 Budget on 28 May 2009. The Supplementary Estimates figures are those 
budget figures as amended by the Supplementary Estimates (Supp. Estimates) as presented in the 
2010 Budget on 20 May 2010 and as adjusted by any transfers made by Order in Council under 
section 26A of the Public Finance Act 1989.

Judgements and estimations
The preparation of financial statements is in conformity with NZ IFRS and requires judgements, 
estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the reporting period in which the revision is made and in 
any future periods that will be affected by those revisions. 

Revenue
The Ministry derives revenue through the provision of outputs to the Crown and for services to third 
parties. Such revenue is recognised at fair value of consideration received.  

Crown Revenue is recognised monthly as the amount of funding required to cover the portion of 
appropriated output expenses not covered by other third party revenue. 

Other revenue from the supply of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction at balance date and only to the extent that the outcome of the transaction can be 
estimated reliably. 

Cost allocation
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that 
cannot be identified in an economically feasible manner with any one specific output.  

Direct costs are charged directly to outputs while indirect costs are allocated to outputs based on 
the level of activity associated with relevant cost drivers.    

Depreciation is primarily charged to business units on the basis of asset utilisation with the 
remainder being charged as indirect costs.  

There have been no changes in the cost allocation policy since the date of the last audited financial 
statements.

Taxation
As a government department, the Ministry is exempt from the payment of income tax in terms of 
the Income Tax Act 2004. Accordingly, no charge for income tax is recognised.
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Taxpayers’ funds
The Crown’s net investment in the Ministry is shown as taxpayers’ funds in the Statement of 
Movements in Taxpayers’ Funds and the Statement of Financial Position.

Financial instruments
The Ministry is party to financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These financial 
instruments include bank accounts, receivables and financial liabilities. Designation of financial 
assets and financial liabilities into instrument categories is determined by the business purpose 
of the financial instruments, policies and practices for their management, their relationship with 
other instruments and the reporting costs and benefits associated with each designation. The 
designations are reflected in the financial statements of the Ministry.

Financial assets
Receivables and advances have been designated as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables 
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.  Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Loans and 
receivables issued with duration of less than 12 months are recognised at their nominal value, 
unless the effect of discounting is material. Allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 
recognised when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash in transit, and bank accounts.

At each balance date the Ministry assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Any impairment losses are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial liabilities
Creditors and payables are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Creditors and payables to 
be paid within the following 12 months are recognised at their nominal value, unless the effect of 
discounting is material.  

Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are recognised both initially and subsequently at fair value. They 
are reported as either assets or liabilities depending on whether the derivative is in a net gain or 
net loss position respectively. The Ministry has a non-hedge policy and as such all derivatives are 
held-for-trading financial instruments with fair value gains or losses recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  

Property plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Where an asset is acquired 
for nil or nominal consideration the asset will be recognised initially at fair value, where fair value 
can be reliably determined. The fair value of the asset received, less costs incurred to acquire the 
asset, is recognised as revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Revaluations are carried out for the Ministry’s land and buildings to reflect the service potential or 
economic benefit obtained through control of the asset. Revaluation is based on the fair value of 
the asset, with changes reported by class of asset. 
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All individual assets or groups of assets are capitalised if their historical cost is $4,000 or greater.

Land is recorded at fair value less impairment losses. Buildings are recorded at fair value less 
impairment losses and less depreciation accumulated since the assets were last revalued.  
Valuations are based on either valuation undertaken in accordance with standards issued by the 
New Zealand Property Institute if available, or valuation conducted in accordance with the Rating 
Valuation Act 1998 that has been confirmed as appropriate by an independent valuer.

All other asset classes are initially carried at depreciated historical cost, with a review of the 
carrying values of revalued items performed at each balance date to determine whether any 
material adjustment is required.

Classes of property, plant and equipment subject to fair value review are revalued at least every 
three years or sooner where indicators suggest the carrying amount differs materially to fair value.   
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the value of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised as at each balance date. To the extent that a gain reverses a loss previously charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the asset class, the gain is credited to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income; otherwise gains are credited to the asset revaluation reserve for that 
class of asset. To the extent that there is a balance in the asset revaluation reserve for the asset 
class, any loss on revaluation is debited to the reserve to the extent that a balance remains in 
such reserve. All other losses on property, plant and equipment are reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Accumulated depreciation at revaluation date may be either restated proportionately or eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount so that the carrying amount after revaluation equals the 
revalued amount. The elimination approach is applied unless otherwise indicated.  

For each property, plant and equipment asset, project borrowing costs incurred during the period 
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use are expensed.

The carrying amounts of plant, property and equipment are reviewed at least annually to determine 
if there is any indication of impairment. Where an asset’s recoverable amount is less than its 
carrying amount, it will be reported at its recoverable amount and an impairment loss will be 
recognised. Losses resulting from impairment are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in which case any impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent that the revaluation relates to the impaired asset 
class.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated 
useful life. Typically, the estimated useful lives of different classes of property, plant and 
equipment are as follows:

  Useful life Depreciation rate
Buildings      40 years 2.5%
Motor vehicles      5 years 20%
Furniture and fittings 5–10 years 10–20%
Machinery      5 years 20%
Leasehold improvements 5–10 years 10–20%
IT equipment   3–5 years 20–33.3%
Scientific equipment 5–10 years 10–20%
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Additions 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Ministry and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the sale proceeds with the 
carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in asset revaluation 
reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to retained earnings. 

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an internally generated intangible asset 
represents expenditure incurred in the development phase of the asset only. The development 
phase occurs after the following can be demonstrated: technical feasibility; ability to complete 
the asset; intention and ability to sell or use; and where development expenditure can be reliably 
measured. Expenditure incurred on research related to an internally generated intangible asset 
is expensed when it is incurred. Where the research phase cannot be distinguished from the 
development phase, the expenditure is expensed when it is incurred.

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently recorded at cost less any amortisation and 
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset. Typically, the estimated useful lives of these 
assets are as follows:

  Useful life Amortisation rate

Software – internally generated  3–5 years 20–33.3%

Software – other       3–5 years 20–33.3%

Warranties           3 years 33.3%

Realised gains and losses arising from disposal of intangible assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which the transaction occurs.  

Intangible assets are reviewed at least annually to determine if there is any indication of 
impairment. Where an intangible asset’s recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, it will 
be reported at its recoverable amount and an impairment loss recognised. Losses resulting from 
impairment are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets or disposal groups are separately classified where their carrying amount will 
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than continuing use; that is, where such assets are 
available for immediate sale and where sale is highly probable. These assets are recorded at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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Employee benefits
Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, annual leave, long service leave, retiring leave and 
other similar benefits are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when they accrue 
to employees. Employee entitlements to be settled within 12 months are reported at the amount 
expected to be paid. The liability for long-term employee entitlements is calculated on an actuarial 
basis at the present value of estimated future cash outflows.

Termination benefits are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income only when there 
is a demonstrable commitment to either terminate employment prior to normal retirement date 
or to provide such benefits as a result of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination 
benefits settled within 12 months are reported at the amount expected to be paid, otherwise they 
are reported as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as they fall due. Obligations for defined benefit retirement 
plans are recorded at the latest actuarial value of the Ministry’s liability. All movements in 
the liability, including actuarial gains and losses, are recognised in full in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the period in which they occur.

Insurance contracts
The Ministry belongs to the ACC Partnership Programme whereby the Ministry accepts the 
management and financial responsibility for work-related illnesses and accidents of employees.  
Under the ACC Partnership Programme, the Ministry is effectively providing accident insurance to 
employees and is accounted for as an insurance contract as the Ministry accepts liability for all 
its claims costs for a period of four years up to a specified maximum. At the end of the four-year 
period, the Ministry pays a premium to ACC for the value of residual claims, and the liability for 
ongoing claims beyond that point passes to ACC. 

The liability relating to the Ministry’s ACC Partnership Programme obligations is measured at 
the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of the employee injuries 
and claims, for which the Ministry has responsibility up to the reporting date, using actuarial 
techniques. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels and experience of 
employee claims and injuries to date, and may include a risk margin that represents the inherent 
uncertainty of the present value of the expected future payments. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields applying as at the reporting date based on government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  

Leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset. 

Lease payments under an operating lease net of lease incentives received are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised 
evenly over the term of the lease as a reduction in rental expense.

Leasehold improvements are capitalised and the cost is amortised over the unexpired period of the 
lease, or the estimated useful life of the improvements whichever is shorter.   
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Provisions
The Ministry recognises a provision, based on probable cost, for future expenditure of uncertain 
amount or timing where there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event.

Provisions are recorded at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the obligation. Provisions to be settled beyond 12 months are recorded at 
their present value.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are recorded in the Statement of Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets at the point at which the contingency becomes evident. Contingent 
liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets 
are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised.

Changes in accounting policies
Accounting policies are changed only if the change is required by a standard or interpretation or 
otherwise provides more reliable and more relevant information. All policies have been applied on 
a basis consistent with the previous year.

Standard adopted during the period which have only had a presentational or 
disclosure effect (per NZ IAS 8.28)

NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised 2007) replaces NZ IAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements (Issued 2004). The revised standard requires information in financial 
statements to be aggregated on the basis of shared characteristics and introduces a Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income will allow readers to analyse changes in equity resulting 
from non-owner changes separately from transactions with owners. The Ministry has decided to 
prepare a single Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2010 under 
the revised standard. Financial statement information for the year ended 30 June 2009 has been 
restated accordingly. Items of other items of comprehensive income presented in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income were previously recognized directly in the statement of changes in equity.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not effective and have 
not been early adopted

NZ IAS 24: Related Parties Disclosures
NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised 2009) replaces NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 
(Issued 2004) and is effective for reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011. The 
revised standard:
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i) Removes the previous disclosure concessions applied by the Ministry for arms-length 
transactions between the Ministry and entities controlled or significantly influenced by the 
Crown. The effect of the revised standard is that more information is required to be disclosed 
about transactions between the Ministry and entities controlled or significantly influenced by 
the Crown. 

ii) Provides clarity on the disclosure of related party transactions with Ministers of the Crown. 
Further, with the exception of the Minister of Accountability, the Ministry will be provided with 
an exemption from certain disclosure requirements relating to transactions with other Ministers 
of the Crown. The clarification could result in additional disclosures should there be any related 
party transactions with Ministers of the Crown.

iii) Clarifies that related party transactions include commitments with related parties.

NZ IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will eventually replace NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. NZ IAS 39 is being replaced through the following 3 main phases: 
Phase 1 Classification and Measurement, Phase 2 Impairment Methodology, and Phase 3 
Hedge Accounting. Phase 1 on the classification and measurement of financial assets has been 
completed and has been published in the new financial instrument standard NZ IFRS 9. NZ IFRS 9 
uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortised cost or 
fair value, replacing the many different rules in NZ IAS 39. The approach in NZ IFRS 9 is based on 
how an entity manages its financial instruments (its business model) and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment method 
to be used, replacing the many different impairment methods in NZ IAS 39. The new standard is 
required to be adopted for the year ended 30 June 2014. The Ministry has not yet assessed the 
effect of the new standard and expects it will not be early adopted. 

Comparative figures
When presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is amended or accounting 
policies are changed, comparative figures are restated to ensure consistency with the current 
period unless it is impracticable to do so. 

Segment reporting
As a public benefit entity, the Ministry is not required to provide segment reporting.

Goods and Service Tax (GST) 
All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and 
payables, which are stated on a GST inclusive basis. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) as at 
balance date is included as part of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement of Cash Flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.
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Note 2: Revenue – other
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

10,033 Medicines registration 9,837

3,763 Service fees 3,789

1,886 Annual licence and registration fees 1,742

2,204 State Sector Retirement Saving Scheme recovery 2,451

397 Other departmental revenue –

1,469 Other 611

19,752 Total revenue other 18,430

Note 3: Losses
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

9 Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 14

9 Total losses 14

Note 4: Personnel
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

116,348 Salaries and wages 115,312

2,594 Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 2,843

1,322 Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements 1,497

6,000 Other 7,138

126,264 Total personnel costs 126,790

Note 5: Capital charge
The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June and 
31 December each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2010 was 7.5%  
(2009: 7.5%).
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Note 6: Finance costs
The Ministry has a policy of not entering into finance leases and as such incurs no significant 
finance costs.

Note 7: Other operating expenses
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

336 Audit fees for the financial statements audit 352

210 Audit-related fees for assurance and related services 157

8,495 Operating lease payments 7,824

9,172 Consultancy 9,698

698 Maintenance 916

(1) Net foreign exchange losses –

(13) ACC Partnership Programme (5)

325 Asset write-offs (309)

– Revaluation loss on property –

54,180 Other operating expenses 55,127

73,402 Total other operating expenses 73,760

Audit-related fees for assurance services were for audit of rest homes and specific health service 
providers.
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Note 8: Debtors and other receivables
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

15,878 Debtors – Crown 15,050

672 Debtors – departments 628

842 Debtors – other 568

17,392 Net debtors 16,246

869 Accrued revenue 161

18,261 Total debtors and other receivables 16,407

As at 30 June 2010 all overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate 
provisions applied, as detailed below:

Gross 
$000

2009 
impairment 

$000
Net 

$000
Gross 
$000

2010 
Impairment 

$000
Net 

$000

Not past due 16,532 – 16,532 16,082 – 16,082

Past due 1–30 days 45 – 45 124 – 124

Past due 31–60 days 50 – 50 23 – 23

Past due 61–90 days 4 – 4 3 – 3

Past due > 90 days 761 – 761 14 – 14

Total debtors 17,392 – 17,392 16,246 – 16,246

The Ministry has no provision for doubtful debts at 30 June 2010 (2009: Nil). There were no 
expected losses for the Ministry’s pool of debtors, based on analysis of the Ministry’s losses in 
previous periods, and review of specific debtors at balance date.
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Note 9: Plant, property and equipment

Land 
$000

Buildings/ 
leasehold 

improvements 
$000

Furniture 
plant and 

equipment 
$000

Motor 
vehicles 

$000

Computer 
hardware 

$000
Total 
$000

Cost or valuation

Balance as at 1 July 2008 5,350 7,790 8,376 475 41,116 63,107

Additions – 721 554 138 3,103 4,516

Revaluation increase/
(decrease)

(1,350) 270 – – – (1,080)

Disposals – (41) (64) (38) (4,524) (4,667)

Balance as at 30 June 2009 4,000 8,740 8,866 575 39,695 61,876

Balance as at 1 July 2009 4,000 8,740 8,866 575 39,695 61,876

Additions – 444 78 28 1,164 1,714

Revaluation increase/
(decrease)

– – – – – –

Disposals – (1,283) (468) (142) (17,213) (19,106)

Balance as at 30 June 2010 4,000 7,901 8,476 461 23,646 44,484

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

Balance as at 1 July 2008 – 3,543 4,784 256 32,144 40,727

Depreciation expense – 649 640 29 2,353 3,671

Eliminate on disposals – (21) (64) (30) (4,524) (4,639)

Balance as at 30 June 2009 – 4,171 5,360 255 29,973 39,759

Balance as at 1 July 2009 – 4,171 5,360 255 29,973 39,759

Depreciation expense – 666 660 58 3,728 5,112

Eliminate on disposals – (1,283) (468) (114) (17,174) (19,039)

Balance as at 30 June 2010 – 3,554 5,552 199 16,527 25,832

Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2008 5,350 4,247 3,592 219 8,972 22,380

At 30 June 2009 4,000 4,569 3,506 320 9,722 22,117

At 30 June 2010 4,000 4,347 2,924 262 7,119 18,652

Land and buildings were revalued at fair value on 25 June 2009 by an independently contracted 
registered valuer, W Blake ANZIV/SPINZ, of Simes Limited while having regard for the following:

•	 reference	to	evidence	of	comparative	local	property	sales	values	

•	 market	capitalisation	of	comparative	local	property	rental	rates

•	 continuing	use	by	the	Ministry.

There are no restrictions over the title of the Ministry’s property, plant and equipment nor are any 
property, plant and equipment pledged as security for liabilities.
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Note 10: Intangible assets

Acquired 
software 

$000

Internally 
generated 

software 
$000

Total 
$000

Cost

Balance as at 1 July 2008 6,162 28,301 34,463

Additions 8,680 5,754 14,434

Disposals – – –

Balance as at 30 June 2009 14,842 34,055 48,897

Balance as at 1 July 2009 14,842 34,055 48,897

Additions 7,423 1,582 9,005

Disposals – – –

Balance as at 30 June 2010 22,265 35,637 57,902

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance as at 1 July 2008 2,900 16,581 19,481

Amortisation expense 2,643 3,360 6,003

Disposals – – –

Balance as at 30 June 2009 5,543 19,941 25,484

Balance as at 1 July 2009 5,543 19,941 25,484

Amortisation expense 4,101 2,681 6,782

Disposals – – –

Balance as at 30 June 2010 9,644 22,622 32,266

Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2008 3,262 11,720 14,982

At 30 June 2009 9,299 14,114 23,413

At 30 June 2010 12,621 13,015 25,636

There are no restrictions over the title of the Ministry’s intangible assets nor are any intangibles 
pledged as security for liabilities.
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Note 11: Creditors and payables
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

4,081 Creditors 2,500

4,411 Income in advance 3,083

10,867 Accrued expenses 10,184

1,256 GST payable 2,065

20,615 Total creditors and other payables 17,832

Note 12: Provision for repayment of surplus to the Crown
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

10,409 Net surplus/(deficit) 8,218

– Retrospective NZ IFRS adjustments added back –

10,409 Total repayment of surplus 8,218

Note 13: Provisions
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

Current provisions are represented by:

489 Restructuring 1,878

425 Performance incentive 550

583 Project development 57

30 ACC Partnership Programme 12

1,527 Total current portion 2,497

Non-current provisions are represented by:

32 ACC partnership programme 45

32 Total non-current portion 45

1,559 Total provisions 2,542
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Movements in provisions during the year

2010
Restructuring 

$000

Performance 
incentive 

$000

Project 
development 

$000

ACC 
Partnership 
Programme 

$000
Total 
$000

Opening balance 1 July 2009 489 425 583 62 1,559

Additional provision made 1,878 550 – 13 2,441

Amounts applied (234) (425) (49) – (708)

Unused amounts reversed (255) – (477) (18) (750)

Closing balance 30 June 2010 1,878 550 57 57 2,542

Restructuring
The restructuring provision arises from costs associated with the completion of the internal 
restructuring within the Ministry. It is anticipated that the restructuring will be completed within 12 
months of the balance date.

Performance incentive
Performance Incentives accrued the actual amount due to employees following individual 
determinations under the Ministry’s remuneration guidelines.

Project development
The provision represents costs of further development of the Health Practitioners Index (HPI) 
system.

ACC Partnership Programme
The liability for the ACC Partnership Programme is measured at the present value of expected 
future payments to be made with respect to employee injuries and claims received up until the 
reporting date using actuarial calculations. Consideration is given to expected future salary levels 
and experience of employee injuries and claims history. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields on national government bonds at the reporting date with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The Ministry manages its exposure arising from the programme by promoting a safe and healthy 
working environment by:

• implementing and monitoring health and safety policies

•		 induction training on health and safety

•		 actively managing work place injuries to ensure employees return to work as soon as practical

•		 recording and monitoring work place injuries and near miss events to identify risk areas and 
implementing mitigating actions

•		 identification of work hazards and implementation of appropriate safety procedures.

The Ministry has adopted a stop loss limit of 211 percent of the industry premium for the year 
ended 30 June 2010 (2009: 168 percent). The stop loss limit meant the Ministry only carried 
exposure for total cost of claims up to $173,000 (2009: $223,000). The Ministry is not exposed to 
any significant concentrations of insurance risk as work-related injuries are generally the result of 
an isolated event to an individual employee.
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An external independent actuarial valuer, Mr Mark Weaver (FIANZ), has calculated the Ministry’s 
liability, and the valuation is effective as at 30 June 2010.  The valuer has attested he is satisfied 
as to the nature, sufficiency and accuracy of the data used to determine the outstanding claims 
liability. There are no qualifications contained in the actuarial valuer’s report.  

The value of the liability is not material for the Ministry’s financial statements. Any changes in 
assumptions will not, therefore, have a material effect on these financial statements.

Note 14: Employee entitlements
Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

Current employee entitlements are represented by:

6,556 Annual leave 6,713

145 Sick leave 155

782 Retirement and long service leave 884

1,730 Accrued salaries 2,056

9,213 Total current portion 9,808

Non-current employee entitlements are represented by:

1,400 Retirement and long service leave 1,468

– Sick leave –

1,400 Total non-current portion 1,468

10,613 Total employee entitlements 11,276

The present value of the retirement and long service leave entitlements depend on a number 
of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Two key 
assumptions applied when calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary 
inflation factor. Any changes in these assumptions will have significant impact on the carrying 
value of the liability.

In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Ministry considered interest rates on national 
government bonds that have terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. The salary inflation factor has been determined after considering historical 
salary inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from the independent actuary. 

If the discount rate were to differ by 1 percentage point from the Ministry’s estimates, with all other 
factors held constant, the carrying amount of the total liability would be an estimates average 
$79,500 higher/lower.

If the salary inflation rate were to differ by 1 percentage point from the Ministry’s estimates, with all 
other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the total liability would be an estimates average 
$82,500 higher/lower.
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Note 15: Taxpayers’ funds
Taxpayers’ funds compromises two components: general funds and revaluation reserve.

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

General funds

18,623 Balance at 1 July 31,130

10,409 Net surplus/(deficit) 8,218

12,507 Capital contribution –

Transfer from revaluation reserve

(10,409) Provision for repayment of surplus to the Crown (8,218)

31,130 General funds at 30 June 31,130

Revaluation reserves

1,350 Balance at 1 July 270

(1,080) Revaluation gains/(losses) –

Revaluation changes at 30 June

– Transfer to general funds –

270 Revaluation reserves at 30 June 270

31,400 Total taxpayers’ funds 31,400

Revaluation reserves consist of:

– Land revaluation reserve –

270 Buildings revaluation reserve 270

270 Total revaluation reserves 270
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Note 16: Reconciliation of the net surplus/(deficit) to the net   
   cash from operating activities

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

10,409 Net surplus/(deficit) 8,218

Add/(less) non-cash items:

9,674 Depreciation and amortisation expense 11,891

– Other non-cash items –

9,674 Total non-cash Items 11,891

Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities:

9 (Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 14

Add/(less) movements in working capital items:

(780) (Inc)/dec in debtors and receivables 1,026

(1,691) (Inc)/dec in debtor Crown 828

(81) (Inc)/dec in prepayments 318

(3,369) Inc/(dec) in creditors and other payables (2,783)

(1,654) Inc/(dec) in provisions 983

1,322 Inc/(dec) in employee entitlements 663

(6,253) Net movements in working capital items 1,035

13,839 Net cash from operating activities 21,158

Note 17: Related party transactions and key management 
personnel

Related party transactions
The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown.  The Government significantly influences the 
roles of the Ministry as well as being its major source of revenue.

The Ministry enters into transactions with other government departments, Crown entities (including 
DHBs), and other state-owned enterprises on an arm’s-length basis. Those transactions are 
considered by the Ministry to have occurred within a normal supplier or client relationship on terms 
no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the Ministry would have 
adopted if dealing with that entity at arm’s length in the same circumstances.  Such transactions 
are considered not to be related party transactions and are not disclosed.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

•	 There are close family members of key management personnel employed by the Ministry. The 
terms and conditions of those employment arrangements are no more favourable than the 
Ministry would have adopted if there were no relationship to key management personnel.
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•	 During the year the Ministry may purchase advertising space on Samoan Capital Radio, 
for which the Deputy Director-General – Sector Capability and Innovation is a Director. Any 
advertising costs and services are supplied on normal commercial terms. There were no direct 
transactions in the current year.

•	 During the year the Ministry contracted on behalf of the Crown with Presbyterian Support 
Services – Northern, for which the Deputy Director-General – Sector Capability and Innovation 
is a Director.  The value of services provided under contract during the year totalled $1,397,180 
and were negotiated on normal commercial terms. There were no outstanding balances under 
contracts with this related party as at year end.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment from related parties.

Key management personnel compensation

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

2,984 Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 2,872

– Termination benefits 90

2,984 Total key management personnel compensation 2,962

During the year, the Ministry’s Executive Leadership Team had a Director-General, eight Deputy 
Director-Generals and a National Director. This number had reduced by balance date.

Note 18: Events after the balance sheet date
There have been no significant events after the balance sheet date.

Note 19: Financial instrument risks
The Ministry’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks including market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Ministry has policies in place to manage the risk associated 
with financial instruments and continually seeks to minimise risk from exposure to financial 
instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions of a speculative nature to be entered 
into.

Market risk

•	 Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows from a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

 The Ministry has no significant exposure to currency risk on any financial instruments. 

•	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows from a financial instrument 
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates.

 The Ministry has no significant exposure to interest rate risk on any of its financial instruments. 
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to the Ministry, causing the 
Ministry to incur a loss. 

In the normal course of business, credit risk arises from debtors and other accounts receivable, 
deposits with banks, and derivative financial instruments.  

In accordance with New Zealand Treasury policy, the Ministry is only permitted to deposit funds 
with Westpac Banking Corporation, a registered bank, and to enter into foreign exchange forward 
contracts with the New Zealand Debt Management Office. These entities have high market credit 
ratings. With respect to its remaining financial instruments, the Ministry does not have significant 
concentrations of credit risk.  

The Ministry’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instruments is represented by 
the total carrying amount of cash, cash equivalents, net debtors and derivative financial instrument 
assets. The Ministry holds no collateral as security against these financial instruments, including 
those that are overdue or impaired. 

The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying value disclosed in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

The Ministry held no bank overdraft facilities as at 30 June 2010, or incurred any overdrafts during 
the 2009/10 fiscal period.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Ministry will encounter difficulty with raising liquid funds to meet 
its payment commitments as they fall due.

In meeting its liquidity requirements the Ministry closely monitors its forecast cash requirements 
with expected cash draw downs from the New Zealand Debt Management Office. The Ministry 
maintains a target level of available cash to meet its liquidity requirements.

The table below analyses the Ministry’s financial liabilities that will be settled based on the 
remaining period at the balance date to the contracted maturity date. The amounts disclosed are 
the contracted undiscounted cash flows.

Less than 
6 months 

$000

Between 6 
months and 

1 year 
$000

Between  
1 and 5 years 

$000
Over 5 years 

$000

2009

Creditors and other payables 20,615 – – –

2010

Creditors and other payables 17,832 – – –
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Note 20: Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each of the NZ IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement categories are as follows:

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

Loans and receivables

9,522 Cash and cash equivalents 9,606

18,261 Debtors and other receivables 16,407

27,783 Total loans and receivables 26,013

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

(20,615) Creditors and other payables (17,832)

Note 21: Capital management
The Ministry’s capital is its equity (or taxpayers’ funds) that comprise general funds and 
revaluation reserves. Equity is represented by net assets.

The Ministry manages its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and general financial dealings in 
a prudent manner. The Ministry’s equity is largely managed as a by-product of managing income, 
expenses, assets, liabilities and its need to both comply with Government Budget processes and 
New Zealand Treasury instructions.

The objective of managing the Ministry’s equity is to ensure the Ministry effectively achieves its 
goals and objectives, for which it has been established, while remaining a going concern.
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Note 22: Memorandum accounts
Since October 2004 the Ministry has, in accordance with the Gambling Act 2003, received 
an appropriation for problem gambling that over time is intended to be fully funded from the 
levies collected from the industry, on behalf of the Crown, by the Inland Revenue Department.  
The following table shows a comparison between the Ministry’s appropriation for, and actual 
expenditure on initiatives in relation to problem gambling and the levies collected to date. The 
balance in the problem gambling memorandum account at 30 June 2010 is $4.671 million.

Problem gambling

Appropriation^ 
$000

Expenditure 
$000

Levies collected 
(IRD) 
$000

Transition costs prior to introduction of levy 
strategy

– 1,291

Prior years non-departmental amount 81,954 75,400

Prior years departmental amount 4,422 4,813

Total to 30 June 2009 86,376 81,504 80,335

2009/10 year non-departmental amount 17,510 17,492

2009/10 year departmental amount 1,075 1,294

Total for the year ended 30 June 2010 18,585 18,786 20,000

Accumulated totals to June 2010 104,961 100,290 100,335

^ Appropriation figures include both departmental and non-departmental budgeted amounts and exclude output expense budget 
amounts carried forward from one year to the following year.

National Radiation Laboratory: licensing activities
A memorandum account was established on 1 July 1998 for National Radiation Laboratory 
licensing activities required by the Radiation Protection Act 1965. The following table shows the 
amounts of revenue and expenses relating to licensing activities.

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

Licensing fees

354 Balance at 1 July 385 

756 Revenue 733

(725) Expenses (646)

385 Balance at 30 June 472
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Medsafe
Pursuant to the Medicines Act 1981, Medsafe derives third party fee revenue from the medicines 
and pharmaceutical industry from licence applications to approve new or changed medicines, and 
for clinical trials. A memorandum account has been established effective from 1 July 2007 to match 
accumulated licence revenue collected against the expenses incurred to process applications. This 
information will be used to ensure that, over time, fees will be set at a level as to ensure revenue 
collected equates to equivalent levels of costs incurred.

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

Medsafe

1,147 Balance 1 July 2,288

13,314 Revenue 9,567

(12,173) Expenses (7,530)

2,288 Balance 30 June 4,325

Note 23: Explanation of major variances against budget
Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s estimated figures in the statement of intent 
are as follows:

Statement of comprehensive income

Revenue Crown
Crown revenue was $3.7 million above the Main Estimates due to increased funding transferred from NDE for 
the Shared Services Agency start up costs.

Revenue other
Revenue from sources other than the Crown was $2.2 million higher than the Main Estimates due 
mainly to higher volumes of medicine applications being processed than anticipated.

Personnel costs
Personnel costs were higher than the Main Estimates by $2.6 million due to redundancy payments being 
made and provided for in June. 

Depreciation
Depreciation costs were lower than the Main Estimates by $2.1 million due to a delay in capital 
expenditure.

Other operating expenses
Other operating costs were lower than the Main Estimates by $1.9 million as a result of deliberate 
constraining of expenditure giving savings in particular in travel and other expenses.
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Statement of financial position

Revaluation reserves
The reserve was $1.08 million less than budgeted as the valuation on the Christchurch property 
did not move materially in the current year.

Cash and cash equivalents, debtors and other receivables
The actual year-end current assets balance was $6 million higher than planned due to the under 
spend, however, cash holding was reduced due to tighter cash management.

Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets were $35.569 million lower than the Main 
Estimates due to computer hardware purchases and software implementation being less than 
anticipated. A number of IT projects and the replacement programme for desktops was delayed as 
the projects and purchase plans were being reassessed.

Creditors and other payables
Creditors, accruals and supplementary budgets were $26.332 million lower compared to the 
Main Estimates due to creditor’s payments being processed faster and the expenditure being 
constrained at year end.  Actual for 2009/10 is similar to but less than 2008/09.

Repayment of surplus
The repayment of surplus provision reflects the actual surplus generated from savings and 
constrained hiring and expenditure in the last few months, while at the time of budget setting no 
surplus figure is assumed to be derived from the year’s activities.

Statement of cash flows

Cash from operating activities
The increase is due to the Ministry having received increased third party fees of $2.203 million 
due to the issue of additional licences and processing of a greater number of medicine license 
applications.

Cash from investing activities
Purchases of intangible assets (computer software) were $24.7 million less than the Main 
Estimates due and an underspend in the internally generated capital funding, due to delays in purchases 
of both hardware and software purchases and in house construction, whilst the capital plan and capability 
was reviewed. 

Cash from financing activities
As a result of the capital asset additions being funded internally from $11.891 million of non- 
cash depreciation and amortisation, part of the budgeted capital contribution of $10.6 million 
was not called upon.
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Non-Departmental Statements and 
Schedules for the Year Ended 30 June 2010
The following non-departmental statements and schedules record the income, expenses, assets, 
liabilities, commitments, contingent liabilities, contingent assets and trust accounts that the 
Ministry manages on behalf of the Crown.

Statement of non-departmental expenses and capital expenditure 
against appropriations for the year ended 30 June 2010

Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Vote Health:
Appropriation for output expenses
Health and disability support services 
for District Health Boards (DHBs):

389,332 Northland DHB 418,039 417,725 418,039
1,012,346 Waitemata DHB 1,074,747 1,065,771 1,074,747

881,089 Auckland DHB 929,801 941,884 930,131
931,177 Counties Manukau DHB 1,004,832 999,265 1,004,832
781,121 Waikato DHB 840,495 841,504 840,495
234,112 Lakes DHB 244,578 245,689 244,592
491,063 Bay of Plenty DHB 523,202 522,467 523,202
115,404 Tairawhiti DHB 124,073 123,786 124,073
257,639 Taranaki DHB 266,194 268,645 266,194
357,786 Hawke’s Bay DHB 378,247 377,914 378,247
171,453 Whanganui DHB 180,492 181,245 180,492
372,802 MidCentral DHB 396,915 399,608 396,915
286,986 Hutt Valley DHB 308,597 307,500 308,597
536,365 Capital and Coast DHB 569,196 569,843 569,196

99,868 Wairarapa DHB 105,025 104,172 105,025
309,489 Nelson-Marlborough DHB 324,101 322,716 324,101
101,682 West Coast DHB 106,821 106,112 106,821

1,026,481 Canterbury DHB 1,078,987 1,078,053 1,079,058
137,705 South Canterbury DHB 143,397 143,662 143,397
418,527 Otago DHB 362,709 436,500 362,709
234,601 Southland DHB 205,192 244,770 205,192

– Southern DHB 113,580 – 113,580

9,147,028
Total health and disability support 
services for District Health Boards 9,699,220 9,698,831 9,699,635

888,648 National disability support services 929,829 895,386 939,013
426,904 Public health services purchasing 2.1 477,081 514,781 495,327

1,751
Management of residual health 
liabilities and DHB term debt 1,700 1,700 1,700

117,188 Clinical Training Agency 117,420 125,692 122,667
52,292 National child health services 2.2 57,583 58,994 58,094

176,373 National elective services 2.3 208,066 189,898 202,606
68,539 National emergency services 81,300 81,194 83,077

Continues on next page . . .
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Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

6,858 National Māori health services 7,371 8,562 7,421
130,512 National maternity services 2.4 132,167 137,483 132,642

49,041 National mental health services 2.5 54,779 69,268 58,987
115,471 National contracted services – other 2.6 143,826 172,018 165,032

299 National advisory and support services 337 340 340

14,641
Monitoring and protecting health and 
disability consumer interests 14,790 14,484 14,839

1,177 Meningococcal vaccine 560 1,800 1,800
174,858 Health services funding 2.7 – 239,738 9

16,627 Problem gambling services 17,492 17,510 17,510

–

Scientific advice to support pest 
management strategies as they affect 
public health – 56 56
Primary health care strategy 168,133 154,535 175,678

11,388,207
Total appropriations for non-
departmental output expenses 12,111,654 12,382,270 12,176,433

Appropriation for other expenses to be 
incurred by the Crown

– Australian Kidney Foundation – – –
1,908 International health organisations 2,177 2,570 2,570
1,587 Legal expenses 474 1,778 778

18,685 Provider development 19,225 19,289 20,639

22,180
Total appropriations for other 
expenses to be incurred by the Crown 21,876 23,637 23,987

Appropriation for capital expenditure
73,490 Deficit support for DHBs 2.8 110,000 – 110,000

62,831
Equity for capital projects for DHBs and 
the NZ Blood Service 2.9 62,910 279,249 70,674

– Health sector projects – – –
14,800 Queen Mary Hospital Site – –
21,880 Loans for capital projects 2.10 65,120 24,900 80,820

– Refinance of DHB private debt – – –
12,232 Residential care loans 12,935 15,000 15,000

–
Rollover of Crown Health Funding 
Authority loans – – –

185,233

Total appropriations for capital 
contributions to other persons or 
organisations 250,965 319,149 276,494

–
Response to significant health 
emergencies – – –

_

Total appropriations for purchase or 
development of capital assets by the 
Crown – – –

11,595,620 Total appropriations 12,384,495 12,725,056 12,476,914

Continued from previous page
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Appropriation transfers under section 26A of the Public Finance Act 1969
The appropriation voted includes adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates and the 
following transfers under section 26A of the Public Finance Act 1989.

Supp. 
estimates 

$000

Section 26A 
transfers 

$000

Final 
appropriation 

$000
Vote Health:

Appropriation for output expenses
National Mental Health Services 58,987 (2,600) 56,387
National Contracted Services – Other 165,032 (4,000) 161,032
National Elective Services 202,606 6,600 209,206

Total non-departmental appropriation of output 
expenses 426,625 – 426,625

Statement of non-departmental unappropriated expenditure and 
capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2010
There was no unappropriated non-departmental expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2010 
(2009: Nil). 

The accompanying notes on pages 108 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made 
to the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2010. Reference should also be made to the 
separate Vote Health Report in relation to selected Non-departmental Appropriations completed in accordance with S32A of the Public 
Finance Act.
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The accompanying notes on pages 108 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Schedule of non-departmental income and capital receipts  
for the year ended 30 June 2010
Non-departmental revenues and capital receipts are administered by the Ministry on behalf of the 
Crown. As these revenues are not established by the Ministry nor earned in the production of the 
Ministry’s outputs, they are not reported in the Ministry’s financial statements.

Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Income

Reimbursement from the ACC+
4,306 ACC – reimbursement of complex burns costs 4,163 6,400 6,400

19,108
ACC – reimbursement of work-related public 
hospital costs 20,050 26,330 25,589

231,073 ACC – reimbursement of non-earners’ account 242,598 247,971 241,688

74,499
ACC – reimbursement of earners’ non-work-
related public hospital costs 78,173 75,468 73,343

49,791
ACC – reimbursement of motor vehicle-related 
public hospital costs 52,253 62,518 60,758

3,116
ACC – reimbursement of medical misadventure 
costs 3,270 2,298 2,233

4,366
ACC – reimbursement of self-employed public 
hospital costs 4,581 7,188 6,986

386,259 Total ACC reimbursements 2.11 405,088 428,173 416,997

151,160 Payment of capital charge by DHBs 2.12 159,392 199,709 199,709
(159,609) Net surplus/(deficit) from DHBs* (99,276) –

(5,079) Other Crown entities surplus/(deficits)** 756 – –
637 Crown health financing agency rental 632 278 278

– Crown health financing agency interest – – –
20 Miscellaneous 13 340 340

373,388 Total non-departmental income 466,605 628,500 617,324

Capital receipts
10,928 Repayment of residential care loans 2.13 11,560 24,000 24,000

304 Repayment of DHB debt 304 – –
47,499 Equity repayments by DHBs 12,499 12,499 12,499
58,731 Total non-departmental capital receipts 24,363 36,499 36,499

432,119
Total non-departmental income and capital 
receipts 490,968 664,999 653,823

+ Accident Compensation Corporation.

* Based on unaudited financial statements of the 21 DHBs, and accordingly have not been reflected in the investments in Crown 
entities figure within the schedule of non-departmental assets.

** Based on unaudited financial statements of the other non-DHB health sector Crown entities, and accordingly have not been 
reflected in the investments in Crown entities figure within the schedule of non-departmental assets.
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Schedule of non-departmental assets as at 30 June 2010

Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main  
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Assets

Current assets
81,580 Cash and cash equivalents 2.14 93,170 43,764 90,101
72,817 Inventory 2.15 66,513 53,216 84,500

Debtors and other receivables: -
37,768 District Health Boards 2.16 35,399 - -

388,693 ACC 2.16 125,373 360,619 147,637
– Government departments 2.16 13 1,487 168

7,094 Others 2.16 6,605 1,753 (2,805)
1,012 Prepayments 1,402 3,397 1,014

588,964 Total current assets 328,475 464,236 320,615

Non-current assets
Advances:

29,893 Residential care loans 2.17 33,700 42,749 55,405
5,394 Other advances 2.18 4,497 - -

Investments:
2,631 Leasehold land 2,631 2,631 2,631

38,409 Other investments 2.19 38,409 23,725 38,725
76,327 Total non-current assets 79,237 69,105 96,761

665,291 Total non-departmental assets 407,712 533,341 417,376

In addition, the Ministry monitors a number of Crown entities (including the 21 DHBs).  
The investment in those entities is recorded in the financial statements of the Government on a 
line-by-line basis. No disclosure of investments in Crown entities is made in this schedule.

The accompanying notes on pages 108 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2010.



105 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 
including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Schedule of non-departmental liabilities as at 30 June 2010

Actual 
2009 
$000 Note

Actual 
2010 
$000

Main 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Supp. 
estimates 

2010 
$000

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Creditors and other payables:
819 District Health Boards 10,748 – –

– Other Crown entities – – –
8,990 Other payables 2.20 8,833 – –

Accrued liabilities and provisions:

285,198 District Health Boards 2.21 195,300 272,052 264,899
2,767 Other Crown entities 2.21 – – –

138,282 Other accrued liabilities 2.21 163,911 334,760 513,573

436,056 Total non-departmental liabilities 378,792 606,812 778,472

Schedule of non-departmental commitments as at 30 June 2010
The Crown has the following capital and operating commitments for the supply of goods and 
services.

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

Capital commitments
574,620 Property, plant and equipment 511,950

– Intangible asets –
162,618 Other capital commitments 114,321
737,238 Total capital commitments 626,271

Non-cancellable commitments
10,252,440 Not later than one year 11,033,603

242,970 Later than one year and not later than five years 488,082
1,161 Later than five years 13,188

10,496,571 Total non-cancellable commitments 11,534,873

11,233,809 Total commitments 12,161,144

The accompanying notes on pages 108 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2010.
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Schedule of non-departmental contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets as at 30 June 2010

Unquantified contingent liabilities
The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no unquantifiable contingent liabilities at 30 June 2010 
(2009: Nil).

Quantifiable contingent liabilities

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

15,863 Legal proceedings and disputes 25,130

15,863 Total quantifiable contingent liabilities 25,130

Legal proceedings and disputes
Legal claims against the Crown are mainly seeking recompense in relation to perceived issues 
regarding treatment and care. The Crown is in the process of defending these claims. In the normal 
course of events previous experience indicates that any settlements are likely to be significantly 
less than the claims made.

Contingent assets
The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no contingent assets at 30 June 2010 (2009: Nil).

The accompanying notes on pages 108 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2010.
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Statement of trust monies  
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Actual 
2009 
$000

Actual 
2010 
$000

District Health Boards Deposit Trust Account*
635 Balance as at 1 July 2009 1,089

4,981,576 Contributions 5,215,563
(4,981,494) Distributions (5,215,481)

372 Revenue 204
– Expenditure –

1,089 Balance as at 30 June 2010 1,375

* This trust account was set up to hold funds received from DHBs for the delivery of processing services and disbursements.

Another trust account was set up to hold deposits made by those new medicines applications 
that have been rejected by the Medicines Assessment Advisory Committee (MAAC). Deposits 
are made when they request the Medicines Review Committee to consider their objections to 
recommendations made by MAAC. Once the Medicines Review Committee completes its review, 
these deposits are refunded to depositors subject to the deduction of any costs ordered by the 
Committee. There were no transactions during the year ended 30 June 2010 and the balance 
remains under $500.00.

The accompanying notes on pages 108 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2010.



108 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 
including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Notes to the non-departmental statements and 
schedules

Note 1: Statement of accounting policies for the year ended  
30 June 2010

Reporting entity
The non-departmental statements and schedules for the Crown: Vote Health have been prepared 
by the Ministry and present the public funds managed by the Ministry that are not incorporated in 
its financial statements.

The Ministry is responsible for an effective and efficient management of revenue, expenditure, 
assets and liabilities on behalf of the Crown. These have been produced pursuant to the Public 
Finance Act 1989.

Measurement system
The non-departmental statements and schedules have been prepared on an historical cost basis 
modified by the revaluation of certain assets.

Revenue and receipts
Revenue from ACC recoveries and capital charges from DHBs is recognised when earned and is 
reported in the financial period to which it relates.

Debtors and receivables
Receivables from ACC recoveries are recorded at the value of the contract with ACC. Receivables 
from capital charges are recorded at estimated realisable value.

Residential care loans
The carrying value of residential care loans is based on an actuarial valuation.

Inventory
Inventories held for consumption in the provision for services are recorded at the lower of cost 
or current replacement cost. Any write-down from cost to replacement cost is recognised in the 
Schedule of Non-Departmental Expenses and Capital Expenditure against appropriations.

Investments
Investments are recorded in the Schedule of Non-Departmental Assets at historical cost. The 
carrying value represents the aggregate of equity injections made by the Ministry less subsequent 
repayments of equity returned to the Crown.

Payables and provisions
Payables and provisions are recorded at the estimated obligation to pay.
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Accrued expenses
Accrued expenses are recorded at either the value of funding entitlements owing under Crown 
funding agreements or the estimated value of contracts already started but not yet completed.

Financial instruments
The Crown, Vote Health is party to financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These 
financial instruments include bank accounts, short term deposits, debtors and creditors. All 
financial instruments are recognised in the Schedules of Non-Departmental Assets and Non-
Departmental Liabilities and all revenues and expenses in relation to financial instruments are 
recognised in the Schedules of Non-Departmental Revenue and Non-Departmental Expenses. 

Goods and services tax (GST)
All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and 
payables, which are stated on a GST inclusive basis. There is no GST on commitments and 
contingencies.

Commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been entered into as at 
balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent that there are equally unperformed 
obligations.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency is evident.

Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies.

Note 2: Explanation of major variances against budget
Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s non-departmental appropriations within the 
Main Estimates are as follows:

Schedule of non-departmental expenses and capital expenditure against 
appropriations

2.1 Public health services purchasing decrease of $37.7 million in expenditure was mainly due 
to lower than expected costs of the Sexual Health and Tobacco programmes, savings in 
pandemic vaccine costs and transfers of drinking water and sewage subsidy payments to 
outyears.

2.2 National child health services actual is $1.4 million less than the Main Estimates due to an 
underspend in B4 school checks which is a demand-driven volume programme.

2.3 National elective services costs were $6 million greater than the Main Estimates, due to 
increased funding being appropriated for cardiac services delivered by Auckland DHB and 
additional funding for increased volumes.

2.4 National maternity services expenditure was $5 million less than the Main Estimates as there 
was a slow-down in the birth rate by 3 percent during the year. Birth costs started to rise 
again in the last two months of the period.
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2.5 National mental health services actual expenditure of $15 million less than the Main 
Estimates was due to funding being devolved/transferred from Ministry appropriations to 
DHBs and re-prioritisation of uncommitted funding.

2.6 National contracted services – other actual is less than the Main Estimates due to delays in 
the roll-out of the Oral Health programme by DHBs, savings in demand-driven programmes 
such as HepC, Herceptin and CVD get checked, offset by additional costs in the high cost 
treatment pool for overseas transplants. 

2.7 Health services funding was underspent compared to Main Estimates but expenditure 
was in line with the Supplementary Estimates. This appropriation contains the sector risk 
reserves and provisions for New Initiatives still requiring final approvals, and a provision for 
$110 million deficit support that is transferred to capital when DHB plans are finalised. The 
transfers were completed in OBU, no direct payments are made from this output class.

2.8 Deficit support for DHBs is not finalised until the DHB annual plans are agreed. The budget 
was increased from zero to $110 million in Supplementary Estimates. There was no 
underspend at year end against the Supplementary Estimates.

2.9 Equity for capital projects for DHBs and the NZ Blood Service – The underspend relates to 
delays in equity requests made by DHBs for approved capital projects. During the year $56 
million was also transferred to the  debt-funding appropriation.

2.10 Loans for capital projects – The increase is due to DHBs electing to take debt funding 
rather than equity funding for construction projects. During the year $56 million was also 
transferred from the equity funding appropriation to meet the increased demand for debt 
rather than equity.

Schedule of non-departmental income and capital receipts

2.11 ACC reimbursements – The decrease in actual payments over budget is due to delays in 
finalising the ACC contract which was agreed at a lower amount than anticipated when the 
budget was set. 

2.12 Payment of capital charge by DHBs – The actual capital charge paid by DHBs is less than the  
Main Estimates, due to lower equity in DHB accounts, as a result of deficits and lower than 
planned equity draw downs.

2.13 Repayment of residential care loans – The lower-than-planned repayments of residential 
care loans is due to less people exiting the system than anticipated and lower-than-planned 
draw downs on the system influenced by higher exemptions and lower property values.

Schedule of non-departmental assets
2.14 Cash and cash equivalents are above the Main Estimates due to June payments being lower 

than expected.

2.15 Inventory increases reflect the higher carrying level of pandemic medicines and flu 
vaccinations, as the peak is later than anticipated. There has also been lower than 
anticipated take-up of the Human Papillomavirus (HPV) programme.

2.16 Debtors and other receivables were lower than budgeted due to payments having been 
received from ACC as contracted. Previous years had significant delays. At year end only 
quarter four plus wash-ups was outstanding.

2.17 Residential care loans is less than the Main Estimates due to provisions made to adjust the 
loan account. The fair value was established by an independent actuarial valuation. 
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2.18 Other advances were not classified separately within the initial forecast financial position.

2.19 Other investments were over budget as the budget included the repayment of the loan by 
the Crown Health Funding Authority for Queen Mary Hospital, that was due on the 30 June 
2010, but was slightly delayed.

Schedule of non-departmental liabilities

2.20 Other payables – DHB payables and other payables were not budgeted as they were not 
expected to be material, at year end.

2.21 Accrued liabilities and provisions – decreases in DHB accruals and other accrued liabilities 
are lower than anticipated due to improvements in processing payments and monitoring of 
contracts and payments during the year.
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Part 3: Health and Independence Report 
2010 – The Director-General of Health’s 
Annual Report on the State of Public Health

Introduction: Director-General’s Overview 
Through our leadership of the sector, we aim to help New Zealanders live longer, healthier and 
more independent lives in the face of very significant challenges.

This report provides a snapshot of the overall functioning of the health system and our progress 
on performance improvements across the sector that are fundamental to the Government’s goal of 
better, sooner, more convenient health and disability services to all New Zealanders. 

The reorganisation of the Ministry this year was central to a programme of mutually reinforcing 
changes across the sector that were key to the Government’s improvement agenda and have 
increased the focus on two core functions.

• Advising the Government on health and disability and the implementation of health policy.

•		 Planning, funding and monitoring of health and disability services.

High-level indicators of the overall health of the population show that our health is continuing to 
improve and people are living longer which brings a range of other challenges into focus.

Rising costs, increasing demand for services, an ageing population and international workforce 
shortages significantly challenge our ability to provide the same opportunities for good health to 
all people.

The Health Targets programme was developed to drive measurable and sustained improvement 
in areas of high public priority – end-of-year results show all Health Targets were exceeded or 
improved significantly.

• Good progress was seen in the Shorter stays in emergency departments target, with 87 percent 
of patients admitted, discharged or transferred from an emergency department within six hours, 
the target is 95 percent. 

• Excellent performance was achieved in the Improved access to elective surgery target. DHBs 
reported a total of 138,376 elective surgical discharges in 2009/10 – exceeding the target by  
5 percent which equates to 6,658 additional procedures.

• In the Shorter waits for cancer treatment target, 99 percent of all patients received radiation 
treatment within six weeks of their first specialist assessment, the target is 100 percent.

• The national Increased immunisation target of 85 percent of two-year-olds fully immunised by 
July 2010 was exceeded by 2 percent.

• Better help for smokers to quit showed significant improvement with 57 percent of hospitalised 
smokers provided with advice and help to quit, although it is still below the target of 80 percent.

• Results for the Better diabetes and cardiovascular services target showed steady progress, with 
an overall improvement of 3 percent.
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Outcomes Framework
The health and independence indicators presented in this report are organised in accordance 
with the Ministry of Health’s outcomes framework in the Ministry’s Statement of Intent 2010–
2013 (Ministry of Health 2010). Figure 6 shows how these indicators contribute to realising the 
intermediate outcomes sought by the Ministry, which will in turn realise system-level outcomes 
and ultimately the Government’s overarching goal of a growing, sustainable economy providing 
security, prosperity and opportunities for all New Zealanders.  

Importantly, each of the outcome dimensions and many of the individual outcome indicators 
contribute to more than one of the Ministry’s intermediate outcomes and/or Government priorities. 
For example, improving access to elective surgery is likely to instil public trust and confidence in 
the health system as well as promoting better health.

The health and independence indicators have been selected based on a number of criteria, 
including sensitivity to change, statistical soundness, and measurability for diverse populations. 
These indicators provide a view of the performance of the whole health system and cover the full 
spectrum of health issues. The indicators were chosen for their ability to provide feedback on 
where the health system is working well and where improvement is needed.

In all instances the most up-to-date data is presented, although some important data sources 
(such as the New Zealand Health Survey) are not refreshed annually.



114 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 
including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Outcome 
dimensions

Health status Quality and 
effectiveness 

Equity and access Efficiency and 
value for money

Patient- centredness 
and responsiveness

Outcome 
indicators

•	 Health	
expectancy

•	 Life	
expectancy

•	 Infant	
mortality

•	 Disability	
requiring 
assistance

•	 Mental	
health 
status

•	 Shorter	stays	
in emergency 
departments*

•	 Better	help	for	
smokers to quit*

•	 Better	diabetes	
and cardiovascular 
services*

•	 Amenable	mortality

•	 Ambulatory-
sensitive hospital 
admissions

•	 Hospital	mortality

•	 Hospital	
readmissions

•	 Cancer	survival

•	 Cardiovascular	
disease mortality

•	 Rate	of	new	
admissions to acute 
inpatient mental 
health services

•	 Relapse	prevention	
planning

•	 Obesity

•	 Smoking	prevalence

•	 Alcohol	
consumption

•	 Improved	access	
to elective 
surgery*

•	 Shorter	waits	for	
cancer treatment*

•	 Increased	
immunisation*

•	 Primary	health	
care utilisation

•	 Oral	health

•	 Access	to	
secondary mental 
health services

•	 Day	case	
procedures

•	 Average	length	
of stay

•	 Productivity	and	
costs of public 
hospital services

•	 Patient	
engagement

•	 Timely	access	to	
medical care

* indicates a Health Target

A growing, sustainable economy providing security, prosperity 
and opportunities for all New Zealanders

Government’s
goal

Health and 
disability system 

outcomes

Ministry of Health 
intermediate 

outcomes

New Zealanders living longer, healthier 
and more independent lives

New Zealand’s economic 
growth is supported

Good health and 
independence 

are protected and 
promoted

A more unified 
and improved 

health and 
disability system

People receive 
better health  
and disability 

services

The health  and 
disability system 
and services are 
trusted and can 

be used with 
confidence

Figure 6: Ministry of Health Outcomes Framework
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Health Status
Health status: All New Zealanders lead longer, healthier and more independent 
lives
Health status is profiled in this report using summary measures of population health such as 
health and life expectancies, disability, and mental health status. Health status outcomes are not 
only influenced by the activities of the health and disability support system but also by the broader 
activities of government, society and individuals.

Health expectancy
Health expectancy is the number of years a person can expect to live in good health if current 
age-specific mortality and morbidity rates persist. The measure of health expectancy used here 
is independent life expectancy at birth: the number of years an individual can be expected to live 
without functional limitation requiring assistance.

Health expectancy provides a whole-of-system outcome measure for assessing the performance 
of the health system, capturing both the quantity of life (mortality) and quality of life (morbidity) 
dimensions of health.

Health expectancy has increased since 1996 and now stands at 67.4 years for males and  
69.2 years for females. Health expectancy increased faster for males than for females between 
1996 and 2006: males gained 2.7 years while females gained 1.7 years.  In particular, significant 
gains for males occurred between the 2001 and 2006 surveys (see Figure 7).

Figure 7:  Independent life expectancy at birth (years), by gender, 1996 to 2006

Sources: Statistics New Zealand mortality and population data; New Zealand Disability Survey 1996, 2001 and 2006

Note:  Mortality data has been corrected by the Ministry of Health for ethnic undercount.

In 2006 the Māori–non-Māori difference in health expectancy was 6.8 and 6.2 years for males 
and females, respectively (see Figure 8). The 1996 and 2001 Disability Surveys were insufficiently 
powered to provide robust health expectancy estimates for Māori for earlier periods.

Figure 7: Independent life expectancy at birth (years), by gender, 1996 to 2006
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Figure 8: Independent life expectancy at birth (years), by gender and ethnicity, 2006

Sources: Statistics New Zealand mortality and population data; New Zealand Disability Survey 2006

Note: Mortality data has been corrected by the Ministry of Health for ethnic undercount.

Life expectancy
Life expectancy at birth is the total number of years a person born today can expect to live, if 
current age-specific mortality and morbidity rates persist. The indicator used here is life expectancy 
at birth, which provides a summary measure of the survival experience of the population. It 
captures the ‘length of life’ dimension of health.

For both genders, life expectancy at birth has increased (see Figure 9).  For males, life expectancy 
at birth increased from 72.9 years in 1990−92 to 78.2 years in 2006−08 (a gain of 5.3 years). For 
females, life expectancy at birth increased from 78.7 to 82.2 years over the same time period (a 
smaller gain of 3.5 years). As a result, the gender gap narrowed by almost 2 years, decreasing from 
5.8 years in 1990−92 to 4 years in 2006−08. 

Figure 9: Life expectancy at birth, by gender, 1950−52 to 2006−08

Figure 8: Independent life expectancy at birth (years), by gender and ethnicity, 2006
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Note:  The year axis is not drawn to scale.

Figure 9: Life expectancy at birth, by gender, 1950–52 to 2006–08
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For the Māori population, life expectancy at birth increased from 65.6 to 70.4 years for males  
(a gain of 4.8 years) and from 70.8 to 75.1 years for females (a gain of 4.3 years) between 1996 
and 2006 (see Figure 10). The gap between Māori and non-Māori narrowed by approximately  
1.2 years for males and 2.0 years for females over this decade.

Figure 10: Life expectancy at birth, by gender and ethnicity, 1996 to 2006

Source: Statistics New Zealand data

Note:  Mortality data has been corrected by the Ministry of Health for ethnic undercount.

Infant mortality
The New Zealand infant mortality rate (deaths of children under one-year-old per 1000 live 
births) has declined significantly since 1996 (see Figure 11). The infant mortality rate reflects the 
effects of economic and social conditions on the health of mothers and newborns, as well as the 
effectiveness of the health system.

In 2009 the infant mortality rate for the overall population was 4.9 deaths per 1000 live births, 
down from 5.5 in 1999 (and 17.6 in 1969). The infant mortality rate for Māori was 7.2 per 1000 
in 2009, down from 8.1 in 1999 (and 23.0 in 1969).  Since 2002 the infant mortality rate has 
remained largely unchanged for Māori and the overall population.

Figure 10: Life expectancy at birth (years), by gender and ethnicity, 1996 to 2006

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Years
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Figure 11: Infant mortality per 1000 live births, Māori and Total population, 1996 to 2009Figure 11: Infant mortality per 1000 live births, 1996 to 2009
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Disability requiring assistance
The Ministry of Health is directly responsible for funding and planning disability support services 
for people with long-term sensory, physical and/or intellectual disabilities. Disability requiring 
assistance is defined as experiencing an impairment that requires some kind of regular help from 
other people, or technical aids. Approximately 10 percent of New Zealanders had a disability 
requiring assistance in 2006 (the most recent year for which data is available), a similar proportion 
to that found in the 1996 and 2001 Disability Surveys (see Table 3).

Table 3: Prevalence of disability requiring assistance, by ethnicity and gender,  
1996, 2001 and 2006

1996 2001 2006

Māori  
(%)

Non-
Māori  

(%)

Total 
(%)

Māori  
(%)

Non-
Māori  

(%)

Total 
(%)

Māori  
(%)

Non-
Māori  

(%)

Total 
(%)

Males 13.1 9.3 9.9 13.5 9.9 10.7 10.2 9.6 9.7

Females 13.7 9.5 10.1 14.4 8.9 9.7 10.4 11.2 11.1

Sources: 1996 and 1997 Disability Surveys; Household Disability Surveys 2001 and 2006; Disability Surveys of 
Residential Facilities 2001 and 2006
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Mental health status
Poor mental health can cause disability, diminished quality of life and reduced productivity. The 
Kessler 10-item scale (K10) is a set of questions used internationally to screen populations for 
non-specific psychological distress and serious mental illness. The scale gathers information about 
negative emotional states in the four weeks prior to measurement. The results are classified as 
‘low’ (little or no psychological distress), ‘moderate’, ‘high’ or ‘very high’ probability of a person 
having an anxiety or depressive disorder (ie, severe psychological distress).

Psychological distress occurs in all age groups, but the prevalence of a high or very high probability 
of an anxiety or depressive disorder was highest in women aged 15−24 years, with an increase in 
prevalence again when women were aged over 75 years. In men, the prevalence of a high or very 
high probability of an anxiety or depressive disorder remained stable across the age groups, with 
no significant differences by age (see Figure 12).

Figure 12: High or very high probability of anxiety or depressive disorder for adults,  
by age group and gender (unadjusted prevalence), 2006/07

Source:  2006/07 New Zealand Health Survey

Fig 12: High or very high probability of anxiety or depressive disorder for adults,
by age group and gender (unadjusted prevalence)
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Quality and Effectiveness
Quality and effectiveness: Health care services are effective, co-ordinated, 
clinically sound, culturally competent and timely
Continuous improvement in the quality of care in all services is important for improving patient 
outcomes and value for money. Quality is a multi-faceted concept, taking into account performance 
on a number of dimensions, including effectiveness, patient safety, patient-centredness, 
timeliness, equity and efficiency. Quality in health care can be considered an umbrella concept, 
encapsulating the need for high performance across all dimensions of the health sector.  

This section presents indicators of service quality and effectiveness, starting with three of the 
Minister of Health’s six Health Targets for 2009/10 and 2010/11.

Health Target: Shorter stays in emergency 
departments
Emergency department (ED) length of stay is an important measure of the quality of acute 
(emergency and urgent) care in our public hospitals because:

• EDs are designed to provide urgent (acute) health care, so the timeliness of treatment delivery 
(and any time spent waiting) is by definition important for patients

• long stays in EDs are linked to overcrowding of EDs

• the medical and nursing literature has linked both long stays and overcrowding in EDs to 
negative clinical outcomes for patients, such as increased mortality and longer inpatient lengths 
of stay

• overcrowding can also lead to compromised standards of privacy and dignity for patients; for 
instance, through using corridor trolleys to accommodate patients.

The Health Target for all DHBs is for 95 percent of patients to be admitted, discharged or transferred 
from an ED within six hours. National performance for the year 2009/10 was 87 percent. However, 
performance increased by 6.5 percent, from 80.3 percent in quarter 1 to 86.8 percent in quarter 4. 
Figure 13 shows individual DHB performance against both individual DHB targets and the national 
goal for 2009/10.
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Figure 13: DHB performance against individual DHB targets and the national goal for 
patients admitted, discharged or transferred from ED within 6 hours, 2009/10

Source:  Ministry of Health data, 2010

Health Target: Better help for smokers to quit
Smoking kills an estimated 5000 people in New Zealand every year, and smoking-related diseases 
are a significant cost to the health sector. Most smokers want to quit, and there are simple and 
effective interventions that can be routinely provided in both primary and secondary care.

This Health Target is designed to prompt hospital services to routinely ask about smoking status as 
a clinical ‘vital sign’, and then to provide current smokers with brief advice and an offer of support 
to quit. There is strong evidence that brief advice can be effective at prompting both quit attempts 
and long-term quit success. The likelihood of quitting is improved further by providing effective 
cessation therapies: pharmaceuticals (particularly nicotine replacement therapy) and telephone or 
face-to-face support.

Figure 14 shows the percentage of hospitalised smokers provided with advice and help to 
quit in 2009/10, by DHB. Although the target was not achieved by the majority of DHBs, the 
progress made since quarter 1 was significant: in quarter 1 the DHB average for the percentage of 
hospitalised smokers receiving advice and help to quit was 16.6 percent, but by quarter 4 the DHB 
average had increased to 56.9 percent. This means over 6400 smokers received help and advice to 
quit in June 2010 compared to around 1500 in September 2009. The increase can be attributed to 
behaviour change among clinicians and improvements in the recording of the offer of advice and 
help to quit.

Figure 13: DHB performance against individual DHB targets and the national goal
for patients admitted, discharged or transferred from ED within six hours, 2009/10
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Figure 14: Percentage of hospitalised smokers provided with advice and help to quit,  
by DHB, 2009/10

Source:  Ministry of Health data, 2010

Health Target: Better diabetes and cardiovascular 
services
Long-term conditions comprise the major health burden for New Zealand, now and into the 
foreseeable future.  Long-term (chronic) conditions are the leading cause of morbidity in New 
Zealand, and they disproportionately affect Māori and Pacific peoples. As the population ages and 
lifestyles change, these conditions are likely to increase significantly.

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) includes heart attacks and strokes, which are both substantially 
preventable with lifestyle advice and treatment for those at moderate or higher risk. The CVD 
Health Target is:

• an increased percentage of the eligible adult population will have had their CVD risk assessed 
in the last five years.

Diabetes is a major and increasing cause of disability and premature death. The two diabetes 
Health Targets are: 

• an increased percentage of people with diabetes will attend free annual checks

• an increased percentage of people with diabetes will have satisfactory or better diabetes 
management (as indicated by an HBA1c blood test equal to or less than 8 percent).

Māori and Pacific peoples are at increased risk from diabetes and CVD. 

Figure 14: Percentage of hospitalised smokers provided with advice and
help to quit by DHB, 2009/10
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Figure 15 shows that DHBs performed well against the CVD risk assessment target. Nationally, the 
percentage of the eligible adult population that have had their CVD risk assessed in the last five 
years has increased from 72.7 percent in quarter 1 to 75.3 percent in quarter 4.

Figure 15: Percentage of eligible adult population who have had their cardiovascular 
disease risk assessed in the last five years, DHB performance and targets, 
2009/10

Source:  Ministry of Health data, 2010

Results for the diabetes free annual check indicator are generally lower than for the other two 
indicators and are not showing strong improvement. Nationally the proportion of people with 
diabetes who attended their free annual diabetes check during the 2009/10 year was 55.0 
percent. However, 13 DHBs recorded an increase in their performance in quarter 4 compared to 
quarter 1 (see Figure 16).

Figure 15: Percentage eligible adult population who have had
cardiovascular disease risk assessed in the last five years,
DHB performance and targets 2009/10
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Figure 16: Percentage of people with diabetes who have attended free annual checks
DHB performance and targets 2009/10
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Figure 17: Percentage of people who report satisfactory or better diabetes management,
DHB performance and targets 2009/10
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Figure 16: Percentage of people with diabetes who have attended free annual checks, 
DHB performance and targets, 2009/10

Source:  Ministry of Health data, 2010

Nationally, 72.8 percent of the people who received their free annual diabetes check during 
2009/10 reported satisfactory or better diabetes management. However, only seven DHBs 
achieved their DHB-specific target (see Figure 17).

Figure 17: Percentage of people who report satisfactory or better diabetes management, 
DHB performance and targets, 2009/10

Source:  Ministry of Health data, 2010
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Amenable mortality
Amenable mortality refers to deaths that might have been prevented if health services had 
been delivered more effectively, or if patients had accessed services earlier, either in primary/
community care or in hospital. More specifically, amenable mortality deaths are from conditions 
(and some events) for which mortality would not generally be an expected outcome for people 
aged under 75 years, given the evidence-based health interventions that are currently available to 
prevent and/or treat that condition. 

The range of conditions includes a number of infections, some cancers (eg, melanoma and breast 
cancer), some maternal, perinatal and infant conditions/complications, some injuries, and a range 
of chronic conditions (including asthma and diabetes).9 This key health outcome indicator reflects 
health system effectiveness and access to health care.

The indicator of amenable mortality concentrates on the 0−74 years age group.10 A downward 
trend over time represents an improvement in health outcomes and improved services, because 
it indicates that the number of deaths (per 100,000 people) that might have been avoided is 
decreasing.

Figure 18 shows that large gains were achieved in improving amenable mortality in New Zealand 
between 2000 and 2007 for the 45−64-year-old and (especially) the 65−74-year-old populations.

Figure 18: Amenable mortality for people aged 0−74 years, age-standardised rate  
per 100,000, 2000 to 2007

Figure 18: Amenable mortality for people aged 0–74 years, age standardised
rate per 100,000, 2000 to 2007
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9 For more information on amenable mortality in New Zealand, see Page et al 2006

10  The prevalence of (multiple) co-morbidity rises rapidly beyond 74 years, such that it becomes increasingly difficult to assign a single 
cause to deaths beyond this age.

Source:  National Minimum Data Set, 2009
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Ambulatory-sensitive hospital admissions
Ambulatory-sensitive hospital (ASH) admissions are admissions that might have been avoided 
if health services had been delivered more effectively and/or if patients had accessed services 
provided in a community setting, including primary health care. This is an indicator of the 
effectiveness of primary health care.

Vulnerable populations (Māori and Pacific peoples and people living in areas of high deprivation) 
have considerably higher rates of ASH admissions than other people. In 2008/09 ASH rates for 
Pacific people were almost 2.5 times higher than for European/Other people, and ASH rates for 
Māori were 2 times higher than those for European/Other people (see Figure 19).  

The rate of ASH admissions for Pacific peoples increased noticeably between 2000/01 and 
2008/09, in contrast with Māori ASH rates, which trended slightly upwards, and European/Other 
rates, which trended slightly downwards over the same period.

Figure 19: Ambulatory-sensitive hospital admissions for people aged 0−74 years,  
age-standardised rate per 100,000, by ethnicity, 2000/01 to 2008/09

Source:  Ministry of Health data, 2010

Hospital mortality
Mortality rates are a well-established measure of clinical outcomes for hospital patients, due to the 
fact that mortality is an explicit and readily available measure related to the safety and efficacy of 
treatment.

Overseas experience shows that systemic changes to the way care is offered to patients can lead to 
measurable changes in patient morbidity and mortality. Examples are changes intended to reduce 
incidences of falls, pressure ulcers, pneumonia, and hospital-acquired infections in patients.  

The purpose of this indicator is to highlight patterns of mortality in publicly funded hospitals that 
are higher than expected in order to focus on quality of care. The desired direction of change is a 
decrease over time for each age group.

Figure 19: Ambulatory-sensitive hospital admissions for people aged 0 to 74 years,
age-standardised rate per 100,000, by ethnicity, 2000/01 to 2008/09
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Analysis of hospital mortality rates shows that rates have been declining since 2000/01, indicating 
improved quality of care on this outcome measure.  In particular, there have been noticeable 
declines in hospital mortality for all age groups over 45 years (see Figure 20). 

Figure 20: Hospital mortality rate per 100 discharges (%), all DHBs combined,  
2000/01 to 2008/09

Fig 20: Hospital mortality rate per 100 discharges (percent) (all DHBs combined),
2000/01 to 2008/09
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Source: Ministry of Health data, 2010

Notes: The rate is based on dividing the number of in-hospital deaths by the total discharges and then multiplying 
by 100. The definition of hospital mortality used in the calculation of this data is different to the definition of 
hospital mortality used in previous versions of the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of 
Public Health. Day cases, stays of longer than 30 days and palliative care are now excluded from the scope of 
measuring hospital mortality, in line with the definition of hospital mortality now used in DHBs’ performance 
measures for 2010/11.

Hospital readmissions
Unplanned hospital (acute) readmission rates are a well-established measure of quality of care, 
efficiency and appropriateness of discharge for hospital patients. Unplanned acute readmissions 
may imply a failure in patient management, such as discharge too early, or inadequate support at 
home or in follow-up care.  

The New Zealand experience indicates that between 2000/01 and 2003/04 there was little 
movement in the readmissions rate (a readmission to hospital within 30 days followed 
approximately 9 percent of discharges in each year). However, over the following five years 
the readmissions rate increased slightly each year (see Figure 21). At the end of 2008/09 a 
readmission to hospital within 30 days occurred following 10.5 percent of discharges.
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Figure 21:  Readmissions rate per 100 discharges (%), all DHBs combined,  
2000/01 to 2008/09

Source: Ministry of Health data, 2010

Notes: The readmissions rate is calculated by dividing the number of acute readmissions (to the same or another 
hospital) within 30 days of the original discharge by the total discharges, and expressing this figure as a 
percentage. Various exclusions apply, notably: transfers, deaths on first admission, planned/unavoidable 
readmissions, HIV cases, palliative care cases and long-stay cases.

Cancer survival
Cancer survival is a key outcome measure of cancer control and provides useful insights into the 
effectiveness of health services in detecting and treating cancer.  Five-year cancer survival rates11 
are a direct measure of the effectiveness of the health system in treating cancer.

Figure 22 shows that the five-year relative survival rate has increased since 1997/98 for all five 
major cancer sites. This increase was in the region of 5–6 percent for colorectal, breast and cervical 
cancers, and over 12 percent for prostate cancer in the seven years from 1997/98 to 2005/06. The 
five-year relative survival rate for lung cancer is significantly less than for other cancer sites and 
has improved the least.

Fig 21: Readmissions rate per 100 discharges (percent) (all DHBs combined),
1999/2000 to 2008/09
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11  Five-year relative survival rates describe the percentage of patients with a disease that are alive five years after their disease is 
diagnosed divided by the percentage of the general population of corresponding sex and age that are alive after five years.



129 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 
including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Figure 22: Five-year relative cancer survival rates in two-year periods, by major cancer 
site, 1997/98 to 2005/06

Source: New Zealand Health Information Service data, 2007

Note: Trends were estimated by examining survival for patients diagnosed in successive two-year intervals by using the 
period analysis approach.

Five-year relative survival rates for Māori do not compare well with the non-Māori/non-Pacific 
ethnic group for the five major cancer sites: colorectum, lung, breast, cervix and prostate (see 
Figure 23). Pacific peoples show the lowest relative survival rates for female breast and cervical 
cancers.

Figure 23: Five-year relative survival rates, by major cancer site and ethnicity,  
1994 to 2006

Figure 22: Five-year relative survival rates in two-year periods, by major cancer
site, 1997/98 to 2005/06
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Fig 23: Five-year relative survival rates (1994–2006), by major cancer site and ethnicity
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Cardiovascular disease mortality
Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs; ie, heart, stroke and blood vessel disease) are the leading cause 
of death in New Zealand, accounting for 40 percent of all deaths annually. Of the CVDs, coronary 
artery disease is the largest single cause of death, followed by stroke, which is also the greatest 
cause of disability in older people.

CVD mortality has declined steadily in New Zealand. In the 11 years between 1996 and 2007 
the rate of CVD mortality declined by more than 25 percent for the total population, from an age-
standardised rate of just over 200 deaths per 100,000 people in 1996, to under 150 deaths per 
100,000 people in 2007 (see Figure 24).

Males have a significantly higher CVD mortality rate than females, although this gender difference 
has narrowed since 1996 (see Figure 24). There are also significant ethnic differences within 
the CVD mortality rate. Māori and Pacific peoples have higher CVD mortality rates than the total 
population, and CVD mortality rates for these groups have increased since 2005 (see Figure 25).

Figure 24: Cardiovascular disease mortality, all ages, age-standardised rate per 100,000, 
by gender, 1996 to 2007

Figure 24: Cardiovascular disease mortality, all ages,
age-standardised rate per 100,000, by gender, 1996 to 2007
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Source: Analytical Services, Ministry of Health, 2010

Note: Rates per 100,000 are age standardised to the WHO standard population.
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Figure 25: Cardiovascular disease mortality, all ages,
age-standardised rate per 100,000, by ethnicity, 1996 to 2007
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Figure 25: Cardiovascular disease mortality, all ages, age-standardised rate 
per 100,000, by ethnicity, 1996 to 2006

Source: Analytical Services, Ministry of Health, 2010

Note: Rates per 100,000 are age standardised to the WHO standard population.

Rate of new admissions to acute inpatient mental 
health services
The early detection of serious mental illness minimises the potential impact of illness and 
improves a person’s likelihood of having the opportunity to fully participate in society and the 
everyday life of their community and family/whānau. If a person’s first contact with mental health 
services coincides with needing an inpatient admission (termed ‘first-to-acute admission’), it may 
suggest that early signs of severe mental illness were not detected. With this in mind, this indicator 
is a measure of the effectiveness and responsiveness of community-based services.

Figure 26 shows the rate of first-to-acute admissions has been decreasing, particularly from the 
maximum in 2004/05. This suggests that mental health services are becoming more responsive 
and consistent.
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Figure 26:  First-to-acute admissions as a percentage of all acute admissions,  
2002/03 to 2008/09

Source: Population Health Directorate, Ministry of Health, 2010

Notes: DHB minimum is the lowest individual DHB figure; DHB maximum is the highest individual DHB figure; NZ mean 
is the national mean. The DHB minimum for 2004/05–2008/09 is 0.0 percent. The definition has changed from 
‘seen for the first time in acute/inpatient services (not seen at all in the national system)’ to ‘seen in acute/
inpatient services for the first time (not seen by mental health services in the year prior to acute admission)’.

Mental health relapse prevention planning
Relapse prevention plans identify long-term mental health service users’ early relapse warning 
signs, along with what the person can do for themselves and what the service will do to support 
the person. Developing and updating a plan indicates effective service provision. Ideally, each plan 
will be developed collaboratively by clinicians, clients and family members.  

Figure 27 shows the results of DHBs’ reporting against this indicator since the start of 2007/08. 
Nationally, the percentage of adult long-term service users with up-to-date relapse prevention 
plans increased from 60 percent at the start of 2007/08 to 89 percent at the end of 2009 (quarter 
2 in 2009/10). Adult long-term service users are defined as people aged 20−64 years who have 
been seen by specialist mental health services in each quarter during the preceding two years. As 
at the end of 2009, there were approximately 10,260 adult long-term service users.

Figure 26: First-to-acute admissions as a percentage of all acute
admissions, 2002/03 to 2008/09
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Figure 27: Percentage of adult long-term mental health service users with an up-to-date
relapse prevention plan, 2007 to 2009
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Figure 27: Percentage of adult long-term mental health service users with an up-to-date 
relapse prevention plan, 2007/08 to 2009/10

Source: Population Health Directorate, Ministry of Health, 2010

Note: From 1 July 2009 DHBs were only required to report six monthly on this indicator rather than quarterly; therefore, 
there is no data for Q1 2009/10. All data is provisional.

Obesity
The World Health Organization (WHO) describes the prevalence of obesity as an epidemic. New 
Zealand, like many other countries, is facing the complex issue of high rates of obesity in children, 
young people and adults. Obesity has severe health effects (eg, cardiovascular disease, some 
cancers and type 2 diabetes), as well as social and economic effects.

Body mass index12 (BMI) is a commonly used indicator of population-level obesity. International 
BMI cut-off points are used to classify people as underweight, overweight or obese. This report 
focuses on the proportion of the population who are obese; that is, who have a BMI of 30.00 or 
over (or the age-appropriate equivalent cut-off point for those aged under 18 years), as measured 
in the 2006/07 New Zealand Health Survey.

Obesity is not evenly distributed throughout the population: it is related to age, ethnicity and 
socioeconomic position. The prevalence of obesity in adults increases with age until 55−64 years 
in men and 65−74 years in women (Figure 28). 

12  Body mass index (BMI) is a measure of weight, adjusted for height, and is calculated by dividing weight in kilograms by height in 
metres squared (kg/m2).
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Figure 28: Proportion of children and adults who are obese, by age group and gender 
(unadjusted prevalence), 2006/07

13  The New Zealand Deprivation Index (NZDep) is a small-area census-based measure of social and material deprivation, derived by 
principal components analysis of 10 socioeconomic variables included in the New Zealand Census.

14  The 2002 figures come from Ministry of Health 2003.

Source: 2006/07 New Zealand Health Survey

Children and adults who live in the most deprived neighbourhoods (NZDep200613 quintile 5) are 
significantly more likely to be obese.

Adjusted for age, Pacific children and Pacific adults were at least 2.5 times more likely to be obese 
than children and adults in the total population in 2006/07. Māori children were 1.4 times, and 
Māori adults 1.7 times, more likely to be obese than children and adults in the total population.

Trends in childhood obesity over time show that obesity remained stable from 2002 to 2006/07,  
at around 9 percent of 5- to 14-year-olds. There was no significant change for Māori children  
(13 percent) and Pacific children (26 percent) over this period. In 2006/07, one in five children 
(20.1 percent) were categorised as being overweight, a very similar proportion to that recorded in 
2002 (19.8 percent).14

In contrast, the prevalence of obesity in adults increased in both men and women (Figure 29). 
However, the increase appears to be slowing, with no statistically significant increase between 
2002/03 and 2006/07 for either men or women. 

Fig4.28:  Proportion of children and adults, who are obese, by age group and gender
(unadjusted prevalence), 2006/07
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Figure 29: Proportion of adults who are obese, by gender, 1997, 2002/03 and 2006/07 
(age-standardised prevalence)Fig 29: Proportion of adults who are obese, by gender, 1997,

2002/03 and 2006/07 (age-standardised prevalence)
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Fig 30: Proportion of Māori adults who are obese, by gender, 1997,
2002/03 and 2006/07 (age-standardised prevalence)
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Source: 2002/03 and 2006/07 New Zealand Health Surveys; 1997 National Nutrition Survey

Note: Data from previous years has been re-analysed to allow for comparability.

There was no significant change in the prevalence of obesity for Māori men or women from 1997 to 
2006/07 (Figure 30).

Figure 30: Proportion of Māori adults who are obese, by gender, 1997, 2002/03, 
2006/07 (age-standardised prevalence)

Source: 2002/03 and 2006/07 New Zealand Health Surveys; 1997 National Nutrition Survey

Note: Data from previous years has been re-analysed to allow for comparability.

For Pacific men, there was a significant increase in the prevalence of obesity from 1997 to 
2006/07, while for Pacific women there was no significant change (Figure 31).
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Figure 31: Proportion of Pacific adults who are obese, by gender, 1997, 2002/03, 
2006/07 (age-standardised prevalence)

Fig 31: Proportion of Pacific adults who are obese, by gender, 1997,
2002/03 and 2006/07 (age-standardised prevalence)
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Note: Data from previous years has been re-analysed to allow for comparability.

Smoking prevalence and tobacco consumption
Smoking-related mortality is the single greatest cause of preventable premature death in New 
Zealand. Each year around 4500 to 5000 people in New Zealand die from smoking (including 
deaths due to second-hand-smoke exposure). Smoking is the main cause of lung cancer and 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and is a major contributor to CVD and stroke.

The most recent (2008) estimate for current adult smoking prevalence is 21 percent, a continuation 
of a downward trend evident since 1983 (see Figure 32).15

Smoking is a major contributor to health inequalities. In 2008 Māori were more than twice as likely 
to be smokers (45.4 percent), and Pacific peoples almost 1.5 times as likely (31.4 percent) to be 
smokers, than the European/Other population (21.3 percent). Males living in the most deprived 
areas (39.4 percent) were more than 2.5 times more likely to be smokers than males living in the 
least deprived areas (15.3 percent). Females in the most deprived areas (37.0 percent) were  
more than 2.8 times more likely to be smokers than females living in the least deprived areas  
(12.9 percent).

On a positive note, in 2008 half of youth aged 15 to 19 years had never tried smoking. This was 
significantly higher than in 2006 (39 percent).

15  A current adult smoker (daily plus non-daily) is defined as someone aged 15 or more years who has smoked more than 100 
cigarettes (or equivalent) in their lifetime and currently smokes at least once a month. All data for this section comes from Ministry 
of Health 2009.
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Fig 32: Current smoking among those aged 15 years and over,
1983 to 2008 (unadjusted prevalence)
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Figure 32: Current smoking among those aged 15 years and over, 1983 to 2008 
(unadjusted prevalence)

Source: Ministry of Health data, 2009

Hazardous alcohol consumption
Hazardous alcohol consumption is associated with elevated risks of intentional and unintentional 
injury. It is also associated with damage to the central nervous system, the gastrointestinal system, 
the cardiovascular system and foetal development, and with increased incidence of several 
cancers. Hazardous drinking refers to an established pattern of drinking that carries a high risk of 
future damage to physical or mental health. It is defined by a score of 8 or more on the Alcohol Use 
Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) developed by the World Health Organization.

The 2006/07 New Zealand Health Survey found that 21 percent of adults who reported having 
consumed alcohol in the past 12 months had a hazardous drinking pattern. Men in all age groups 
had a higher prevalence of hazardous drinking than women, with twice the prevalence overall  
(see Figure 33).

The highest prevalence of potentially hazardous drinking patterns was among those aged  
18−24 years, with 54 percent of males and 32 percent of females in this age group meeting the 
criteria for potentially hazardous drinking (see Figure 33).
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Figure 33: Hazardous drinking among adults, by age group and gender (unadjusted 
prevalence), 2006/07

Source: Ministry of Health data, 2008

Adjusting for age, the prevalence of potentially hazardous drinking patterns was highest for Māori 
and lowest for Asian peoples, for both genders (see Figure 34).

Over the period 1996/97 to 2006/07 there was no change in the prevalence of hazardous drinking 
in the total adult population. However, the age-standardised prevalence rate of hazardous drinking 
for Māori men increased from 35 percent in 2002/03 to 41 percent in 2006/07.

Figure 34: Hazardous drinking, by gender and ethnicity (age-standardised prevalence), 
2006/07

Fig 33: Hazardous drinking among adults, by age group and gender,
2006/07 (unadjusted prevalence)
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Equity and Access
Equity and access: Fair access to health services in relation to people’s needs, 
irrespective of income, physical location, ethnicity, age or sex
Timely and equitable access to health care is critical to achieving positive health outcomes. The 
Government’s commitment to improving equity and access is reflected in the selection of three of 
the indicators for this outcome as Health Targets for 2009/10.

Health Target:  Improved access to elective surgery
From 2000/01 to 2007/08 the number of publicly funded elective surgical discharges rose by an 
average of 1432 discharges per annum. However, this growth did not keep pace with population 
growth over the same period.

The elective services Health Target seeks to ensure that patients are managed in accordance 
with the principles of clarity, timeliness and fairness. This includes a requirement that DHBs 
demonstrate effective management of clinical prioritisation so that patients with the greatest 
clinical need and ability to benefit are seen first.  

The volume of elective surgical discharges increased substantially in 2009/10, following significant 
growth (10 percent) in 2008/09. Figure 35 shows that 138,376 discharges were made in 2009/10, 
an increase of 8607 (6.6 percent) on 2008/09. Figure 36 shows that DHBs exceeded the national 
target by 5 percent in 2009/10.

Figure 35: Number of elective surgical discharges, 2000/01 to 2009/10

Source: Data was extracted from the National Minimum Data Set, Ministry of Health, 2010

Notes: This is a dynamic data set and is subject to change as data is updated by DHBs. Updates occur as records are 
completed or revised.

Figure 35: Number of elective surgical discharges, 2000/01 to 2009/10
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Figure 36: DHB performance against improved access to elective services Health Target, 
2009/10

Source: Ministry of Health data, 2010

Health Target:  Shorter waits for cancer treatment
Specialist cancer treatment is essential to reducing the impact of cancer by improving remission 
rates, tumour control and symptoms. Radiation oncology treatment waiting times are a Health 
Target because this was identified as a service area where waiting times are an issue for patients. 
Radiotherapy is of proven effectiveness in reducing the impact of a range of cancers, and delays in 
access to radiotherapy are likely to lead to poorer treatment outcomes.

A maximum waiting time of six weeks was the Health Target for 2009/10, reducing to four weeks 
by December 2010. Radiation treatment is provided in six public and one private cancer centre 
throughout New Zealand (a second private cancer centre will be providing cancer treatment in 
2010).

Nationally, across the six public cancer centres, 99 percent of all patients received radiation 
treatment within six weeks in the fourth quarter (see Figure 37).

Figure 36: DHB performance against improved access to elective services
Health Target, 2009/10

120

100

80

60

40

20

0

Percent
N

or
th

la
nd

W
ai

te
m

at
a

A
uc

kl
an

d

Co
un

ti
es

 M
an

uk
au

W
ai

ka
to

La
ke

s

B
ay

 o
f P

le
nt

y

Ta
ir

aw
hi

ti

H
aw

ke
’s

 B
ay

Ta
ra

na
ki

M
id

Ce
nt

ra
l

W
ha

ng
an

ui

Ca
pi

ta
l a

nd
 C

oa
st

H
ut

t V
al

le
y

W
ai

ra
ra

pa

N
el

so
n 

M
ar

lb
or

ou
gh

W
es

t C
oa

st

Ca
nt

er
bu

ry

S
ou

th
 C

an
te

rb
ur

y

O
ta

go

S
ou

th
la

nd

DHB performance DHB target National goal

DHB



141 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 
including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Figure 37: Percentage of people needing radiation treatment seen within six  weeks,  
by DHB, 2009/10

Source: Ministry of Health data, 2010

Health Target:  Increased immunisation
Immunisation can prevent a number of diseases and is therefore a very cost-effective health 
intervention.  Immunisation provides not only individual protection for some diseases, but also 
population-wide protection by reducing the incidence of diseases and preventing them spreading 
to vulnerable people. Some of these population-wide benefits only arise with high immunisation 
rates, depending on the infectiousness of the disease and the effectiveness of the vaccine. 

The Ministry of Health’s long-term goal, adopted from the World Health Organization standard, is 
to have 95 percent of 24-month-old children fully immunised. The Health Target for 2009/10 is to 
have 85 percent of 24-month-old children fully immunised by July 2010, 90 percent by July 2011, 
and 95 percent by July 2012.

The results for this Health Target are very encouraging. The national target of 85 percent for 
2009/10 was exceeded in quarter 4, with a further 2 percent improvement to 87 percent nationally.

A number of DHBs have been consistently achieving above their target for this year (see Figure 38), 
and some DHBs have achieved next year’s target of 90 percent coverage for children under two 
years of age.

Figure 37: Percentage of people needing radiation treatment seen within
four weeks by DHB, 2009/10
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Figure 38: Immunisation coverage at the 24-month milestone age, by DHB, 2009/10

Source: National Immunisation Register, Datamart reports, 2010

Primary health care utilisation
‘High-need’ groups are defined as people living in a deprived area, or people of Māori or Pacific 
ethnicity.16 These groups are defined as high-need because analyses of morbidity and mortality 
statistics show that they experience higher levels of illness (morbidity) and die younger than the 
rest of the population.

Given this higher level of need, higher utilisation of primary health care (as measured by GP visits) 
by these groups is important for reducing inequalities and is an important indicator of equity and 
access.  The under-utilisation of primary health care by this population is an indicator of unmet 
health needs.  

Figure 39 shows the distribution of primary health organisations (PHOs) (based on the percentage 
of the PHO enrolment register) having one or more GP visits for high-need enrolees and non-
high-need enrolees for the 2008/09 year. The expectation is that PHOs will provide a level of 
contact/service for high-need patients that is higher than for non-high-need enrolees. That is, the 
distribution for high-need enrolees should sit to the right of the distribution for non-high-need 
enrolees.

Figure 39 shows that, as at 30 June 2009, more PHOs were serving non-high-need enrolees at the 
same or higher level than high-need enrolees. Less than one-third (25 out of 81) of PHOs were 
serving their high-need enrolees at the same or higher level than non-high-need enrolees.

16  A ‘deprived’ area is one in which the New Zealand Deprivation Index score is 9 or 10.

Figure 38: Immunisation coverage at the 24-month milestone
 by DHB, 2009/10
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Figure 39: Distribution of PHOs, by age-standardised percentage of enrolees contacting 
their GP in 12-months, for high-need and non-high-need enrolees, 
 July 2008 to 30 June 2009

Source: PHO enrolment datamart, 2010

Oral health
Research indicates that tooth decay at age five is predictive of higher disease rates at older ages. 
Rates of decay and inequalities in those rates reduce during the primary school years but reappear 
when adolescents leave the school-based service.

There are clear inequalities in child oral health outcomes: Māori and Pacific children, and those 
living in non-fluoridated areas experience a higher prevalence and severity of oral health disease 
at both school entry (at age five) and at school exit (Year 8) (see Figures 40 and 41).

Figure 40: Percentage of children caries free at age five, by ethnicity and fluoridation 
status, 2009

 Source: DHB community oral health service for children and adolescents data, 2010

Figure 39: Distribution of pHOs by age-standardised percentage of enrolees
contacting their GP in 12-months, for high-need and non-high-need enrolees,
July 2008 to 30 June 2009
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Figure 40 : Percentage of children caries free at age five, by ethnicity and
fluoridation status
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Figure 41: Average number of decayed, missing or filled teeth at Year 8, by ethnicity and 
fluoridation status, 2009

Source: DHB community oral health service for children and adolescnts data, 2010

Access to specialist mental health and addiction 
services
Access to specialist mental health and addiction services indicates how the public health system is 
responding to the needs of people who are severely affected by a mental health and/or addiction 
problem. The decade from 2000 to 2010 saw significant investment in the development of the 
continuum of specialist mental health and addiction services, which was part of the longer-term 
trend towards providing more and better services in the community.

Figure 42 shows that access to specialist mental health services has increased since 2002/03.  
Epidemiological studies have shown that serious mental health and addiction problems are more 
prevalent in the Māori population than in the non-Māori population (Oakley Browne et al 2006), 
and Figure 42 shows that a higher proportion of the Māori population access specialist mental 
health services than the non-Māori population. Increases in access to specialist services have also 
occurred at a faster rate for Māori than for the non-Māori population, particularly since 2004/05.  

Figure 42: Percentage of population accessing specialist/secondary mental health 
services, by ethnicity, 2002/03 to 2008/09

Source: Population Health Directorate, Ministry of Health, 2010

Note: Data is provisional.

Figure 42: Percentage of population accessing specialist/secondary mental
health services, by ethnicity, 2002/03 to 2008/09
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Figure 41 : Average number of decayed, missing or filled teeth at year eight
by ethnicity and fluoridation status
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Efficiency and Value for Money
Efficiency and value for money:  Effective care is delivered with the most cost-
effective use of resources
In order to obtain maximum value from the money invested in the health system, and to ensure 
the health system is able to function within the available funding, it is crucial that ongoing 
improvements in productivity and efficiency are maintained or accelerated. Key indicators of health 
system efficiency and effectiveness are day-case procedures, productivity and costs of public 
hospital services, including labour inputs.

Day-case procedures
When surgical procedures can be undertaken on a day-case basis (ie, the patient is admitted and 
discharged on the same day), the hospital visit results in less disruption for the patient and fewer 
resources are used. The average case complexity is an obvious influence on the extent to which 
different specialities can implement day surgery.

Although the rate of day-case procedures performed fluctuates quarterly, the four-quarter average 
shows an increasing trend. This indicates hospitals are improving the efficiency of patient 
management. The four-quarter average to 31 March 2010 was 54.2 percent (measuring day-case 
procedures as a proportion of all electives, as opposed to all surgeries). This indicates that more 
than half of the procedures performed allow the patient to be admitted and discharged on the 
same day (see Figure 43).

Figure 43: Percentage of day-case procedures, all DHBs, quarterly,  
December 2001 to March 2010

Source: Hospital benchmark information, 2010

Fig 43: Percentage of day-case procedures, all DHBs, quarterly, December 2001 to March 2010
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Average length of stay
The length of time people spend in hospital for medical and surgical treatment has declined  
(see Figure 44). The average length of stay (ALOS) within the secondary health care sector 
continues to show a downward trend. Between December 2001 and March 2010, total ALOS 
decreased from 4.56 days to 4.31 days, medical ALOS from 4.09 days to 3.83 days, and surgical 
ALOS from 5.77 days to 5.43 days.

Reasons why people are spending less time in hospital include advances in medical technology 
(such as new and less-invasive surgical techniques), more effective drugs, improved community 
and follow-up care, as well as more effective hospital administration. The challenge for hospital 
staff is to ensure that a drive to reduce the length of stay − with efficiency gains for the provider 
and potential benefits to patient wellbeing − does not result in unnecessary readmissions (see 
Hospital readmissions, page 127).

Figure 44: Average number of days spent in hospital by inpatients, December 2001 to 
March 2010

Source: Hospital benchmark information, 2010

Productivity and costs of public hospital services
Productivity is a key indicator of whether value for money is being achieved for the resources 
allocated to the health system. Productivity should be viewed within the context of other measures 
of the quality, effectiveness and efficiency of the health system.

Figure 45 shows the overall change in medical and surgical outputs per full-time equivalent 
medical and nurse employee (ie, labour productivity) from 2001/02 to 2007/08 (indexed to 
2004/05 as the base year). An output is measured as a case-weighted discharge equivalent 
(outpatients, emergency department and inpatients combined).

There was a 5.3 percent decline in labour productivity from 2001/02 to 2005/06, or an average 
annual decline of 1.4 percent.  Labour productivity then increased by 1.9 percent between 
2005/06 and 2006/07, after which it remained flat between 2006/07 and 2007/08, reflecting 
the fact that the rate of growth of outputs (2.6 percent) was equal to that of labour inputs between 
these two years (also 2.6 percent).

Fig 44: Average number of days spent in hospital by inpatients
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Figure 45: Doctor and nurse productivity in DHB provider arms (medical and surgical), 
2001/02 to 2007/08

Source: Ministry of Health data, 2009

Notes: Labour inputs are full-time equivalent medical and nursing employees.  Labour outputs are medical and surgical 
case-weighted discharge equivalents (outpatients, emergency department and inpatient combined). Labour 
productivity is calculated as outputs divided by inputs.

Figure 46 shows that costs per output (a measure of efficiency) increased steadily during the 
2001/02–2007/08 period. Medical and nursing costs per output increased 50 percent, or  
7.0 percent per annum on a nominal basis, over this period. When adjusted for the Consumer Price 
Index, medical and nursing costs per output increased 27.3 percent in real 2007/08 dollars during 
this period, or 4.1 percent per year on average. During this period there were significant wage 
settlements for senior doctors, resident medical officers and nurses employed by DHBs. These cost 
increases partly reflect the fact that New Zealand competes in an international market for doctors 
and nurses.

Fig 45: Doctor and nurse productivity in DHB provider arms (medical and surgical),
2001/02 to 2007/08
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Figure 46: Doctor and nurse efficiency and costs (2008 dollars) in DHB provider arms 
(medical and surgical), 2001/02 to 2007/08

Source: Ministry of Health data, 2009

Notes: Labour costs are medical and nursing personnel direct costs for salaried staff, and they include outsourced 
staffing costs. Labour outputs are medical and nursing case-weighted discharge equivalents (outpatients, 
emergency department, and inpatient combined), and efficiency is calculated as costs divided by outputs.

Fig 46: Doctor and nurse efficiency and costs (2008 dollars) in DHB provider arms
(medical and surgical), 2001/02 to 2007/08
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Patient Centredness and Responsiveness
Patient centredness and responsiveness: The health system is client oriented and 
respectful of dignity, confidentiality, participation in choices, promptness and 
quality of amenities
A patient-centred and responsive health system is increasingly regarded as crucial for the delivery 
of high-quality care.

Patient engagement
The Commonwealth Fund conducts annual surveys of selected developed countries.  The most 
recent survey in 2009 was of primary care doctors. Results show the New Zealand health system 
has some good-quality systems in place for reviewing patients’ experiences of primary health care 
services (see Table 4).

When asked about comparative information systems, the survey showed that doctors in the  
United Kingdom are most likely to routinely receive and review data on patient clinical outcomes 
(89 percent), followed by New Zealand (68 percent) and the Netherlands (65 percent). Less than 
half of doctors in other surveyed countries reported using such reviews.

New Zealand practices also compared favourably in terms of receiving and reviewing data on the 
patient experience and patient satisfaction (65 percent).

Table 4: International comparisons of quality reporting and feedback on patient 
experience, 2009

Percent AUS CAN FR GER NETH NZ UK US

Practice routinely receives and reviews data on 
patient clinical outcomes

24 17 12 41 65 68 89 43

Practice routinely receives and reviews data on 
patient satisfaction and experience

52 15 2 24 23 65 96 55

Source:  2009 Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey of Primary Care Physicians

Timely access to medical care
The 2009 Commonwealth Fund survey of primary care doctors found that 45 percent of New 
Zealand doctors reported that their patients face a long wait to see a specialist, a rate substantially 
lower than in Canada (75 percent), but not as low as in Australia (34 percent) or the United 
Kingdom (22 percent) (see Table 5).

The majority of primary care practices in New Zealand (89 percent) have provisions for after-hours 
care, eliminating the need for patients to seek care in emergency departments. This compares 
favourably with countries such as Australia (50 percent) and Canada (43 percent).
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Table 5: International comparisons of timely patient access to medical care, 2009

Percent AUS CAN FR GER NETH NZ UK US

Patients often experience long waiting times to 
see specialist

34 75 53 66 36 45 22 28

Practice has arrangements for after-hours care 50 43 78 54 97 89 89 29

Source:  2009 Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey of Primary Care Physicians
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Cormack D. 2010. The politics and practice of counting: ethnicity data in official statistics in Aotearoa/New 
Zealand. Wellington: Te Rōpū Rangahau Hauora a Eru Pōmare. This document is available on the website: 
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